# ROLE OF ANNEXIN-1 IN PATHOGEN RECOGNITION AND IMMUNE RESPONSE

SHU SHIN LA

(BSc. (Hons.), NUS

# A THESIS SUBMITTED

# FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

# **DEPARTMENT OF PHYSIOLOGY**

# NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SINGAPORE

2013

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincerest appreciation to the people who made the journey possible, although words cannot convey my deepest gratitude:

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor *A/P Lina Lim* for her unconditional guidance and support. Her infectious curiosity to explore the unknown, the focus that drove me into churning out better results, her unchanging warmth and encouragement will all be dearly missed. You are the best supervisor *ever*.

Many thanks to *Assistant Prof. Alan Prem Kumar* for his advice on PPAR- $\gamma$  and the glitazone drugs.

To my thesis advisory committee, *A/P Herbert Schwarz and A/P Paul McAry*. Thank you for your valuable feedback and suggestions.

To *Dr Pradeep Bist* for his exceptional guidance. Wishing you best wherever you may be!

To all lab members, especially *Hung*, *Kuan Yau*, *Durkesh*, *Sunitha* and *Lay Hoon*- many thanks for all the small details that made life in the lab a pleasant time. Best wishes to lab juniors *Suruchi* and *Yuan Yi*.

To *Mr John Lim* and family (*Mrs Lim, Emil* and *Jordan*), for sharing your family time with me. Thank you for making it less painful to live without a family in Singapore. It means a lot to me.

To Yinghao for your friendship of no equal. Here is a toast to intensity!

To My family members: *Mum and dad*, my brothers *Shin Il* and *Shin Ho*. 지금까지 변함 없는 믿음과 사랑으로 저를 응원 해주신 사랑하는 부모님과 사랑하는 동생들 신호 신일에게 감사의 마음을 전합니다.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my wife *Hyunjung* for joining me in Singapore to take good care of me. 자기야 고마워~ 사장해~ ^\_^

My deepest thanks to all once again! I am so blessed to be surrounded by such lovely people.

"When life gives you a hundred reasons to cry,

Show life that you have a thousand reasons to smile."

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ACKNOW	LEDGEMENTS	ii
SUMMARY	Υ	vii
LIST OF F	IGURES	ix
LIST OF T	ABLES	xiii
LIST OF A LIST OF P	BBREVIATIONS UBLICATIONS	XIV xvii
1. CHAP	FER I: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Infla	mmation	1
1.2. Infla	mmation during sepsis	3
1.3. Innat	te immunity and TLRs	5
1.3.1.	TLR-specific signaling pathways	7
1.3.2.	MyD88 pathway and TRIF pathway	8
1.3.3.	NF-кВ	10
1.3.4.	IRF-3	12
1.3.5.	STAT-1	13
1.3.6.	PPAR-γ	13
1.4. Cher	nokines and cytokines involved in inflammation	15
1.4.1.	IL-6	15
1.4.2.	IL-12	17
1.4.3.	IP-10 (CXCL-10)	
1.4.4.	ΤΝΓ-α	19
1.4.5.	Interferons	19
1.5. Mac	rophage Polarization	20
1.6. ANX	XA1: A calcium and phospholipid binding molecule	23
1.6.1.	ANXA1 is a glucocorticoid inducible protein	25
1.6.2.	ANXA1 as an inhibitor of PLA <sub>2</sub>	
1.6.3.	ANXA1 in the inflammatory response	27
1.6.4.	ANXA1 in signaling	
1.6.5.	ANXA1 regulates cell migration	29
1.6.6.	Other interactions with ANXA1	29

	1.6.7.	Implication of ANXA1 in Disease	
	1.6.8.	ANXA1 and neutrophils	
	1.6.9.	ANXA1 in T-cells and dendritic cells	
	1.6.10.	ANXA1 and macrophages	
2.	СНАРТ	ER II: MATERIALS AND METHODS	
2	2.1 Mater	ials	
	2.1.1.	Animals	
	2.1.2.	Media and buffers	
	2.1.2.	1. PBS buffer	
	2.1.2.	2. FACS buffer	
	2.1.2.	3. Red blood cell lysis buffer (RBC lysis buffer)	40
	2.1.2.	4. Wash buffer for western blotting (TBST)	40
	2.1.2.	5. Buffer for ELISA	40
	2.1.2.	6. Complete DMEM for cell culture	41
	2.1.2.	7. Complete DMEM for bone marrow derived macrophages (BMDMs)	41
	2.1.2.	8. L929 Conditioned Media	41
	2.1.3.	Reagents	
	2.1.4.	Antibodies	44
	2.1.5.	ELISA kits	45
	2.1.6.	Primers	46
2	2.2. Metho	ods	47
	2.2.1.	Animal derived cell techniques	47
	2.2.1.	1 Macrophage recruitment using thioglycollate	
	2.2.1.	2. Peritoneal lavage	
	2.2.1.	3. Splenic B cell isolation	
	2.2.1.	4 Bone marrow derived macrophages	
	2.2.3.	Cell culture techniques	
	2.2.3.	1. Cell culture	
	2.2.3.	2. Trypsinization	
	2.2.4.	Bacterial co-culture studies	
	2.2.5.	Cell stimulation	
	2.2.6.	Microscopy	51

2261	Confecel microscony	51
2.2.0.1	Element and microscopy	51 52
2.2.0.2	2. Fluorescence microscopy	52
2.2.7. Pro	bien and molecular blology techniques	53
2.2.7.1	I. Bradford assay	53
2.2.7.2	2. Western blotting	53
2.2.7.3	3. RNA extraction	54
2.2.7.4	4. RT-PCR	55
2.2.7.5	5. Real-time PCR	56
2.2.8.	Analysis techniques	56
2.2.8.1.	Flow cytometry	56
2.2.8.2.	Nitric oxide (NO) assay (Griess assay)	57
2.3. Statist	ical analysis	58
3. CHAPTI	ER III: ROLE OF ANXA1 IN INNATE IMMUNITY	59
3.1 Role o	of ANXA1 in inflammatory cytokine production in response	e to
TLR9	and TLR4 agonists	60
3.1.1	IL-12 and IL-6 production in response to TLR9 agonist (0	CpG
DNA)		62
3.1.2	IL-12 and IL-6 production in response to TLR4 agonist (I	LPS)
		64
3.1.3 (I·C)	IL-12 and IL-6 production in response to TLR3 agonist (p	oly 66
32  ANXA	A1 regulates TRIF dependent cytokine production	68
3.3 Cutoki	ine response against live $F_{coli}$ co-culture	00
3.4 Collul	ar activation of DM and P calls after TLP against treatment	7 1
2.4.1	MHC II surface expression after TLR agonist treatment	75
2.4.2	CD% and CD% automation after TLR agonist treatment	د ۲ ۲ م
3.4.2	CD86 and CD69 expression after TLR agonist treatment	/0
3.5 Role o	of ANXA1 in cellular activation and cytokine production aft I.C.) administration <i>in vivo</i>	er 79
3.6 Mecha	anism of action of ANXA1-dependent regulation of cytokin	e
production.		81
3.6.1	Nuclear localization IRF-3 after LPS treatment	82
3.6.2	Nuclear localization of IRF-3 after poly (I:C) treatment	84
3.6.3	Nuclear localization of NF-kB p65 after LPS treatment	86

	3.6.4	Nuclear localization of NF-KB p65 after poly (I:C) treatment 88	3
4.	СНАРТ	ER IV: MACROPHAGE POLARIZATION AND ANXA1.90	)
L	4.1. Using furthe	bone marrow derived macrophages (BMDM) as a model for r investigation	ł
4	4.2. ANX	A1 is involved in suppressing M2 polarization97	7
	4.2.1.	ANXA1 suppresses Arginase-1 and YM1 expression97	7
	4.2.2.	ANXA1 KO BMDM are unresponsive to NF-κB inhibitor99	)
	4.2.3.	ANXA1 directly affects NO production in macrophages 100	)
	4.2.4.	ANXA1 and STAT-1 signaling102	)
	4.2.5.	ANXA1 does not regulate IFN-γ stimulated cytokine / chemokine production102	<u>,</u>
	4.2.6.	STAT-1 phosphorylation is not affected by absence of ANXA1	;
Z	4.3. ANX	A1 and PPAR-γ signaling107	7
	4.3.1.	Investigating PGJ <sub>2</sub> as a PPAR-γ specific agonist in wild-type macrophages	3
	4.3.2.	Stimulating PPAR- $\gamma$ with PGJ <sub>2</sub> inhibited IL-12 production.110	)
	4.3.3.	Investigating the role of endogenous PPAR-γ in ANXA1- regulated cytokine production - use of GW9662112	2
	4.3.4.	Inhibiting PPAR-γ reverses ANXA1-KO IL-12 inhibition 115	,
	4.3.5.	Investigating a clinically relevant synthetic PPAR- $\gamma$ ligand 118	;
۷	4.4. Chapt	er 4 conclusion119	)
5.	СНАРТ	ER V: DISCUSSION	L

6.	REFERENCES	150
7.	APPENDICES	178

## SUMMARY

Sepsis is a hyperimmune response that occurs during microbial infection and is characterised by severe inflammation leading to hypotension, multiple organ failure and in some cases, death. To date, there is no perfect treatment for sepsis. Toll-like receptors (TLR) were identified as a major source that triggers sepsis-stimulated pathways. Understanding regulators of TLR signaling pathway may hold the key to managing sepsis. Annexin-1 (ANXA1) is a 37 kDa  $Ca^{2+}$  dependent, glucocorticoid-inducible anti-inflammatory protein. It also serves homeostatic role for major cellular mechanisms such as cell proliferation, apoptosis, phagocytosis, cell adhesion and migration. It was previously reported that ANXA1 may play a role in TLR mediated immune response. Our lab has identified ANXA1 to be linked to the regulation of NF- $\kappa$ B. To investigate the role of ANXA1 in TLR signaling further, TLR agonists that stimulate several distinct TLR pathways were chosen (CpG DNA-ODN1826 to stimulate TLR 9, LPS to stimulate TLR4 and Poly I:C to stimulate TLR3). The agonists were chosen for the capacity to stimulate either or both MyD88-depedent and MyD88-independent (TRIF) pathway. Our collective results show that ANXA1 KO macrophages show impaired IL-12 and IP-10 response after LPS and poly (I:C) stimulation, but not CpG DNA stimulation. Macrophage and B cell activation were suppressed when ANXA1 was absent. Furthermore, macrophage nuclear translocation of IRF3 and NFκB p65 after TRIF activation was regulated by ANXA1.

Macrophages are known to undergo polarization during immune response. The polarization status are type I (or M1: pro-inflammatory) and type II (or M2: tolerogenic) polarization, and constitute two extremes of a continuum of cytokine and chemokine profile. The capacity for macrophage to polarize into M1 or M2 state plays a critical role in overall immune system polarization. Therefore macrophage polarization status in ANXA1 KO mice was investigated to determine if it contributes to the impaired immune response observed in ANXA1 KO mice compared to its wild-type equivalents. ANXA1 was observed to suppress M2 polarization.

We also investigated whether an endogenous inhibitor of NF- $\kappa$ B was involved in the inhibition of cytokine and chemokine production after TLR activation. PPAR- $\gamma$ , an endogenous suppressor of inflammatory response, was targeted using PPAR- $\gamma$  specific ligand PGJ<sub>2</sub> and troglitazone, as well as PPAR- $\gamma$  specific inhibitor GW9662. Our data demonstrates that PPAR- $\gamma$  was responsible for the suppression observed in ANXA1 KO macrophages, and therefore ANXA1 regulates PPAR- $\gamma$  activity. Taken together, the thesis demonstrates ANXA1 plays an important role in regulating TRIF dependent pathway, macrophage polarization and PPAR- $\gamma$  activity.

## **LIST OF FIGURES**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

- Figure 1.1: Inflammation is a dynamic process between pro- and antiinflammatory mediators of inflammation.
- Figure 1.2: The MyD88 dependent and TRIF dependent pathways.
- Figure 1.3: M1 and M2 polarization in macrophages.
- Figure 1.4: Structure of ANXA1.

#### CHAPTER 3

- Figure 3.1: a) IL-12, b) IL-6 production in WT PM after treatment with TLR agonists (1 million cells/ml).
- Figure 3.2: a) IL-6 and b) IL-12 production in WT and ANXA1 KO PM after treatment with TLR agonist CpG 1826 (1 million cells/ml).
- Figure 3.3: a) IL-6 and b) IL-12 production in WT and ANXA1 KO PM after treatment with TLR agonist LPS (1 million cells/ml).
- Figure 3.4: a) IL-6 and b) IL-12 production in WT and ANXA1 KO PM after treatment with TLR agonist poly (I:C) (1 million cells/ml).
- Figure 3.5: IP-10 mRNA expression and production from WT and ANXA1 KO PM. a) mRNA profile of IP-10 over time. IP-10 production after treatment with b) LPS, c) Poly (I:C) or d) CpG DNA (CpG1826).
- Figure 3.6: Co-culture of PM with DH5α. Results are observed for a) IL-6 and b) IL-12 c) IP-10 production after the co-culture experiment.

- Figure 3.7: Flow cytometry analysis of MHC II expression levels on PM and B cells. a) PM, identified through prior gating for F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells, after FSC/SSC gating for macrophage sized cells. b) Splenic B cells, identified through prior gating for CD19<sup>+</sup> cells, after FSC/SSC gating for splenic B cell sized cells.
- Figure 3.8: Flow cytometry analysis of activation markers for PM and B cells. a) Macrophages, identified through prior gating for F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells, after FSC/SSC gating for macrophage sized cells.
  b) Splenic B cells, identified through prior gating for CD19<sup>+</sup> cells, after FSC/SSC gating for splenic B cell sized cells.
- Figure 3.9: Poly (I:C) stimulation induces lower serum levels of TRIF dependent chemokines IFN-β and IP-10 (CXCL-10) in ANXA1 KO PM.
- Figure 3.10: Impaired nuclear translocation of IRF-3 in ANXA1 KO PM under LPS treatment.
- Figure 3.11: Impaired nuclear translocation of IRF-3 in ANXA1 KO PM after poly (I:C) treatment
- Figure 3.12: Impaired nuclear translocation of NF-κB in ANXA1 KO PM under LPS treatment.
- Figure 3.13: Impaired nuclear translocation of NF-κB in ANXA1 KO PM under poly (I:C) treatment.

#### **CHAPTER 4**

- Figure 4.1: The regulation of M1 and M2 macrophage polarization by ANXA1 may be from several pathways.
- Figure 4.2: MyD88 and MyD88-independent, TRIF dependent cytokine / chemokine production in WT and ANXA1 KO BMDM after treatment with TLR agonists (1 million cells/ml).
- Figure 4.3: ANXA1 suppresses M2 polarization marker.
- Figure 4.4: BAY-11 inhibits only wild-type BMDM for IL-12 production treated with BAY-11 prior to LPS treatment.

- Figure 4.5: ANXA1 KO macrophages show diminished NO production levels.
- Figure 4.6: STAT-1 dependent cytokine / chemokine production is not affected by absence of ANXA1.
- Figure 4.7: STAT-1 phosphorylation and basal expression level is unchanged by absence of ANXA1.
- Figure 4.8: Wild-type macrophage response to PGJ<sub>2</sub> treatment.
- Figure 4.9: ANXA1 KO BMDM response to low dose of  $PGJ_2$  treatment  $(1\mu M)$ .
- Figure 4.10: Percentage inhibition of IL-12 production after LPS stimulation with 1 µM PGJ2 pre-treatment.
- Figure 4.11: WT BMDM response to GW9662 treatment.
- Figure 4.12: ANXA1 KO BMDM response to low dose of GW9662 treatment  $(1\mu M)$ .
- Figure 4.13: Percentage inhibition of IL-12 production in response to GW9662 treatment.
- Figure 4.14: Wild-type and ANXA1 KO macrophage response to PPAR-γ troglitazone as a pre-treatment 1 hour prior to addition of LPS.
- Figure 4.15: ANXA1 influences both M1 and M2 polarization.

#### **CHAPTER 5**

Figure 5.1: Proposed mechanism behind ANXA1 regulating nuclear translocation of NF-κB and IRF-3, after stimulation with LPS or poly (I:C).

Figure 5.2: Proposed mechanism for the regulation of ANXA1 by PPAR- $\gamma$  with and without pre-treatment with PPAR- $\gamma$  agonist PGJ2 and PPAR- $\gamma$  inhibitor GW9662.

#### APPENDICES

Appendix B: TLR3 and TLR4 mRNA expression in WT and ANXA1 KO PM.

# LIST OF TABLES

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

Table 1:	List of reagents used in this study.
Table 2:	List of antibodies used in this study.
Table 3:	List of ELISA kits used for this study
Table 4:	List of primers used in this study

# APPENDICES

Appendix A: Consolidated results for ANXA1 interacting proteins from databanks.

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Ac2-26	Annexin-1 peptide (Ac- AMVSEFLKQAWFIENEEQEYVQTVK)
ANXA1	Annexin-1
APC	Antigen presenting cells
CLR	C-type lectin receptors
COX2	Cyclooxygenase-2
CpG 1826	CpG 1826 oligodeoxynucleotide (CpG DNA)
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DC	Dendritic Cells
DEX	Dexamethasone
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
GC	Glucocorticoid
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
IFN-β	Interferon Beta
ΙκΒ	Inhibitor of κB
IKK	IkB kinase
IRAK	Interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase 1
IRF-3	Interferon regulatory factor 3
ISRE	Interferon-stimulated Response Element
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LTB4	Leukotriene B4
Mal/TIRAP	MyD88 adaptor-like / Toll-Interleukin-1 receptor adaptor protein
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
M-CSF/MCSF	Macrophage colony stimulating factor

MFI	Mean florescence intensity
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex
MyD88	Myeloid differentiation factor 88
NEMO	NF-kappa-B essential modulator
NLR	NOD-like receptors
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PBML	peripheral blood mononuclear leukocytes
PC	Phosphatidylcholine
PGE2	Prostaglandin E2
PGJ <sub>2</sub>	15-deoxy-Δ12,14-Prostaglandin J2
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase
PMN	Polymorphonuclear leukocytes
Poly (I:C)	Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid
RIP1	Receptor interacting protein 1
PPAR	Peroxisome proliferator activated receptor
PPRE	PPAR response element
PR3	Membrane Bound Proteinase 3
PRED	Prednisone
PRR	Proline-rich region
PS	Phosphatidylserine
RIG-I	Retinoic acid-inducible gene 1
RLR	RIG-like receptors
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
RQ	Relative Quantification
SARM	Sterile $\alpha$ - and heat armadillo-motif-containing protein
SMAD	Sma and Mad Related Family
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription

TCR	T-cell Receptor
TIR	Toll/Interleukin-1 receptor
TLR	Toll-like receptors
TNF-α	Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha
TRAF	C-terminal Tumor necrosis factor Receptor-Associated Factor
TRAIL	TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
TRAM	TRIF-related adaptor molecule
TRIF	Toll-interleukin-1 receptor (TIR)-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon-β
TRPM7	Transient receptor potential cation channel, subfamily M, member 7
TRR	Toll-receptor-related
Yap-1	Yes-associated protein 1

# LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Bist, P., Shu, S., Lim, J. Y., Arora, S., Nair, S., Lee, H. Y., Dayalan J., Gasser S., Biswas S. K., Fairhurst, A-M., Lim, L. H. K. A novel role for Annexin-A1 as a regulator of the MYD88-independent Toll-like receptor signaling pathway. Manuscript submitted for publication.

Bist, P., Leow, S. C., Phua, Q. H., Shu, S., Zhuang, Q., Loh, W. T., Nguyen, T. H., Zhou, J. B., Hooi, S. C., Lim, L.H.K. Annexin-1 interacts with NEMO and RIP1 to constitutively activate IKK complex and NF-κB: implication in breast cancer metastasis. *Oncogene*. (2011) Jul 14;30(28):3174-85.

#### **CONFERENCE PAPERS**

Shu Shin La, Pradeep Bist, Lim Hsiu Kim Lina. Annexin-1: A Novel Regulator of the Toll like Receptor Signaling Pathway. Korean Association of Immunologists (2010).

Shu Shin La & Lim Hsiu Kim Lina. Macrophage Polarization Status in ANXA1 KO mice. Singapore Symposium of Immunology (2010).

# CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

"I find it astonishing that the immune system embodies a degree of complexity which suggests some more or less superficial though striking analogies with human language, and that this cognitive system has evolved and functions without assistance of the brain."

-Niels K. Jerne, Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine, 1984

# 1.1. Inflammation

During acute inflammatory response in diseases, various factors come together to present an overall phenotype, namely a pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory response. Inflammation occurs through dynamically varying levels of pro- and anti- inflammatory cytokines competing for an upper hand either by activation of signaling cascades or inhibition of downstream signals.

Pro-inflammatory mediators are the causative agents (thereby the main focus of concern during an acute inflammation) while anti-inflammatory mediators are the key players in bringing inflammation down to pre- inflammation levels. While most inflammation is resolved rapidly through the production or activity of anti-inflammatory mediators, some remain as chronic inflammation either when the source of inflammation persists or insufficient anti-inflammatory response is present (Figure 1.1).



1	being characterised by a phase of initiation and a phase of resolution, thus the bell-shape curve over time.
2	Exacerbation of the response could be not only due to more synthesis/effect of pro-inflammatory mediators, but also to the absence of anti-inflammatory mediator(s).
3	Prolongation of the inflammatory response is indicative of absence of resolution, such that one or more anti- inflammatory pathways are absent or malfunctioning

Figure 1.1. Inflammation is a dynamic process between pro- and antiinflammatory mediators of inflammation. Prolonged inflammation is caused by the absence or limited capacity of anti- inflammatory mediators to act upon the site to resolve the inflammation. On the other hand, rapid resolution of inflammation is directly dependent on the level of activity of anti- inflammatory mediators. Therefore inflammation is caused by proinflammatory mediators and its resolution is dependent upon antiinflammatory mediators (Kamal *et al.*, 2005).

Induction of pro-inflammatory mediators is bound by inflammatory insults that

are usually based on rapid response to external stimuli and sometimes beyond the control

of the host (e.g. systemic activation of pathogen receptor signaling cascades such as Toll like Receptors (TLRs), CLRs, Nod like Receptors(NLRs) and Rig-I like receptors (RLRs) will cause rapid build-up of pro-inflammatory response). Whether some stimuli will trigger an overwhelming pro-inflammatory response is almost impossible for the host to decipher beforehand. Anti-inflammatory mediators are molecularly existing targets that are involved in inflammation yet working to curb inflammatory response. They are therefore the present focus of research interest. In particular, anti-inflammatory mediators that exist endogenously within the host are of great interest, since their presence at physiologically relevant levels do not cause toxicity issues. Patients that may already be facing the risk of toxicity and complication through other channels of medical intervention may find such a drug invaluable for survival.

Rapid activation of an acute inflammatory response involves the concerted effort of many leukocytes. Among the many innate immune cells that mediate initial response to pathogenic stimuli found within the body, macrophages are the key players in innate immunity. Macrophages dictate the initial pro-inflammatory response during microbial infection, as it possesses a diverse array of receptors that are capable of microbial pattern recognition and immune response. (Takeuchi and Akira, 2010).

## 1.2. Inflammation during sepsis

Sepsis is a hyperimmune response that occurs during microbial infection (bacteria, viruses, fungi, etc.) and is characterised by severe inflammation leading to hypotension, multiple organ failure and in some cases, even death (Rice and Bernard, 2005). Sepsis continuously ranks among the top causes of illness and death worldwide. It accounts for

at least 20% of mortality in critically ill patients in U.S. and Europe (Angust *et al.*, 2001; Vincent *et al.*, 2006). In the United States alone, more than 210,000 deaths occurs annually and some 40% of all intensive care patients encounter sepsis during the course of their hospitalization (Skrupky *et al.*, 2011). In Singapore, patients admitted to intensive care units for severe sepsis showed hospital mortality of more than 40% (Phua *et al.*, 2011). However, very few therapeutic interventions exist to modulate the immune response other than clinical measures that involves maximizing oxygen delivery and prescribing broad-spectrum antibiotics to the patient. To date there is no perfect antidote to sepsis (Bernard and Bernard, 2012).

Most treatment for the management of sepsis involves down-regulation of inflammatory response during initial stages of sepsis (Pinsky, 2004). If the patient survives the initial septic shock induced by an overwhelming surge of cytokines produced by lymphocytes and macrophages, the patient goes into immune paralysis, where he completely loses the immune ability to oppose and eliminate any microbial infection he faces. The clinical outcome of such a septic patient is therefore determined both by the damage caused by the initial cytokine storm and the subsequent immune tolerance that prevents complete infection clearance (Rice and Bernard, 2005; Hotchkiss and Karl, 2003; Skrupky *et al.*, 2011). As gram-negative bacteria are the major cause of sepsis, inhibiting the primary mediator of sepsis such as LPS using antibodies were initially proposed as a treatment. LPS specific antibodies were discovered and a patient cohort study based on such antibodies showed that it provided some improvement in mortality in some cases of bacteria associated sepsis, but septic patients without gram-negative bacteremia showed no treatment benefit (Fink, 1993; Ziegler *et al.*, 1991). Later

on, Toll-like receptors (TLR) were identified as a major source that triggers intracellular signaling cascade which produce inflammatory cytokines upon binding microbial molecules during initial stages of sepsis (Salomao et al., 2008). Inhibitors for TLRs were developed to inhibit these receptors, in a hope to elucidate a treatment for bacterial sepsis. A trial for TLR4 inhibitor on septic patients showed mixed results; only severe patients showed slight improvement in mortality (Rice et al., 2010). Inhibiting pro-inflammatory cytokines produced during sepsis using antibodies is not a solution either. Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), a pro-inflammatory cytokine is persistently elevated in patients that expire after sepsis (Qiu et al., 2011; Reinhart and Karzai, 2001). Several clinical trials were focused on monoclonal antibodies that inhibit TNF- $\alpha$  over the years but were met with mediocre results (Abraham et al., 1995; Cohen and Carlet, 1996; Abraham et al., 1998). This may be partially due to the non-canonical activity of TNF- $\alpha$  that stimulates other immune responses Animal models with blocked TNF- $\alpha$  activity reduced the animal's immune system to clear microbes (Qiu et al., 2011). Instead, negatively regulating TLR induced signaling pathway may hold the key to managing sepsis (Ishii and Akira, 2004).

#### **1.3.** Innate immunity and TLRs

All cells of the immune system originate from the bone marrow. They include myeloid (neutrophils, basophils, eosinophils, dendritic cells and macrophages) and lymphoid (T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes and Natural Killer) cells. The immune system comprises two major arms that work synergistically to provide immunity to its host: Innate immunity (i.e. non-specific immunity), and adaptive immunity (i.e. specific immunity). While adaptive immune response require more time to respond to pathogen invasion, innate immune response reacts almost immediately to a wide variety of organisms through the recognition of pathogen *via* pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) and action of cytokines and chemokines (Cook *et al.*, 2004).

PAMPs are molecular patterns derived from microorganisms that commonly invade our body. They are uniquely conserved motifs found predominantly in microorganisms but not vertebrates. Examples of PAMPs encountered by the innate immune system include lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from bacteria, bacterial DNA motif such as cysteine-phosphodiester-guanine repeat DNA stands (CpG), double stranded RNA such as poly (I:C) and zymosan from yeast cell walls. When found inside a human body, PAMPs are distinguished by PRRs found on endothelial cells, mucosal epithelial cells, dendritic cells, macrophages and lymphocytes, and a downstream cascade of inflammatory response is immediately triggered. There are many types of PRRs found on the surface and the endosomes of cells. Among PRRs, toll-like receptors (TLRs) which comprise a family of PRRs found on both the surface and in the cytoplasm are the most diversely responsive PRRs for triggering an inflammatory response from the cells (Takeda and Akira, 2007).

Toll-like receptors gained their name from a receptor found from *Drosophila melanogaster* named Toll, which was found to play an important role in innate immunity in adult flies. TLRs possess repeated motifs high in leucine which is known as leucine-rich repeats (LRRs), and a cytoplasmic domain called the toll/interleukin 1 receptor (TIR) domain. To date, thirteen TLRs are found in mammals, and each member of the TLR family is highly specialized to bind and recognize specific PAMPs. TLR2, TLR3, TLR4,

mouse TLR7 (TLR8 for humans) and TLR9 function as signaling receptors for a diverse range of PAMPs, such as LPS, viral single-stranded RNA, CpG DNA, etc . The molecular patterns recognized by TLR family are all essential for the integrity, function and/or replication of microbial pathogens, thereby rendering TLRs difficult to evade by changing molecular sequences. For example, LPS which is recognized by TLR4, is critical to the integrity of Gram-negative bacteria such that any mutation in LPS is lethal to most species of bacteria (Rietschel *et al.*, 1994). TLR3 which recognizes double stranded RNA, a central intermediate for all RNA viruses, makes it difficult for viruses to evade detection. Similar to examples afore mentioned , zymosan is recognized by TLR 2 and is also an integral component to the yeast cell wall, making it difficult for yeast infection to hide from cells from the innate immune system that possess TLRs (Cook *et al.*, 2004). TLR9 is able to act as a receptor to cytosine-phosphodiester-guanine (CpG) DNA that is from bacteria (Akira, 2003).

## **1.3.1.** TLR-specific signaling pathways

Microbial recognition of TLRs causes dimerization of TLR which triggers the activation of downstream cascade of signals through the activation of TIR domain of the TLRs. The activation causes a TIR domain containing adaptor MyD88 to induce inflammatory cytokine production such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-12, and is true for all members of the TLR family except TLR3. TLR3 is activated through a MyD88 independent, TIR domain-containing adaptor inducing IFN- $\beta$  (TRIF) adaptor protein which subsequently triggers IRF-3 dependent anti-viral response.

There are distinct and specific pathways which exist to activate and/or trigger a cascade of downstream activity for the unique stimuli a cell is exposed to. Amongst many major pathways that are known for their capacity to cause transcription of inflammatory response, focus shall be placed on the following signaling molecules and transcription factors: retinoid acid-inducible gene 1 (RIG-I), nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- $\kappa$ B), IRF-3, STAT-1 and other pathways ANXA1 is associated with (Takeda and Akira, 2007).

## **1.3.2.** MyD88 pathway and TRIF pathway

Engagement of TLRs by various PAMPs leads to the activation of MyD88 pathway, a controller for TLR-mediated responses for all TLRs except TLR 3 (Akira *et al.*, 2006). The MyD88 pathway is capable of activating NF- $\kappa$ B, a master regulator of inflammation. Upon activation of TLR by ligand-receptor binding, MyD88 adaptor protein binds to cytosolic end of MyD88 depdendent TLRs. MyD88 then recruits IL-1 receptor-associated kinases (IRAK), which leads to activation of Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway. IRAK activation also causes activation of Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor Associated Factor 6 (TRAF6), an E3 ubiquitination ligase that ubiquitinates itself. This ubiquitination of TRAF6 attracts ubiquitin binding NEMO, an important subunit of Inhibitor of kappa B kinase (IKK) complex which is required for NF- $\kappa$ B activation. This leads to degradation of inhibitor of  $\kappa$ B (I $\kappa$ B) protein, which leads to activation of NF- $\kappa$ B.

TRIF dependent pathway activates both IRF-3 and NF-κB. However, TRIF is distinct and unique for its activation of IRF-3 which induces interferon beta transcription,

leading to anti-viral responses to be activated. TRIF recruits TBK1 and IKKi (or IKK $\varepsilon$ ) which catalyses the phosphorylation of IRF-3 at specific serine residues in the C-terminal regulatory domain. Dimerization of IRF-3 allows for nuclear translocation and interaction with transcriptional coactivator p300 or CREB-binding protein in the nucleus, leading to transcription of IFN- $\beta$ . MyD88 and TRIF dependent pathways therefore signal through different adaptor proteins leading to activation of different transcription factors (Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2: The MyD88 dependent and TRIF dependent pathways. Bacterial peptides such as CpG DNA bind to TLR9 and recruits MyD88 to trigger only MyD88 dependent pathway, causing early phase NF-  $\kappa$ B activation. TLR 2 and TLR5 also activates specifically MyD88 pathway only. On the other hand, virus double stranded RNA or poly (I:C) binds to TLR3 to activate TRIF dependent pathway. LPS can trigger both MyD88 and TRIF pathways through the formation of TLR4-MD2-LPS complex, which can then internalize into an endosome to recruit TRAM and TRIF adaptor proteins. This leads to activation of late phase NF- $\kappa$ B and IRF-3 which lead to induction of type 1 interferon (TRIF-dependent pathway) (Adapted from Kawai and Akira, 2010).

### 1.3.3. NF-кВ

NF-κB's role and association in linking immunity, inflammation and cancer is unprecedented. Known as the "master regulator of inflammation" or the "central mediator of inflammatory process", the triggering of NF-κB leads to a signalling cascade that releases countless downstream activity leading to an overall pro-inflammatory response by the activated cell (Baldwin, 1996). NF-κB is believed to target more than 250 genes in the mouse or human genome (Natoli *et al.*, 2005). First discovered in 1986 by Baltimore's group as a B-cell-specific transcription factor, NF-κB has the capacity to translocate into the nucleus to bind directly to DNA, yet it is bioavailable in the cytoplasm as an inactive form. A wide range of surface receptors relay signals to activate the NF-κB pathway, notably the TNF receptor, TLR, IL-1 receptor and antigen receptor superfamilies. Growing number of intracellular receptors which are able to activate NFκB are elucidated, and amongst them the known pathways are responses to DNA damage, reactive oxygen species as well as recognition of intracellular pathogens through NODlike and RIG-I-like family of receptors (Hayden and Ghosh, 2012).

The NF- $\kappa$ B/Rel family consists of NF- $\kappa$ B1 (p50/p105), NF- $\kappa$ B2 (p52/p100), p65 (RelA), RelB and c-Rel (Chen *et al.*, 1999). The most prevalent, activated form of NF- $\kappa$ B is a heterodimer consisting of a p50 or p52 subunit and p65, which contains all the necessary domains for transcriptional activation and gene expression. It is believed that each member of the Rel/NF- $\kappa$ B family play different roles *in vivo* (Ruan and Chen, 2012). Mice deficient in p65 (RelA) are embryonically lethal (Berg *et al.*, 1995), and RelB-deficient mice suffer from severe autoimmune-like inflammatory diseases (Gerondakis *et al.*, 1996). Mice that are NF- $\kappa$ B2 deficient suffer from severe developmental defects

(Caamaño *et al.*, 1998). Mice deficient in c-Rel have severe impairment in T cell immune response but possess normal non-lymphoid organs (Liou *et al.*, 1999), while NF- $\kappa$ B1 (p50) deficient mice are susceptible to bacterial infections due to compromised B cell responses (Sha *et al.*, 1995). The knockout mice reflect the importance of each member of the NF- $\kappa$ B family in physiological systems ranging from healthy organ development to homeostatic immune function and regulation. NF- $\kappa$ B exists in the cytoplasm associated with inhibitory protein I $\kappa$ B. The I $\kappa$ B is made of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ , I $\kappa$ B $\beta$  and I $\kappa$ B $\epsilon$ . Each of the I $\kappa$ B subunits inhibit specific subsets of NF- $\kappa$ B. The inhibition of NF- $\kappa$ B by I $\kappa$ B is released upon phosphorylation. The phosphorylating kinase was identified as IKKs. IKKs are made up of three subunits that forms the IKK complex: IKK $\alpha$ , IKK $\beta$  and IKK $\gamma$  (NEMO). NF- $\kappa$ B activation always involves activation of IKK complex which phosphorylates I $\kappa$ B. Once I $\kappa$ B is phosphorylated and degraded, a point of no return is reached: NF- $\kappa$ B translocates to the nucleus and proceeds with transcription of NF- $\kappa$ B target genes (Gilmore, 2006).

NF- $\kappa$ B affects both innate and adaptive immune response (DiDonato *et al.*, 2012). It is activated by a diverse range of external stimuli which causes inflammatory response, and is particularly important in TLR signaling, as all the TLR except TLR3 activates the MyD88 adaptor protein that triggers a downstream cascade leading to degradation of I $\kappa$ B and activation of NF- $\kappa$ B.

NF- $\kappa$ B plays an important role in immune response and inflammation. T cells from transgenic mice that lack NF- $\kappa$ B/Rel signaling pathway exhibit a delayed Th 1 activation and response. Known as one of the most important regulators in proinflammatory gene expression, it induces the synthesis of pleiotropic pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-12, pro-inflammatory mediating enzyme prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2 (COX-2), adhesion molecules and inducible nitric oxide (iNOS). NF- $\kappa$ B is able to act in concert with other pro-inflammatory transcription factors such as AP-1, which is capable of phosphorylating MAPK/JNK pathways. It is also known that some of the corticosteroid action used in the treatment of inflammatory diseases, are mediated through the inhibition of NF- $\kappa$ B activation (Tak and Firestein, 2001).

## 1.3.4. IRF-3

Interferon regulatory transcription factor 3 (IRF-3) belongs to the IRF family of proteins, which all share significant homology in their DNA binding domains. To date, there are 9 members in the IRF family (IRF-1 to IRF-9), and all play a role as transcription mediators of virus, bacteria and other interferon-inducible activation (Zhao *et al.*, 2007). It therefore plays a critical role in antiviral defence and immune response. IRF-3 is activated by infected cells upon recognition of double stranded RNA, either by surface TLR3 receptors or internalized cytoplasmic receptors (RNA helicase RIG-I and MDA-5). Both receptors eventually activate a signaling cascade leading to the phosphorylation of IRF-3 at serine residue position 386 (Ser 386) by two non-canonical IkB kinases, TBK-1 and IKK $\epsilon$ . The activated IRF-3 homodimerizes or heterodimerizes with IRF-7 and translocates to the nucleus, where it stimulates activation of IFN- $\beta$  (Paun *et al.*, 2007). Mice with homozygous deletion of IRF-3 exhibit impairment in mounting a type 1 interferon anti-viral response against viral infection.

## 1.3.5. STAT-1

STAT-1, or Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 1, is a 91 kDa protein belonging to the JAK-STAT signaling family and plays a key role in facilitating gene transcription upon activation of type I and type II interferon receptors. Phosphorylation of STAT-1 by receptor associated kinases activates STAT-1, which forms homodimers that translocates to the nucleus to act as transcription activators. STAT-1 deficient mice are resistant to cecal ligation and puncture (CLP) induced septic shock resulting in a survival rate of 80% in STAT-1 deficient mice versus 10% for wild-type mice (Herzig *et al.*, 2012).

## **1.3.6. PPAR-***γ*

Peroxisome Proliferator- Activated Receptor gamma (PPAR- $\gamma$ ), is a nuclear receptor and transcription factor from the steroid family. Its natural ligand is 15-deoxy- $\delta$ (12-14)-prostaglandin J<sub>2</sub> (PGJ<sub>2</sub>). Artificial ligands for PPAR- $\gamma$  are thiazolidinediones widely used to treat diabetes. Upon activation of PPAR- $\gamma$  by its ligand, PPAR- $\gamma$  heterodimerizes with retinoid-X receptor  $\alpha$  and binds to PPAR specific DNA response elements, or PPRE. It is widely known for its capacity to regulate fatty acid storage and modulate glucose metabolism in cells, as PPAR- $\gamma$  knockout mice are unable to generate adipose tissues even when fed with a high-fat diet (Jones *et al.*, 2005). More importantly, it is found to increase sensitivity to insulin by upregulating glucose transporter 4 (Wu *et al.*, 1998). It therefore plays an important role in adipogenesis and diabetes.

Its involvement in inflammation regulation was revealed only in the past decade. A variety of immune cells such as macrophages, dendritic cells, neutrophils and other lymphocytes express PPAR- $\gamma$ . In many experimental studies, PPAR- $\gamma$  is capable of inducing anti-inflammatory activity, and is found to have therapeutic potential in regulating the immune system (Ohshima *et al.*, 2012). PPAR- $\gamma$  has many inflammation associated ligands: unsaturated fatty acids, oxidized and nitrated fatty acids, arachidonic metabolies, 15-deoxy- $\Delta^{12}$ , <sup>14</sup>-PGJ<sub>2</sub> (15d-PGJ<sub>2</sub>), thiazolidinediones (TZDs), phospholipid cyclic phosphatidic acid, lysophosphatidic acid and oxidized low-density lipoprotein components are all ligands to PPAR- $\gamma$ . PPAR- $\gamma$  is expressed in various immune cells, such as primary peritoneal macrophages, dendritic cells, and T cells. The major role of PPAR- $\gamma$  is to negatively regulate Th 1 specific genes and PAMPs that signal through pattern recognition receptors. (Welch et al., 2003). PPAR-y is able to suppress monocyte dependent inflammatory cytokine production at doses similar to those used for adipogenesis. Both natural ligand PGJ<sub>2</sub> and TZDs are capable of inhibiting macrophage activation (Jiang *et al.*, 1998). PPAR- $\gamma$  inhibits transcriptional activity of NF- $\kappa$ B activity through inhibition of the p65/RelA subunit in macrophages (Chinetti et al., 1998), and upon activation of PPAR- $\gamma$ , IFN- $\beta$  production is inhibited through prevention of IRF-3 binding to the IFN-β promoter (Zhao et al., 2011). In dendritic cells, 15d-PGJ<sub>2</sub> activates PPAR-y, causing reduced stimulation of DCs via TLR ligands 2, 3, 4 and 7 while inhibiting MAP kinases and NF-kB pathways but not PI3 kinase/Akt signaling pathway. Interestingly, PPAR- $\gamma$  -/- embryonic stem cells were found to have suppressed expression of inflammatory genes such as iNOS and COX<sub>2</sub> (Chawla et al., 2001). PPAR-y therefore plays a role in modulating both innate and adaptive immune responses.

There are many artificial PPAR- $\gamma$  activators available today due to the importance of PPAR- $\gamma$  in insulin and adipocyte associated diseases, such as ciglitazone, rosiglitazone,

troglitazone. These are widely-used drugs in the treatment of diabetes (Sasaki *et al.*, 2005). TZDs are found to possess the same anti-inflammatory properties of PPAR- $\gamma$  activating ligands which are known for its anti-inflammatory effects, such as PGJ<sub>2</sub>. Ciglitazone reduces systemic inflammation in microbial sepsis by modulation of NF- $\kappa$ B and AP-1 pathways (Zingarelli *et al.*, 2003) Rosiglitazone is another PPAR- $\gamma$  activating ligand which also possesses anti-inflammatory properties. Rosiglitazone plays a role in in reducing pancreatic inflammation in obese mice (Pini *et al.*, 2012). Troglitazone is found to be capable of preventing lymphocyte adhesion to endothelial cells, which is considered as a hallmark anti-inflammatory effect (Sasaki *et al.*, 2005). Based on the activity of PPAR- $\gamma$  specific antagonist, it is evident that PPAR- $\gamma$  is an important suppressor of pro-inflammatory response in both immune and non-immune cells.

#### 1.4. Chemokines and cytokines involved in inflammation

There are myriad of paradigms available for displaying a pro-inflammatory phenotype by choosing cytokines and chemokines that would aid in explaining the inflammatory process. In this experiment, we have chosen the cytokine / chemokine IL-6, IL-12, IP-10 (CXCL-10), and TNF- $\alpha$ . We shall review through the cytokines and chemokines relevant to this study and understand their significance during inflammation.

#### 1.4.1. IL-6

First discovered as a hepatocyte stimulating factor (Gauldie *et al.*, 1987), IL-6 was also found later to function as a plasmacytoma growth factor (Suematsu *et al.*, 1992). IL-6 is a multifunctional acute phase response cytokine, playing an important role in signaling pathogen invasion in host during sepsis and endotoxemia (Meyer *et al.*, 1995). IL-6 deficient mice are highly susceptible to sepsis by common microbial pathogen such as *Streptococcus pnenumoniae* (van der Poll *et al.*, 1997).

IL-6 is secreted by T cells and monocytes such as dendritic cells and macrophages, and is involved in immunoglobin secretion by mature B cells, activation of cytotoxic T-cells and other inflammatory responses (Kestler *et al.*, 1995). Its receptors are IL-6 receptor and gp130 (Ciapponi *et al.*, 1995). IL-6 is capable of being suppressed by glucocorticoid action (Fried *et al.*, 1998).

IL-6 has been implicated in the generation and propagation of both acute and chronic inflammation. IL-6 trans signaling promotes acute inflammation by increasing expression of endothelial leukocyte adhesion molecules (VCAM-1, ICAM-1) which increases leukocyte accumulation (Kaplanski *et al.*, 2003). It therefore facilitates the transition from neutrophils to mononuclear-cell infiltrate, which is a hallmark of acute inflammation. IL-6 is also responsible for chronic inflammation, as it rescues T cells from apoptosis, thus postponing the clearance of mononuclear inflammatory cell infiltrate (Curnow *et al.*, 2004). IL-6 is therefore important in driving local inflammation.

#### 1.4.2. IL-12

IL-12 is a heterodimeric cytokine produced by phagocytic cells, B lymphocytes and other myelomonocytic cells (D'Ambrosio *et al.*, 1998). It was formerly known as "cytotoxic lymphocyte maturation factor" and "natural killer cell stimulatory factor". The bioactive form of IL-12 comprises a heterodimeric molecule made up of 40 kDa (p40) and 35 kDa (p35) subunits, and undergoes substantial post-translational modification which accounts for 10 to 20% of carbohydrate by mass and a disulphide bridge that allows heterodimer formation for it to become bioactive (Podlaski *et al.*, 1992). The p35 subunit is more ubiquitously expressed even in lymphocytes not associated with IL-12, while the p40 subunit is produced only by lymphocytes that are known to produce IL-12. The NF- $\kappa$ B/Rel protein binding site within the IL-12 p40 promoter is responsible for p40 subunit specific production during NF- $\kappa$ B activation (Sanjabi *et al.*, 2000).

In response to pathogens, PRRs such as TLRs are activated and IL-12 is produced by phagocytes (monocytes/macrophages and neutrophils) and dendritic cells. Specifically, IL-12 p40 subunit is produced from TLR activation by TLR ligands or agonists such as LPS. When both LPS and IFNg are present to stimulate activation, IL-12 p70 heterodimer is produced. IL-12 is a critical factor for development of Th 1 immunity and cell mediated responses against diverse pathogenic insults (Trinchieri, 1995). IL-12 stimulates increased proliferation and colony formation of haematopoietic progenitors (NK cells, NKT cells and T cells) and their production of cytokines, in particular interferons (e.g. IFN- $\gamma$ ). As IFN- $\gamma$  can also induce transcription of IL-12, it presents a positive feedback loop for IL-12 production during inflammatory response. As a cytokine it is unique in its capacity to direct Th 1 cell development and cellular immunity, it is important to detect its levels during inflammatory and autoimmune disease research (Adorini *et al.*, 1997).

Products from microorganisms such as bacteria (LPS), bacterial DNA and CpGcontaining oligonucleotides are strong inducers of IL-12 production by macrophages and other monocytes, neutrophils and dendritic cells (DCs). Intrinsic defects in macrophage IL-12 production are associated with immune dysfunction. For example, patients with lower IL-12 production are highly susceptible to mycobacterial infection (Uzzaman and Fuleihan, 2012) leshmaniasis (Alleva *et al.*, 1998) and candidiasis (van de Veerdonk *et al.*, 2011). IL-12 deficiency in humans is associated with recurrent pneumonia, sepsis and other infections in the absence of fevers from a very young age (Haraguchi *et al.*, 1998).

#### 1.4.3. IP-10 (CXCL-10)

Interferon-inducible protein-10 (IP-10) or C-X-C motif chemokine 10 (CXCL10) is a 10 kD secreted protein identified from abundant RNA induced by interferon gamma and LPS. It is a member of –C-X-C- motif chemokine family of secreted proteins. Secretion of IP-10 by leukocytes, neutrophils, eosinophils, monocytes, epithelia, endothelial and stromal cells is associated with inflammation (Luster and Ravetch, 1987).

IP-10 activates the CXCR3 receptor predominantly expressed on activated T cells, B cells, NK cells, DCs and macrophage cells, and acts as "homing" beacon to attract CXCR3-positive cells. Th1 cells produce IFN- $\gamma$ , which induces IP-10 production, and provides a positive feedback loop to attract and recruit more Th1 cells (Campbell *et al.*, 2004). IP-10 is also produced upon induction by IFN- $\beta$  produced through TLR3-TRIF-IRF3 dependent pathway activation (Petry *et al.*, 2006).

Recent studies have elucidated the mechanism of IP-10 intracellular signaling pathways. Interaction of IP-10 with its receptor CXCR3 results in p38/MAPK and PI3K signaling pathway activation (Shen *et al.*, 2006; Shahabuddin *et al.*, 2006). IP-10 can also activate cAMP-dependent protein kinases A (PKA) singaling pathways (Jinquan *et al.*, 2000), and affect cell migration and proliferation through activation of Ras/ERK, Src and PI3K/Akt pathways (Bonacchi *et al.*, 2001). In murine macrophages, JAK1,
JAK2/STAT1 activation plays an important role in upregulating IP-10 production (Han *et al.*, 2010). It can modulate adhesion molecule expression and stimulate monocytes, NK-cells and T-cell migration. (Kim *et al.*, 2012a). IP-10 is induced in a variety of conditions such as psoriasis, fixed drug eruptions, hypersensitivity reactions and encephalomyelitis (Luster *et al.*, 1995).

### 1.4.4. TNF-α

TNF- $\alpha$  or tumour necrosis factor-alpha, is an acute phase, pleiotropic cytokine involved in systemic inflammation produced mostly by activated macrophages, CD4<sup>+</sup> Tcells and NK-cells. Large quantities of TNF-  $\alpha$  are produced in response to LPS and other bacterial products (Walsh *et al.*, 1991). TNF-  $\alpha$  binds TNF receptors and trimerizes the receptors to dissociate inhibitory protein Silencer of Death Domains (SODD) from the intraceullar death domain. When the death domain is exposed, adaptor protein TNF- $\alpha$ Receptor Death Domain (TRADD) binds to it and initiates downstream pathways such as NF- $\kappa$ B pathway, MAPK pathway and caspase 8- dependent death signaling (Chen and Goeddel, 2002).

### 1.4.5. Interferons

Interferons (IFN) are proteins with potent anti-viral activity which plays a crucial role during early viral response to infections. Type 1 interferons (IFN- $\alpha$ , - $\beta$ , and - $\omega$ ) bind to the interferon receptors IFN- $\alpha$  R1 and IFN- $\alpha$  R2. Type 2 interferon IFN- $\gamma$  interacts with IFN- $\gamma$ R1 and IFN- $\gamma$ R2. The expression of type 1 interferon is strictly regulated by activation of transcription factors IRF-3, NF- $\kappa$ B and Activating transcription factor 2

homerdimerized with c-Jun (ATF-2-cJun) (Yoneyama *et al.*, 2004). IRF-3 deficient cells exhibit greatly attenuated type 1 interferon production. IFNs are able to regulate cells of both innate and adaptive immunity. Of importance is IFN- $\gamma$  which activates an extensive array of antimicrobial functions of phagocytes and plays an important role in the immune response against bacteria, fungi and other common intracellular pathogens. (Trinchieri, 2003).

### **1.5.** Macrophage polarization

Macrophage polarization encompasses the diverse phenotypes of macrophage ranging from classical activation categorized at one polar end termed M1 polarization, and alternative type of macrophages that appear to be actively producing antiinflammatory cytokines termed M2 polarization which is placed at the other end of the spectrum. All other intermediary phenotypes based on their cytokine / chemokine profile are placed in between. The two diametrically opposite properties of macrophages were well documented (Mantovani *et al.*, 2005) but lacked a framework to encompass the diverse properties of macrophages depending on its polarization status.

Classical response by macrophage is termed M1 polarization. M1 macrophages produce pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-12 and IL-1 $\beta$ . There are M1 polarization specific surface markers such as CD80 and CD86 (ibid.). The importance of M1 polarized macrophages during bacterial infection is evident from mice deficient for components of either the interferon gamma or the IL-12 pathway. The mice became highly susceptible to *Mycobacteria* and S*almonella* (Jouanguy *et al.*, 1999). While M1 macrophages are capable of recruiting Th1 response with potent microbial properties, M2 macrophages support Th2- associated responses, and are considered incompetent to eliminate pathogens. M1 polarization is characterized by high IL-12 and low IL-10 production while M2 polarization is categorized by low IL-12 and high IL-10 production. M1 and M2 macrophages are also segregated by the expression of alternative activation markers. There are M2 markers such as arginase-1 which is only expressed in M2 macrophages (Mills *et al.*, 2000).

M2 macrophages are further divided into M2a, M2b, M2c and M2d cells, based on the different stimuli it is elicited from (Figure 1.3). M2a and M2b are macrophages that exert their immune functions to drive Th2 responses. M2c macrophages play a role in immune suppression, and M2d macrophages or tumour associated macrophages (TAM) which accumulates at the tumour site due to tumour-derived signals such as macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) and monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP-1) (Martinez *et al.*, 2008).

While the concept of macrophage polarization is new, it is capable of presenting a clear-cut explanation on certain macrophage phenotypes under complex stimuli such as live pathogens. For example, some pathogens such as *Yersinia enterocolitica* are capable of programming macrophages into M2 polarization. The pathogen-induced reprogrammed macrophages express M2 markers such as arginase-1, and produce M2 cytokines such as TGF $\beta$  and IL-4 in BALB/c mice (Benoit *et al.*, 2008). Other pathogens such as chronic Q fever inducing *Coxiella burnetii* induces macrophages to produce IL-10, TGF $\beta$  and CCL18, thus reprogramming the macrophage into M2 polarization status after successful and chronic infection. Moreover, the macrophages do not express M1-

associated cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-12 and surface expression marker CD80 and CCR7, and do not produce nitric oxide (Benoit *et al.*, 2008).



Figure 1.3: M1 and M2 polarization in macrophages. M1 macrophages, or macrophages with classical activation response are induced through LPS or other microbial products, and induces inflammation through the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines such as IL-6, IL-12, TNF- $\alpha$ and CCL5. Release of reactive oxygen species and nitrogen intermediates (ROI and RNI) are also hallmarks of M1 polarization in macrophages. Alternatively activated macrophages (M2) are classified into M2a induced by IL-4/IL-13, M2b induced by immune complexes and TLR agonists, and M2c induced by IL-10 and glucocorticoid hormones, and M2d induced by tumour microenvironment (not shown in diagram) (Diagram from Benoit *et al.*, 2008)

### **1.6.** ANXA1: A calcium and phospholipid binding molecule

ANXA1 belongs to the annexin superfamily of proteins. Under electron microscopy, ANXA1 is seen to form highly organized and symmetric scaffolds that consolidate membrane domain complexes. The annexin family is one of the three major membranous calcium binding proteins. The other two families binding to calcium are EF-hand proteins, and the C2-domain proteins (Lim and Pervaiz, 2007).

Annexins bind calcium through its signature core domain repeats, and its calcium binding face docks onto the membrane when bound to calcium (Figure 1.4). Some annexin families (e.g. Annexin-A5) even anchor directly to the hydrocarbon lipid chain of the plasma membrane. All members of the annexin family possess homologous repeats of 70-80 amino acids which form the core of the protein length that is usually repeated 4 or 8 times, and represents more than 80% of the protein (Hunter, 1988).

ANXA1 in particular exhibits the most pronounced conformational change, i.e. the N-terminal domain is usually buried deep inside the core repeats and remains inaccessible to any external interaction. Upon binding to calcium ions, the N-terminus is pushed out and exposed to the surface for presentation and binding with proteins, such as S100A, an EF-hand family of proteins. ANXA1 and Annexin-2 (ANXA2) are usually bound to bilayers of phosphatidylserine (PS)/ phosphatidylcholine (PC) mixtures as protein clusters, and also found on endosomal compartments (Gerke and Moss, 2002).

ANXA1 KO studies have demonstrated that multivesicular endosomes can form without ANXA1 but they possess fewer internal vesicles than their wildtype counterparts (Gerke *et al.*, 2005).



Figure 1.4. Structure of ANXA1. Black spheres denote calcium ions. Upon binding calcium, calcium binding face of ANXA1 adheres to the plasma membrane (modified from "annexin-1", from Protein Data Bank, www.pdb.org).

The N-terminus determines the uniqueness of the annexins within the annexin family. For ANXA1, the N-terminus spans exactly 33 amino acids (Flower *et al.*, 1994), and has extensive association with the membrane region of cells, in particular phospholipid vesicles (Hoekstra *et al.*, 1993; Wang and Creutz., 1994). Cleavage of ANXA1 at N-terminus occurs endogenously through the help of membrane bound proteinase 3 (PR3) (Pederzoli-Ribeil *et al.*, 2010). N-terminus of ANXA1 presented

exciting avenues of anti-inflammatory research as the N-terminus was sufficient to elicit anti-inflammatory properties of its parent protein. A peptidomimetic molecule of the first 26 amino acids of ANXA1 (Ac2-26) was made to further investigate its antiinflammatory effects, and was proven to be anti-inflammatory in an *in vivo* mouse model (Cirino *et al.*, 1993). The N-terminus of ANXA1 is a natural ligand for the activation of different receptors in the FPR family (Ernst *et al.*, 2004).

Intracellular calcium has evolved into a messenger for a diverse range of signals. Sensitivity of ANXA1 to  $Ca^{2+}$  signals is dependent on the truncation of the N-terminus of ANXA1 (Monastyrskaya *et al.*, 2007). The truncated C-terminal end with the core annexin repeats on the other hand, upon binding to  $Ca^{2+}$  undergoes conformational change to aggregate onto the plasma membrane (Rosengarth and Luecke, 2003).

### 1.6.1. ANXA1 is a glucocorticoid inducible protein

ANXA1 was first discovered in the 1970s as the protein responsible for antiinflammatory activity of glucocorticoid (GC) treatment through inhibition of phospholipase A<sub>2</sub> (PLA<sub>2</sub>) activity, and was named "lipocortin-1" based on its function and the source of induction. Later on, the protein was discovered to "annex" (i.e. to bind) to cellular membrane in a Ca<sup>2+</sup> dependent manner, and was renamed "annexin-1" (Lim *et al.*, 2007). GCs are anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive agents used in immune associated diseases. In U937 cells, GC drugs such as dexamethasone (DEX) cause induction of ANXA1 and a biphasic translocation of ANXA1 from cytosolic onto cell membrane regions (Solito *et al.*, 1994), and this observation is also consistently observed in periphery and central tissues *in vivo* (Philips *et al.*, 1997). The stimulation of glucocorticoid receptor causes induction of ANXA1 and its phosphorylation at serine residue position 27, and translocates to the membrane with the help of protein kinase C (PKC), phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K) and MAP kinase activity (Solito et al., 2003a). It was not known at that time which protein was responsible for the phosphorylation of ANXA1 that caused this translocation. It is now known that serine residue position 27, 34 and 45 are recognition sites for the kinase PKC, and that phosphorylation at position 27 and 45 is essential for the translocation of ANXA1 to the membrane and its activity to modulate adrenocorticortrophic hormone (ACTH) (McArthur et al., 2009). There is little doubt on how important ANXA1 is as a GCinduced corticosteroid hormone modulator, as its capacity to control ACTH activity been proven in vitro (Taylor et al., 1993) and in vivo (Loxley et al., 1993). The capacity of ANXA1 to mediate anti-inflammatory action from GC-based drugs became evident when monoclonal antibodies targeting ANXA1 could inhibit inflammation drivers prostaglandin E2 (PGE<sub>2</sub>) and Leukotriene B4 (LTB4) production from peripheral blood mononuclear leukocyte (PBML). The inhibitory results were similar to GC drug induced such as dexamethasone (DEX) and prednisolone (PRED) inhibition of PBML (Almawi et al., 1996).

# 1.6.2. ANXA1 as an inhibitor of PLA<sub>2</sub>

ANXA1 is well-studied for its capacity to induce corticosteroid dependent inhibition of PLA<sub>2</sub> activity, thereby preventing generation of arachidonic acid to create pro-inflammatory mediator prostaglandin from its precursors diacylglycerols and phospholipids (Flower and Blackwell, 1979; Peers and Flower; 1990). It therefore also limits substrate availability of arachidonic acid for COX-2 to generate pro-inflammatory prostaglandins such as prostaglandin  $E_2$ . Hence it is also believed to play a role as cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitor. When endogenous levels of ANXA1 is depleted through RNA interference, PLA<sub>2</sub> activity increases substantially (Solito *et al.*, 1998). The route of inhibition which ANXA1 acts upon PLA<sub>2</sub> has also been found. ANXA1 forms a complex with S100A1 that bind to and inhibits cytosolic PLA<sub>2</sub> activity (Sakaguchi and Huh *et al.*, 2011). Recently, it was demonstrated that phosphorylation of ANXA1 by transient receptor potential cation channel, subfamily M, member 7 (TRPM7) kinase at serine residue position 5 (Ser 5) causes S100A1 to dissociate from ANXA1, demonstrating the complete regulatory process for ANXA1 in relation to its PLA<sub>2</sub> inhibition activity (Dorovkov *et al.*, 2004; Dorovkov *et al.*, 2011).

### **1.6.3.** ANXA1 in the inflammatory response

As ANXA1 is a glucocorticoid inducible anti-inflammatory protein, its antiinflammatory role has been extensively studied, but its mechanism of action in other cell functions is not well understood. ANXA1 KO mice exhibit lethality to LPS stimulation (10mg/kg) within 48 hours while wild-type mice do not (Damazo *et al.*, 2005). ANXA1 KO mice exhibited an increased expression of pro-inflammatory proteins, including COX-2 and cytosolic PLA<sub>2</sub> (Roviezzo *et al.*, 2002). In a peritonitis model, ANXA1 KO mice exhibit an exaggerated response, i.e. increased granulocyte migration and cytokine production (Damazo *et al.*, 2006). Moreover, the absence of ANXA1 in a lung fibrosis mouse model demonstrated pathophysiological relevance for endogenous ANXA1 in lung inflammation (Damazo *et al.*, 2011), but the mechanism behind the inflammatory activation is unclear. In a recent study, regulation of complement factor was demonstrated by ANXA1. Peritoneal lavage of ANXA1 KO mice exhibited more than fifteen-fold increase in C5a production, than its wild-type counterparts after treatment with zymosan (Dalli *et al.*, 2010).

ANXA1 is found in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from asthmatics. ANXA1 deficient mice exhibit airway hyperresponsiveness in an asthma model. Hence it is believed to be an important regulator in the development of allergic disease (Ng *et al.*, 2011).

In cystic fibrosis knockout mice (cftr -/-), ANXA1 was not detected in lungs and pancreas. Interestingly, cystic fibrosis patients also exhibit down-regulated ANXA1 levels, and is believed to contribute to worsening of clinical diagnosis during cystic fibrosis (Bensalem *et al.*, 2005). A recent study has found that reduced levels of ANXA1 is partially responsible for cystic fibrosis (Dalli *et al.*, 2010),but no mechanistic study was carried out to understand the relationship between cystic fibrosis and ANXA1 in detail.

### **1.6.4.** ANXA1 in signaling

ANXA1 is also believed to be involved in ubiquitination, as it was found to be a substrate for E6AP-mediated ubiquitination, which is known to mediate ubiquitylation and degradation of p53. Domain III of ANXA1 can interact with E6AP and induce its ubquitylation in a calcium-dependent manner (Shimoji *et al.*, 2009)

In RAW macrophages, ANXA1 can specifically modulate ERK signaling, i.e. overexpression of ANXA1 causes constitutive activation of ERK 1/2 kinase (Alldridge *et al.*, 1999).

# 1.6.5. ANXA1 regulates cell migration

Neutrophils bind to endothelium and exhibit reduced migration when exposed to zymosan, a glucan with repeating glucose units connected by  $\beta$ -1,3-glycosidic linkages prepared from yeast cell wall. ANXA1 N-terminal peptide (Ac2-26) and recombinant human ANXA1 protein induced detachment and migration of neutrophils that were exposed to zymosan (Lim *et al.*, 1998).

ANXA1 is also capable of directly affecting cell migration. In epithelial cells, the phosphorylation of ANXA1 is directed by LIM kinases upon induction by VEGF, causing enhanced cell migration (Côté *et al.*, 2010)

Another study proposes a more specific mechanism involving ANXA1. Overexpression of ANXA1 alone can abrogate the decrease in cell migration when microRNA miR-196a expression is increased. Moreover, the study suggests that ANXA1 regulates cell migration by establishing the formation of lamellipodia at the leading edge of the cell (Pin *et al.*, 2012).

### 1.6.6. Other interactions with ANXA1

Despite extensive research on the molecular functions of ANXA1, there are still several associations which are highlighted by recent research but no further investigations were done to date. While the interactions may have been left behind as it may not be feasible to research at this stage of scientific discovery, there remains an important trace for future discoveries and understanding of ANXA1 as a regulator of homeostasis.

Another unknown property of ANXA1 is its nuclear localization in cancer cells. In oral squamous cell carcinoma, ANXA1 is found to be predominantly translocated into the nucleus, upon exposure to human growth factor (HGF). Pre-treatment with LY294002 PI3K inhibitor can inhibit nuclear translocation of ANXA1 substantially (88.3% inhibition) (Lin *et al.*, 2008).

ANXA1 is also found to interact and bind to EGF receptors that are internalized (Radke *et al.*, 2004), but no examination relating ANXA1 to EGF-dependent pathways were done.

ANXA1 is also associated with pain function. It was highly upregulated (12-fold) during tissue injury and acute pain (Wang *et al.*, 2009). But no further study detailing this observation was carried out.

Another study has identified ANXA1 to be important in cerebral ischemia, where ANXA1 levels were upregulated in polymorphonuclear cells after stroke, and is believed to be a key indicator in the severity of cerebral ischemia (Joseph *et al.*, 2012). It was observed in this study that prolonged gaseous hypothermia downregulates ANXA1.

There are other lesser-known interacting partners of ANXA1 which are available in protein databases that documents large-scale protein-protein interaction studies. The interacting partners from the interaction studies have been compiled into a table with the help of major protein databases in the world (IntAct, GRID, UniProt). Proteins with no known function were not included into the table for a concise consolidation of Reliable information. molecular interaction techniques such as anti-bait immunoprecipitation (Ewing et al., 2007), Tandem Affinity Purification (Bouwmeester et al., 2004) or molecular sieving method (Bernhard et al., 2004) are used to establish interactions, and is processed downstream with the latest mass-spectrometry technique (LC-ESI-MS/MS). Hence they are not putative interacting partners; they are experimentally established ANXA1 interacting partners ready for direct research efforts. Some of the interactions are already definitive interacting partners for ANXA1, such as S100A11. This information will provide ready-access to a rich source of interaction studies ready for future experiments on ANXA1 (Appendix A).

#### **1.6.7.** Implication of ANXA1 in disease

ANXA1 is involved in diseases from diverse backgrounds, cancer in particular. ANXA1 is upregulated in breast cancer (Cao *et al.*, 2008), oral squamous cell carcinoma (Faria *et al.*, 2010), urinary bladder urothelial carcinoma (Li *et al.*, 2010) and down regulated in laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma (Silistino-Souza *et al.*, 2007), cervical cancer (Wang *et al.*, 2008), gastric cancer (Yu *et al.*, 2008), and prostate cancer (D'Acunto *et al.*, 2010). ANXA1 is also implicated in lung squamous cell carcinoma (Nan *et al.*, 2009), and treatment of leukaemia (Falini *et al.*, 2004).

ANXA1 is also involved in autoimmune diseases. Auto-antibodies for ANXA1 was detected in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (Hiraata *et al.*, 1981) Parkinson's disease (Knott *et al.*, 2000) and Crohn's disease (Beattie *et al.*, 1995). ANXA1 is highly expressed in T cells from rheumatoid arthritis patients (D'Acquisto *et*  *al.*, 2008) and was identified in lesions of multiple sclerosis plaque and correlated with the degree of disease (Probst-Cousin *et al.*, 2002).

### **1.6.8.** ANXA1 and neutrophils

Neutrophils (or PMN) are the most abundant circulating leukocytes in the human body. They are considered the first line of response and defence during pathological insult by bacteria and fungus. Reduced count of neutrophil during bacterial and fungal infection is known as neutropenia, and is considered a good indication of whether bacterial or fungal pathogenesis has already overwhelmed the host immune response. Neutrophils are armed with a myriad of antimicrobial agents such as reactive oxygen species (ROS) producing Neutrophil. The accumulation of neutrophils is one of the main pathological markers during lung injury or disease, chelators of vitamins and minerals, and also welds enzymes capable of degrading microbial proteins and cell wall components, but is detrimental to the neutrophil producing host tissues.

Immune-mediated damage is caused by uncontrolled or over-activated neutrophil activity, especially pronounced in autoimmune diseases (Németh and Mocsai, 2012). Neutrophils are major players during inflammation in lung injuries and insults (Opal, 2010; Da Cunha *et al.*, 2012). ANXA1 and neutrophil activity is closely related in many ways, and is most extensively studied among leukocytes. This is likely because ANXA1 constitutes close to 2-4% of protein found within the gelatinase granules in the cytoplasmic portion within neutrophils, and its expression is found to be lower in extravesated neutrophils (Perretti and Flower, 2004) They are also known to release ANXA1 along with gelatinase granules as exogenous ANXA1.

Ac2-26 plays a role in potent inhibition of PMN accumulation and degranulation process, and the release of free arachidonic acid, a biomarker of PMN activation (Perretti et al., 1995). Treatment of GC DEX in vivo inhibits PMN accumulation at inflammatory sites via IL-1 signaling, but this anti-inflammatory effect can be abrogated completely by immunization of mice with specific antibodies against ANXA1. While the full length protein or the anti-inflammatory Ac2-26 mimetic peptide does not activate Erk, calpain-1 dependent, self-secreted form of ANXA1 induces ERK 1/2 activation in neutrophils (Williams et al., 2010). Therefore the role of ANXA1 in neutrophils during inflammation may be dependent on the site of cleavage. ANXA1 can also act as a ligand to regulate neutrophil extravasation through binding with Formyl peptide receptors (FPR), which are widely known to be involved in binding and detecting bacterial N-formyl peptides (Walther et al., 2000). ANXA1 was also demonstrated to bind strongly to lipoxin A(4) receptor of the FPR family, and can halt polymorphonuclear neutrophil (PMN) diapedesis (Peretti et al., 2002). Monocytes express the receptors of all three FPR families which ANXA1 is capable of binding as an N-terminal peptide, which reduces the sensitivity of monocyte response to bacterial peptides (Ernst et al., 2004). ANXA1 also appears to play a critical role in PMNs to modulate responses towards hormones. Premenopausal women exhibit higher expression of ANXA1 on the surface of PMNs than males. It was found that ANXA1 dependent mechanism was responsible for the effect of estrogen on PMNs (Nadkarni et al., 2011).

Neutrophils are capable of developing membrane tubulovesicular extensions (TVE) which attaches to other cells and invading bacteria. The physiological significance of TVE has been recently understood to be bactericidal secretory in function.

Interestingly, disruption of TVE releases ANXA1. It is not known whether ANXA1 is part of the bactericidal mixture or is required for the formation of extensions such as TVEs (Galkina *et al.*, 2012).

### 1.6.9. ANXA1 in T-cells and dendritic cells

Dendritic cells (DC) and T-cells are the other key mediators of inflammation, which transfers innate immune response to the adaptive immune response. DCs are capable of priming a T-cell response, and T-cells are involved in producing a Th-1 or Th-2 response. Generally, a Th-1 response produces pro-inflammatory interferon-gamma while a Th-2 response produces IL-4, IL-5, IL-10 and IL-13, which results in an anti-inflammatory effect. Whether the immune response skews towards a pro- or anti-inflammatory response greatly depends on the signal of the immune cells. When T cells were exposed to exogenous ANXA1 peptide, it was found that ANXA1 is a novel regulator of T-cell receptor (TCR) signaling *via* FPRL-1, as it activates both ERK/MAPK and Akt/PKB pathways, causing an increase in T-cell proliferation, differentiation (CD25 and CD69 expression) and IL-2 production (D'Acquisto *et al.*, 2007).

ANXA1 KO bone marrow derived dendritic cells exhibit an increased number of  $CD11c^+$  cells with high levels of maturation markers such as CD40, CD54 and CD80. The dendritic cells derived from ANXA1 KO mice also lost some of its antigen uptake capacity compared to the wild-type derived dendritic cells (Huggins *et al.*, 2009). ANXA1 KO derived dendritic cells exhibit a downregulation of maturation markers, decreased migratory activity *in vivo*, and decreased pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1  $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-12 production when compared to wild-type derived dendritic cells

upon treatment with LPS. Furthermore, ANXA1 KO derived dendritic cells also exhibit impaired NF-κB/DNA binding activity, and substantially decreased ERK 1/2 and Akt pathway activation after treatment with LPS compared to wild-type derived dendritic cells. These results point to the importance of ANXA1 expression in the function of dendritic cells, and may indicate the relevance of ANXA1 in the modulation of adaptive immune response during pathogen-induced T-cell-driven immune diseases.

### **1.6.10.** ANXA1 and macrophages

ANXA1 is expressed by different types of tissue-specific macrophages such as alveolar macrophages (Ambrose *et al.*, 1992), peritoneal macrophages (Peers *et al.*, 1993), synovial macrophages (Yang *et al.*, 1998) and microglial cells (Minghetti *et al.*, 1999). Macrophages express ANXA1 regardless of the tissue-specific nature of macrophages suggesting that ANXA1 plays a general role in macrophages and its expression is not a tissue-type specific phenotype (Kamal *et al.*, 2005).

Exogenous application of ANXA1 inhibits proliferation in RAW macrophage cells (Alldridge *et al.*, 1999). Clones with increased ANXA1 levels exhibit constitutive activation of MAPK/ERK pathway (Mansour *et al.*, 1994). p38 and JNK activities remained unchanged. ANXA1 may initiate such control through association with upstream adaptor protein Grb 2. When a membrane-permeable, plasmid-based expression of ANXA1 named Tat-ANX1 is expressed in Raw 264.7 cells, inflammatory cytokine and enzyme production are inhibited, and was found to be blocking both NF- $\kappa$ B and MAPK pathways (Lee *et al.*, 2011). When ANXA1 expression is upregulated in RAW 264.7 macrophages and treated with LPS, upregulation of iNOS protein and activity was

observed (Smyth *et al.*, 2006). This indicates that ANXA1 can modulate NO levels during LPS treatment. Nitric oxide generation by macrophages is part of the innate immune system, and is triggered by TLR agonists such as LPS. Over-expression of inducible nitric oxide gene (iNOS) occurs early in sepsis (Lange *et al.*, 2010; Yin *et al.*, 2007). When ANXA1 is applied exogenously to J774 murine macrophages, nitric oxide generation by macrophages was inhibited, indicating that ANXA1 may play a role in nitric oxide synthesis (Ferlazzo *et al.*, 2003). Moroever, exogenous application of ANXA1 can also increase IL-10 mRNA levels while IL-12 mRNA levels decrease.

ANXA1 and its peptide derivatives can also affect macrophage phagocytosis of apoptotic cells (Scannell *et al.*, 2007), such as that of apoptotic neutrophils. Specifically, in ANXA1 KO macrophages, phagocytosis of zymosan, *Neisseria meningitides* or sheep red blood cells is significantly impaired when compared to wild-type macrophages with a concordant increase in IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  production (Yona *et al.*, 2006).

In response to LPS administration, ANXA1 KO bone marrow derived macrophages exhibit greater IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  production (Yang *et al.*, 2009). This presents a direct association between macrophage cytokine production and ANXA1 levels. ANXA1 KO macrophages produce more pro-inflammatory cytokines. Consistent with this result, an *in vivo* study which examined peritoneal, mesenteric and alveolar macrophages using experimental endotoxemia in ANXA1 KO mice also exhibited increased IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  production in blood serum after 24 hours when compared to wild-type mice (Damazo *et al.*, 2005).

The increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$  and ERK activation) in ANXA1 KO macrophages is in direct contrast to decreased pro-

inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$  and ERK activation) in ANXA1 KO dendritic cells. Moreover, several studies mentioned earlier have demonstrated that decreased ANXA1 levels cause impaired phagocytic activity. It is unclear how ANXA1 modulates proinflammatory activity when exposed to TLR agonists.

Therefore the aims of this PhD thesis are:

1. To determine the TLR signaling mechanism which ANXA1 modulates when exposed to TLR agonists using peritoneal macrophages derived from mice

2. To characterise immune response of ANXA1 KO mice and monocyte derived macrophages after TLR agonist activation.

3. To identify the key components in TLR signaling mechanism which ANXA1 regulates directly, and propose an overarching theme that characterises macrophages in ANXA1 KO mice.

# CHAPTER II: MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 2.1 Materials

### 2.1.1. Animals

All experimental procedures were approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of National University of Singapore and carried out in accordance with established International Guiding Principles for Animal Research and with the guidelines of the National Advisory Committee for Laboratory Animal Research (NACLAR), Singapore.Male and female BALB/c mice (8 to 12 weeks-old) were fed with standard laboratory chow and water *ad libitum*. The protocol (Protocol number 011/08) was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of the National University of Singapore.

# 2.1.2. Media and buffers

### 2.1.2.1. PBS

PBS buffer was commercially obtained from 1st base (Singapore) as a 10X stock, ultrapure grade. The 10X stock consists of 137mM NaCl, 2.7mM KCl and 10mM phosphate buffer. The stock was diluted 9 parts with sterile water to give 1X PBS. pH of the buffer was 7.4.

### 2.1.2.2. FACS buffer

FACS buffer consists of 1X PBS supplemented with 1% FBS and 5mM EDTA. 0.05% sodium azide was added as a preservative to permit use

and storage under nonsterile conditions. The pH of the buffer was adjusted to 7.4.

# 2.1.2.3. Red Blood Cell (RBC) Lysis Buffer

The following components were added to make a 10X RBC lysis stock solution

a) Ammonium Chloride 8.3g

b) Sodium Bicarbonate 0.84g

c) EDTA 0.03g

The components were dissolved in water, the pH adjusted to 7.4, filter sterilised and made up to 100ml. For use as a 1X solution, the 10X stock solution was diluted with water.

# 2.1.2.4. Wash buffer for Western Blotting (TBST)

Wash buffer for Western Blotting was 1X Tris-Buffered Saline (TBS) with 0.5% v/v Tween-20, pH adjusted to 7.2 to 7.4.

### 2.1.2.5. Buffer for ELISA

Wash buffer for ELISA was 1X PBS with 0.5% v/v Tween-20, pH adjusted to 7.2 to 7.4. Blocking buffer was 1X PBS with 1% w/v BSA, unless or otherwise stated by the ELISA kit.

#### **2.1.2.6.** Complete DMEM for cell culture

Complete DMEM was prepared using Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium with L-Glutamine supplemented with 10% v/v FBS, heat inactivated for 30 mins at 55°C.

### 2.1.2.7. Complete DMEM for Bone Marrow Macrophages

Complete DMEM was prepared using Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium supplemented with 10% v/v FBS, heat inactivated for 30 mins at 55°C, 20% v/v L929 conditioned media, and 50 $\mu$ M of  $\beta$ -Mercaptotethanol with L-Glutamine

# 2.1.2.8. L929 Conditioned Media

L929 cells are maintained in T-75 filter cap flasks in DMEM + 1% penstrep + 10% FBS at 7.5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator. The FBS used was the same as the one used to cultivate bone marrow derived macrophages.

Cells were split from 1 T-75 flask into 5 T-75 flasks when it was more than 90% confluent, using trypsin. The culture was incubated in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator overnight, until suitable confluency was reached. When the 5 T-75 flasks were more than 90% confluent, the cells trypsinised, and seeded equally into 13 T-175 flasks, each with 50 ml of DMEM media with 10% FBS. When these 13 T-175 flasks were also confluent the cells were incubated for an additional two days to condition the media. The supernatant of all 13 T-175 flaskswere filtered to remove all trace of cells from the supernatant. The filtered supernatant was then aliquoted into 50 ml Falcon tubes and stored in -20 °C freezer until use.

# 2.1.3. Reagents

Reagent	Company	Reagent Type
Phosphate buffer saline	1st Base (Singapore)	Buffer
(PBS)		
Tris-buffered saline (TBS)	1st Base (Singapore)	Buffer
Fetal bovine serum (FBS)	Hyclone (Logan UT	Cell culture additive
	USA)	
L- glutamine	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	Cell culture additive
5	Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	
Penicillin-streptomycin	Gibco <sup>®</sup> -Invitrogen	Cell culture additive
(Pen-strep)	(Carksbad, CA,	
	U.S.A.)	
Sodium pyruvate	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	Cell culture additive
	Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	
Dulbecco's Modified	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	Cell culture media
Eagle's Medium (DMEM)	Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	
Trypsin	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	Cell detachment
	Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	
Ethylenediaminetetraacetic	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	Chelating agent
acid (EDTA)	Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	
Bovine serum albumin	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	Confocal blocking
(BSA)	Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	buffer
Triton-X		Detergent
Tween-20		Detergent
Thioglycollate broth, 4%	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	Elicitation of
	Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	macrophages for
		peritoneal lavage
Formalin solution. neutral	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	Fixative
buffered, 10%	Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	
4',6-diamidino-2-	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	Florescent probe
phenylindole (DAPI)	Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	-
1M Nitrile Standard (0.1M	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	Griess reagent
sodium nitrite in water)	Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	
NED Solution (0.1% N-1-	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	Griess reagent
napthylethylenediamine	Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	
dihydrochloride in water)		
Sulfanilamide Solution	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	Griess reagent
(1% sulfanilamide in 5%	Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	
phosphoric		
acid)		
BAY-11 (BAY-11-7082)	Cayman Chemicals	Inhibitor drug

The following reagents were used in this study:

	(Ann Arbor, MI, U.S.A.)	
ProLong <sup>®</sup> Gold Antifade	Invitrogen (Carksbad,	Mounting media for
Reagent	CA, U.S.A.)	confocal microscopy
Prolong Gold Antifade	Molecular Probes,	Mounting media for
Reagent	Invitrogen (Carksbad,	microscopy
	CA, U.S.A.)	15
100 bp DNA ladder	Promega (Fitchburg,	PCR product
-	WI, U.S.A)	quantification reagent
25 mM MgCl2	Promega (Fitchburg,	PCR product
	WI, U.S.A)	quantification reagent
GoTaq® Flexi DNA	Promega (Fitchburg,	PCR product
Polymerase	WI, U.S.A)	quantification reagent
GoTaq® Flexi DNA	Promega (Fitchburg,	PCR product
Polymerase Buffer	WI, U.S.A)	quantification reagent
15-deoxy-∆12,14-	Cayman Chemicals	PPAR-γ agonist
Prostaglandin J2 (PGJ2)	(Ann Arbor, MI,	
	U.S.A.)	
Troglitazone	Selleck Chemicals	PPAR-γ agonist
<u>Curve</u>	(Houston, TX, U.S.A.)	
GW9662	Cayman Chemicals	PPAR-γ antagonist
	(Ann Arbor, MI,	
	U.S.A.	
PCR Primers (Real-time	Ist Base (Singapore)	Primer DNA
and RT-PCR)	D' D 1/II 1	D ( 1
Bradford protein assay dye	BIO-Kad (Hercules,	Protein sample
reagent	CA, U.S.A.)	quantification
DCA Stondarda	Thomas Coiontifia	Dustain somenla
BSA Standards	Thermo-Scientific	Protein sample
BSA Standards	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.)	Protein sample quantification
BSA Standards SYBR Green Master Mix	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR
BSA Standards SYBR Green Master Mix	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, U.S.A.)	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR reagent
BSA Standards SYBR Green Master Mix	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, U.S.A.) Merck (Whitehouse	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR reagent Reducing agent
BSA Standards SYBR Green Master Mix β-Mercaptotethanol	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, U.S.A.) Merck (Whitehouse Station NL U.S.A.)	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR reagent Reducing agent
BSA Standards SYBR Green Master Mix β-Mercaptotethanol	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, U.S.A.) Merck (Whitehouse Station, NJ, U.S.A.) Promega (Fitchburg	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR reagent Reducing agent Reverse transcription
BSA Standards SYBR Green Master Mix β-Mercaptotethanol 10mM dNTP mix	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, U.S.A.) Merck (Whitehouse Station, NJ, U.S.A.) Promega (Fitchburg, WI U S A)	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR reagent Reducing agent Reverse transcription reagent
BSA Standards SYBR Green Master Mix β-Mercaptotethanol 10mM dNTP mix	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, U.S.A.) Merck (Whitehouse Station, NJ, U.S.A.) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A)	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR reagent Reducing agent Reverse transcription reagent
BSA Standards SYBR Green Master Mix β-Mercaptotethanol 10mM dNTP mix	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, U.S.A.) Merck (Whitehouse Station, NJ, U.S.A.) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A)	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR reagent Reducing agent Reverse transcription reagent
BSA Standards SYBR Green Master Mix β-Mercaptotethanol 10mM dNTP mix 5X M-MLV reverse	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, U.S.A.) Merck (Whitehouse Station, NJ, U.S.A.) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A)	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR reagent Reducing agent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription
BSA Standards SYBR Green Master Mix β-Mercaptotethanol 10mM dNTP mix 5X M-MLV reverse transcriptase buffer	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, U.S.A.) Merck (Whitehouse Station, NJ, U.S.A.) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A)	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR reagent Reducing agent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent
BSA Standards   SYBR Green Master Mix   β-Mercaptotethanol   10mM dNTP mix   5X M-MLV reverse   transcriptase buffer   M-MLV reverse   transcriptase onzume	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, U.S.A.) Merck (Whitehouse Station, NJ, U.S.A.) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A)	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR reagent Reducing agent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription
BSA Standards SYBR Green Master Mix β-Mercaptotethanol 10mM dNTP mix 5X M-MLV reverse transcriptase buffer M-MLV reverse transcriptase enzyme Oligo dT	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, U.S.A.) Merck (Whitehouse Station, NJ, U.S.A.) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A)	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR reagent Reducing agent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription
BSA Standards   SYBR Green Master Mix   β-Mercaptotethanol   10mM dNTP mix   5X M-MLV reverse   transcriptase buffer   M-MLV reverse   transcriptase enzyme   Oligo dT	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, U.S.A.) Merck (Whitehouse Station, NJ, U.S.A.) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A)	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR reagent Reducing agent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent
BSA Standards SYBR Green Master Mix β-Mercaptotethanol 10mM dNTP mix 5X M-MLV reverse transcriptase buffer M-MLV reverse transcriptase enzyme Oligo dT RNasin Plus RNase	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, U.S.A.) Merck (Whitehouse Station, NJ, U.S.A.) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A)	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR reagent Reducing agent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription
BSA Standards SYBR Green Master Mix β-Mercaptotethanol 10mM dNTP mix 5X M-MLV reverse transcriptase buffer M-MLV reverse transcriptase enzyme Oligo dT RNasin Plus RNase inhibitor	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, U.S.A.) Merck (Whitehouse Station, NJ, U.S.A.) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A)	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR reagent Reducing agent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent
BSA Standards SYBR Green Master Mix β-Mercaptotethanol 10mM dNTP mix 5X M-MLV reverse transcriptase buffer M-MLV reverse transcriptase enzyme Oligo dT RNasin Plus RNase inhibitor Chloroform	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, U.S.A.) Merck (Whitehouse Station, NJ, U.S.A.) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR reagent Reducing agent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription
BSA Standards SYBR Green Master Mix β-Mercaptotethanol 10mM dNTP mix 5X M-MLV reverse transcriptase buffer M-MLV reverse transcriptase enzyme Oligo dT RNasin Plus RNase inhibitor Chloroform	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, U.S.A.) Merck (Whitehouse Station, NJ, U.S.A.) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Sigma-Aldrich Co (St. Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR reagent Reducing agent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription
BSA Standards SYBR Green Master Mix β-Mercaptotethanol 10mM dNTP mix 5X M-MLV reverse transcriptase buffer M-MLV reverse transcriptase enzyme Oligo dT RNasin Plus RNase inhibitor Chloroform Ethanol	Thermo-Scientific (Hudson, NH, U.S.A.) Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, U.S.A.) Merck (Whitehouse Station, NJ, U.S.A.) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Promega (Fitchburg, WI, U.S.A) Sigma-Aldrich Co (St. Louis, MO, U.S.A.) Merck (Whitehouse	Protein sample quantification Real-time PCR reagent Reducing agent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription reagent Reverse transcription

Isopropanol	QRëc (New Zealand)	RNA extraction
TRIZOL®	Invitrogen (Carksbad,	RNA extraction
	CA, U.S.A.)	
Ammonium Chloride	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	Salt
	Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	
Sodium Bicarbonate	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	Salt
	Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	
Methanol	Merck (Whitehouse	Solvent
	Station, NJ)	
CpG 1826	InvivoGen (San Diego,	TLR agonist
oligodeoxynucleotide	CA, U.S.A.)	
Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	TLR agonist
	Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	
Poly (I:C)	InvivoGen (San	TLR agonist
	Diego, CA, U.S.A.)	
Zymosan	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	TLR agonist
	Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	
Zymosan A	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.	TLR agonist
Saccharomyces cerevisiae	Louis, MO, U.S.A.)	
Nitrocellulose membranes	Bio-Rad (Hercules,	Western blotting
	CA, U.S.A.)	_
SuperSignal West	Thermo-Scientific	Western blotting
Pico Chemiluminescent	(Hudson, NH, U.S.A.)	
Substrate		
CL-XPosure Film	Thermo-Scientific	X-ray film for
	(Hudson, NH, U.S.A.)	Western Blotting

Table 1: List of reagents used in this study.

Note: 15-deoxy- $\Delta$ 12,14-Prostaglandin J2 (PGJ<sub>2</sub>) and Troglitazone were kindly provided by Dr Alan Premkumar's lab.

# 2.1.4. Antibodies

The following antibodies were used in this study:

Name of antibody	Used for	Company
Rabbit anti- IRF-3	Immunofluorescence	Santa Cruz
	staining for confocal	Biotechnology Inc.
	studies	(Santa Cruz, CA,
		U.S.A.)
Rabbit anti- NF-ĸB	Immunofluorescence	Cell Signaling

	staining for confocal	Techonlogy Inc
	studies	(Danvers, MA, U.S.A)
Rabbit anti- STAT-1	Western Blotting	Cell Signaling
		Techonlogy Inc
		(Danvers, MA, U.S.A)
Rabbit anti- phospho	Western Blotting	Cell Signaling
STAT-1 (Tyr701)		Techonlogy Inc
		(Danvers, MA, U.S.A)
Rabbit anti-RIG-I	Immunofluorescence	Santa Cruz
	staining for Duolink®	Biotechnology Inc.
		(Santa Cruz, CA,
		U.S.A.)
Anti-Rabbit IgG (whole	Western Blotting	Sigma-Aldrich Co (St.
molecule)–Peroxidase		Louis, MO, U.S.A.)
antibody produced in		
goat		
Alexaflor 488 anti- rabbit	Immunofluorescence	Invitrogen
IgG	staining for confocal	(Carksbad, CA, U.S.A.)
	studies	
Alexaflor 633 anti- rabbit	Immunofluorescence	Invitrogen
IgG	staining for confocal	(Carksbad, CA, U.S.A.)
	studies	

Table 2: List of antibodies used in this study.

# 2.1.5. ELISA kits

The following ELISA kits were used in this study:

Name of ELISA kit	Cross-reactivity	Company
Murine IL-12 Standard	Mouse IL-12 p40,	Peprotech Inc.
ELISA Development Kit	IL-23 p40, IL-12 p70	(Rocky Hill, NJ, U.S.A)
Mouse TNF-α ELISA	No significant cross-	Ebioscience Inc.
Ready-Set-Go!®	reactivity, including	(San Diego, CA, U.S.A)
	species cross-	
	reactivity	
Mouse IFN-α ELISA	No significant cross-	Ebioscience Inc.
Ready-Set-Go!®	reactivity, including	(San Diego, CA, U.S.A)
	species cross-	
	reactivity	
Mouse IFN-β ELISA	No significant cross-	Ebioscience Inc.
Ready-Set-Go!®	reactivity, including	(San Diego, CA, U.S.A)
	species cross-	
	reactivity	
Mouse IFN-γ ELISA	No significant cross-	Ebioscience Inc.
Ready-Set-Go!®	reactivity, including	(San Diego, CA, U.S.A)
	species cross-	

	reactivity	
Mouse IL-6 ELISA	Rat IL-6	BioLegend, Inc.
MAX <sup>™</sup> Standard		(San Diego, CA, U.S.A)
Quantikine ® ELISA	No significant cross-	R&D Systems
Mouse CXCL10/IP-10	reactivity, including	(Minneapolis, MN,
Immunoassay	species cross-	U.S.A)
	reactivity	

Table 3: List of ELISA kits used for this study

# 2.1.6. Primers

The following primers were used in this study:

Primer Name	Sequence	Company
Mouse IL-6	5'-GGG ACT GAT GCT GGT GAC	1 <sup>st</sup> Base
(Forward)	AA-3'	(Singapore)
Mouse IL-6	5'-TCC ACG ATT TCC CAG AGA	1 <sup>st</sup> Base
(Reverse)	ACA-3'	(Singapore)
Mouse IL-12	5'-GGA AGC ACG GCA GCA GAA	1 <sup>st</sup> Base
p40	TA-3'	(Singapore)
(Forward)		
Mouse IL-12	5'-AAC TTG AGG GAG AAG TAG	1 <sup>st</sup> Base
p40	GAA TGG-3'	(Singapore)
(Reverse)		
Mouse β-	5'-CTT AGG AA TGC CTC TGG GAG	1 <sup>st</sup> Base
actin	GTC C-3'	(Singapore)
(Forward)		
Mouse β-	5'-GCA GAC GCG AGG AAG GAG-3'	1 <sup>st</sup> Base
actin		(Singapore)
(Reverse)		
Mouse	5'-GGC CCA TCT GTT CAT AGT CT-	1 <sup>st</sup> Base
FIZZ1	3'	(Singapore)
(Forward)		
Mouse	5'-CCC AGG ATG CCA ACT TTG	1 <sup>st</sup> Base
FIZZ1	AA-3'	(Singapore)
(Reverse)		
Mouse	5'-GCT GTC TTC CCA AGA GTT	1 <sup>st</sup> Base
Arginase-1	GGG-3'	(Singapore)
(Forward)		
Mouse	5'-ATG GAA GAG ACC TTC AGC	1 <sup>st</sup> Base
Arginase-1	TAC-3'	(Singapore)
(Reverse)		
Mouse TNF-	5'-GGC AAG GAT GAG CCT TTT	1 <sup>st</sup> Base
α (Forward)	AGG-3'	(Singapore)
Mouse TNF-	5'-TTG GTT TGG GAG GAA AGG G-	1 <sup>st</sup> Base

α (Reverse)	3'	(Singapore)
Mouse IP-10	5'-GGA CGG TCC GCT GCA A-3'	1 <sup>st</sup> Base
(Forward)		(Singapore)
Mouse IP-10	5'-GCT TCC CTA TGG CCC TCA TT-	1 <sup>st</sup> Base
(Reverse)	3'	(Singapore)

Table 4: List of primers used in this study

# 2.2. Methods

# 2.2.1. Animal Derived Cell Techniques

### 2.2.1.1 Macrophage Recruitment using Thioglycollate

Mice were injected with 3 ml of 4% thioglycollate broth directly into the intraperitoneal cavity using a 27 gauge needle. The mice were harvested after three days for macrophages in peritoneal cavity by peritoneal lavage.

#### **2.2.1.2.** Peritoneal lavage

Peritoneal lavage was done on mice with the intent of flushing out peritoneal fluid from the mice. Euthanized mice were first sterilized in a beaker with 70% ethanol, then placed in the tissue culture hood immediately. Small incision was made to expose intraperitoneal cavity. Ice cold 1X PBS (5 ml) was injected into the mouse peritoneal cavity in the lower abdominal area to wash (lavage) the intraperitoneal cavity with PBS. Scissor was used to create a small opening in the peritoneal cavity for the extraction of peritoneal fluid using sterile pasteur pipettes. The cell suspension collected was then pooled with three other mice with the same genotype and experimental conditions before cell count was done. For peritoneal macrophages cell count, cells were first plated

for at least 4 h and only adherent cells were considered peritoneal macrophages.

# 2.2.1.3. Splenic B Cell isolation

Splenic cells were obtained by mashing the spleens over 70uM mesh filters . The single cell suspension obtained spun at 3,000 rpm for 5 min and the cell pellet was resuspended at a concentration of  $1 \times 10^8$  cells/ml. EasySep Mouse B Cell Enrichment Kit (Stemcell Technologies, Vancouver, B.C.) was used thereafter, according to manufacturer's protocol.

### 2.2.1.4 Bone Marrow Derived Macrophages

8-12 week old mice are euthanized and hind limbs (femur and tibia) were removed and placed into a small petri dish with sterile tweezers. Muscles attached to bones were removed using a guaze and the bones were transferred to a second petri dish containing 70% ethanol for one minute and then transferred to a third petri dish containing DMEM media. The two ends of each bones were cut just off at the joint to expose the bone marrow while minimizing loss. The bone marrow was flushed out into a 50 ml Falcon tube by inserting a 26-gauge needle attached to a 5 ml syringe filled with DMEM media at the ends of the cut bone. Flushing was done until the bone turns from red to white, indicating that all the marrow has been expelled. The collected bone marrow suspended in DMEM media was then passed through a 70 um cell strainer (BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, U.S.A.), and then 300g for 10mins at 4degrees Cell pellet collected was then resuspended in 1 ml of red blood cell lysis buffer and incubated on ice for 5 min, and then diluted with

approximately 6 ml of DMEM media before centrifuging at 2,000 rpm for 10 min. The collected cell pellet was white as there werr no red blood cells present in the cell pellet. The cells are then counted and seeded onto either 24-well plate or 10 cm plate with L929 conditioned media (L cell media), and incubated for seven days. In between the seven days, on the third day, an additional and equivolume of L929 conditioned media was added to the tissue culture plate. On the seventh day of incubation, the cells are ready for experiment after 1X wash with plain DMEM media. 70% of the Cells derived from this technique have been shown to be F4/80<sup>+</sup>, which is a macrophage specific surface marker as evaluated by flow cytometry, on the seventh day.

# 2.2.3. Cell culture techniques

### 2.2.3.1. Cell culture

All cell cultures were done in 37  $^{\circ}$ C incubator with CO<sub>2</sub> injection maintained at 5% in a CO<sub>2</sub> cell culture incubator (Thermo Scientific Steri-Cycle® CO2 incubator Model 381). Cells were observed for changes in morphology, adhesion to cell culture surface and confluency every day.

# 2.2.3.2. Trypsinization

Flask or 10 cm plates with strongly adherent cells are ideal for trypsinization. First, supernatant was aspirated and the surface (flask or 10 cm plate) was washed once with 1X PBS. Thereafter, 1~3ml of 1X trypsin was added to the surface of adherent cells. The surface (flask or 10 cm plate) was then placed in 37 °C incubator for one min, and then tapped lightly on the side of the surface to dislodge the cells from surface. Full media (e.g. DMEM with

10% FBS added) was added at 1:1 volume of trypsin to neutralize trypsinization. Cells are then spun down at 3000 rpm for 5 mins and supernatant was removed before suspending the pellet with the appropriate media for the next batch of cell culture.

# 2.2.4. Bacterial co-culture studies

Cells were co-cultured with log-phase culture of *E. coli* at the required bacteria-to-cell ratio in antibiotics-free medium using optical densitometry. Mid-log phase bacteria were prepared by inoculating 250  $\mu$ l overnight culture into 5 ml Luria-Bertani (LB) broth and allowed to grow for 2 h with constant agitation. Bacteria and cells were both incubated for 24 hours and supernatant was recovered by filtering through 0.25 um sterile filters.

### 2.2.5. Cell stimulation

TLR agonists used in the experiments and their concentrations, unless stated otherwise are: LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml), CpG 1826 (1 uM), poly I:C (50 ug/ml). Treatment condition for macrophage polarization to M1 (20 ng/ml of IL-4 with 100 ng/ml of LPS), were based on macrophage polarization studies done by Mantovani *et al.*, 2004. Macrophages were polarized for at least 18 hours before treatment with LPS or IFN- $\gamma$ .

### 2.2.6. Microscopy

### **2.2.6.1.** Confocal microscopy

Cells for confocal study were seeded on round coverslips placed within wells of a 24-well plate. After completion of experimental treatment, wells containing cells adherent on round coverslips were washed twice with 1X PBS and suspended in 200 ul of 10% neutral buffered formalin at 4°C for 30 min. Staining of samples for confocal were done in the following manner:

On a new 24 well tissue culture plate, 500 ul of 1X PBS was added onto the same number of wells as the number of coverslips to stain for confocal, and one coverslip was placed into one well with 500 ul 1X PBS. The 1X PBS was aspirated using a glass micropipette attached to a vacuum pump and 50 mM of ammonium chloride solution made with 1X PBS was added onto each well, and shaken in belly shaker for 2 min at 90 rpm. Thereafter the well was washed with 1X PBS twice for 2 min to remove any trace of ammonium chloride. Next, the sample was placed in 1X PBS solution with 0.5% Triton-X, and shaken in belly shaker for 30 min at 90 rpm.

The solution was then aspirated and replaced with 500 ul of blocking buffer (2% BSA, 2% FBS in 1X PBS, passed through 20µm sterile filter) and placed on belly shaker for 30 min at 90 rpm. The blocking buffer was aspirated and primary antibody (1:200 dilution in blocking buffer) was added on the coverslip by taking out the coverslip and invert it over the cover of 24 well plate dropped with 40 ul of primary antibody. The 24 well plate cover was wrapped in aluminium foil and placed into a 37°C incubator for 45 min. Next, the coverslips are inverted and placed back into the 24-well plate well as

51

before, into 500 ul of 1X PBS with 0.2% Trion-X, and placed on a belly shaker for 2 min at 90 rpm to wash. The wash was repeated twice. The coverslips are again taken out, inverted onto a 40 ul drop of secondary antibody (1:1000 dilution in blocking buffer) on a clean spot of 24 well plate cover. It was then wrapped in aluminium foil and incubated at room temperature on a belly shaker for 45 min at 90 rpm.

The coverslips are again inverted and placed back into the 24-well plate well as before, into 500ul of 1X PBS with 0.2% Trion-X, and placed on a belly shaker for 2 min at 90 rpm to wash. Lastly, 500ul of DAPI dissolved in 100% methanol to a final concentration of 0.5ug/ml was added for 1 min, then washed with 1X PBS twice for 2 min on belly shaker at 90 rpm to remove any trace of excess DAPI and methanol. The coverslips are then removed, mounted onto glass slides using Prolong Gold Antifade Reagent (Molecular Probes, Invitrogen, USA) and viewed using using Leica TCS SP5 confocal microscope (Leica Microsystems GmbH, Germany). Images were processed using Leica confocal LAS AF software (Leica Microsystems GmbH, Germany).

### 2.2.6.2. Fluorescence microscopy

All slides were mounted in Prolong Gold Antifade Reagent (Molecular Probes, Invitrogen, USA) and viewed using Carl Zeiss Axio imager.Z1 fluorescent microscope (Axiocam HRM camera; Carl Zeiss Micro Imaging, Germany). Images were processed using Axiovision Rel 4.8 software (Carl Zeiss Micro Imaging, Germany).

### 2.2.7. Protein and Molecular Biology Techniques

### 2.2.7.1. Bradford assay

 $5 \ \mu$ l of protein albumin standards with known protein concentrations or 1  $\mu$ l of protein sample was added to 150  $\mu$ l 1X Bradford Assay Solution. Absorbance was measured at a wavelength of 595 nm and the absorbance values of the protein standards were plotted to obtain a standard curve. Absorbance of protein samples were then read from the standard curve to determine the amount of protein within the sample.

### 2.2.7.2. Western Blotting

Treated cells were harvested at indicated times, washed once in icecold PBS and scraped off the culture plates in a lysis buffer containing 75mM NaCl, 10mM Tris (HCl), 1mM EDTA, 0.5% NP40 and protease inhibitor cocktail (Pierce Biotechnology). Cells were then incubated on ice for 15 minutes before being centrifuged at 14000 rpm for 15 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was collected and protein concentration was determined *by* Bradford Assay. 50 µg of protein per sample was loaded onto 15% SDS-PAGE gel placed at a phased voltage of 75V for 15 min and 125 V for 60 min using a gel electrophoresis cell (Mini-PROTEAN® Tetra Cell, Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, U.S.A.). The proteins were then transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes using a wet transfer apparatus (Criterion Blotter, Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, U.S.A.).

Following transfer, the membranes were washed with distilled water to remove traces of transfer buffer and then air-dried for several hours to allow

53

for firm binding of proteins to membranes. The membranes were rewetted with 1X TBS and blocked with 5% w/v milk proteins in 1X wash buffer for western blot (TBST) for 1 hr. Membranes were then washed for 15 min with 1X TBST before incubation with the appropriate primary antibody (see table below) at either 37°C for 1 h or 4°C overnight. Membranes were next washed thrice with 1X TBST for a total of 30 min before incubation with secondary antibodies (see table below) conjugated to horseradish peroxidase for 1 hr (1:5000 dilution). Three washes lasting 10 minutes each were carried out prior to the addition of the SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate. Blots were then exposed to CL-XPosure X-ray films until bands were clearly seen after film development.

To detect phosphorylated proteins, the same blots were probed with phospho-specific antibodies, stripped and reprobed with antibodies against total proteins. All blots were incubated with mouse antibodies against  $\beta$ -actin to confirm equal protein loading.

### 2.2.7.3. RNA extraction

For RT-PCR analysis of tissue chemokine mRNA expression, total RNA was extracted from the pancreas and lungs using the TRIzol reagent following the manufacturer's instructions with some modifications. Briefly, pancreas and lung tissues were quickly harvested and homogenized in TRIzol reagent. Chloroform (200ul/ml of TRIzol) was then added to the homogenates, and samples were shaken, incubated for 5 min at 4 °C and centrifuged for 15 min at 12,000 g at 4°C. The aqueous phase was separated and RNA was precipitated by adding isopropyl alcohol. After RNA was pelleted by
centrifugation (12,000 g for 10 min at 4°C), the pellet was washed twice in 70% ethanol, air-dried and dissolved in RNase-free water. RNA was quantitated spectrophotometrically by measuring absorbance at 260 nm (A260). The purity of RNA was assessed by an A260/A280 ratio between 1.6 and 2.0.

#### 2.2.7.4. **RT-PCR**

Component

Total RNA (1  $\mu$ g) was used for cDNA synthesis through reverse transcription. Primer-cDNA mix (see table below) was incubated at 70 °C for 5 min and then on ice for 1 min. Master mix made with the following, for each reaction: 2  $\mu$ l of 5x M-MLV reverse transcriptase buffer, 4  $\mu$ l of 25mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.125  $\mu$ l of RNasin Plus RNase inhibitor and 1  $\mu$ l of M-MLV reverse transcriptase enzyme (200 reaction units). Add the reaction mixture to the RNA/primer mixture, mix briefly, and then place at room temperature for 2 min. The tubes are then incubated at 42 °C for 50 min and then heat inactivate the reverse transcriptase at 70 °C for 10 min, and then chill on ice. The final product (1st strand cDNA) was used immediately or stored at -20 °C for 15 min. For the subsequent PCR amplifcation, the PCR amplification mix containing the following reagents are added:

First strand cDNA reaction	1
10 mM dNTP mix	1
25 mM MgCl <sub>2</sub>	2
5X GoTaq® Flexi DNA Polymerase Buffer	5
GoTaq® Flexi DNA Polymerase	11

Amount (µl)

Reverse Primer	1
DEPC Water	28
Total	50

#### 2.2.7.5. Realtime PCR

Real time PCR was performed on an ABI7500 Real-time PCR system using SYBR Green (Applied Biosystems, USA). The relative quantities of target gene expression were quantified by comparative CT method and normalised to GAPDH.

#### 2.2.8. Analysis techniques

#### 2.2.8.1. Flow cytometry

Cells for FACS staining were transferred into FACS tube and pelleted by centrifugation at 400 g for 5 mins. Tubes were inverted to discard the supernatant and were further blotted on tissue paper to remove the excess supernatant that collected near the edge of the tube after inversion. The cell pellet was then disrupted by raking on tube racks. Fc Block (2.4G2) was added at 0.2  $\mu$ g per million cells and incubated for 5 mins at 4°C to prevent nonspecific binding of antibodies to Fc receptors. Antibodies directly conjugated to fluorophores were added to the cells at 0.02  $\mu$ g per million cells and incubated in the dark at 4°C for 30 mins. After incubation, cells were washed twice with at least 1 ml of FACS buffer to remove unbound antibodies. Cells were resuspended in 350 µl of FACS buffer if analysis was performed within several hours or fixed with 1% PFA if analysed on a separate occasion. To fix with 1% PFA, the cells were pelleted and the FACS buffer supernatant discarded. To prevent the formation of cell clumps during fixation, the cell pellet was well disrupted by raking several times on tube racks and vortexed at 3000rpm while simultaneously adding 1% PFA.

#### 2.2.8.2. Nitric oxide (NO) assay (Griess assay)

Nitric oxide formation can be measured using the diazotization reaction originally described by Griess in 1879 (Griess, 1879).

1 ml of 100 uM nitrile solution was made from 1 M Nitrile Standard stock solution by 1:10,000 dilution in DMEM. Three columns in a 96-well plate were reserved for nitrile standard reference curve. These wells were filled with 50 ul of DMEM. On the topmost rows of these three columns, 100  $\mu$ l of 100  $\mu$ M nitrile solution was added. Immediately thereafter, 6 serial, twofold dilutions (50 ul/well) in triplicate down the plate was made to generate the nitrile standard reference curve (100, 50, 25, 12.5, 6.25, 3.13, 1.56 uM). The last set of wells are left as blanks (0 uM). Next, the Sulfanilamide solution and NED solution was left to equilibrate to room temperature for about fifteen minutes. Thereafter 50 ul of each experimental sample was added to wells in triplicates. Using a multichannel pipettor, 50 ul of sulphanilamide solution was dispensed to all experimental samples and wells containing the nitrile standard reference curve. The mixture was incubated at room temperature away from light for 5-10 minutes. Using a multichannel pipettor, 50 ul of NED solution was added to all wells, and

incubated for another 5-10 mins away from light source. A purple/ magenta colour is formed immediately, and the resultant coloured azo compound has an absorbance which is measured at 550 nm using a microplate reader (Perkin Elmer Victor 3 Model 1420-012).

#### 2.3. Statistical analysis

Each experiment was performed at least 3 times. Individual groups were compared using the Student's t test with a two-tailed *p*-value. A value of P < 0.05 was taken as significant. If a parameter is known to decrease or increase under certain stimuli, one tailed student's t test was used.

### **CHAPTER III:**

# ROLE OF ANXA1 IN INNATE IMMUNITY

The pathogen associated molecular pattern (PAMP) response is based primarily on toll-like receptor (TLR) stimulation by pathogen associated molecules. ANXA1 deficient (KO) mice are physiologically indistinguishable from its wild-type (WT) counterparts, yet its immune system exhibits an inclination towards Th2 differentiation even without exposure to stimuli (D'Aquisto *et al.*, 2007) and is also particularly sensitive to immune stimuli such as LPS, whose exposure can cause death in mice within 48 hours (Damazo *et al.*, 2005). In recent studies from our group and others, NF- $\kappa$ B was found to be regulated by ANXA1- either directly by binding to the p65 subunit of NF- $\kappa$ B (Zhang *et al.*, 2010) or indirectly through the regulation of NEMO (Bist *et al.*, 2011). Furthermore, ANXA1 KO thymocytes and T cells exhibit impaired activation of NF- $\kappa$ B (Paschalidis *et al.*, 2010, D'Acquisto *et al.*, 2008).

This led us to believe that ANXA1 may control inflammatory cytokine production through NF- $\kappa$ B. Huggins and colleagues (2009) reported that bonemarrow derived dendritic cells from ANXA1 KO mice exhibit a matured phenotype but lower production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-12 after LPS treatment. However, Yang and colleagues (2009) reported that ANXA1 KO macrophages produce higher levels of proinflammatory cytokines (IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$  and ERK activation) compared to WT mice after LPS treatment. Taken together, it became unclear whether ANXA1 affects TLR-dependent cytokine production, and no underlying mechanism has been proposed for the discrepancy in cytokine production with respect to WT. Moreover, there are no studies that specifically characterize the role of ANXA1 in MyD88 dependent or independent activation of the TLR pathway.

There are two distinct and mechanistically segregated signaling pathways in TLR dependent activation (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2003). This study investigated TLR agonists that either stimulate both NF- $\kappa$ B dependent and TRIF dependent TLR pathways (i.e. LPS to stimulate TLR4 and CpG DNA to stimulate TLR9) or specifically stimulate the TRIF dependent pathway only (poly (I:C) to stimulate TLR3). In order to dissect the signaling mechanism responsible for the differential immune response in ANXA1 KO macrophages, we investigated whether ANXA1 is involved in modulating MyD88/NF $\kappa$ B dependent or MyD88-independent/TRIF activation.

# 3.1 Role of ANXA1 in inflammatory cytokine production in response to TLR9 and TLR4 agonists

Our study focused on cytokine production in macrophages, as macrophages are major cytokine producing lymphocytes in the initial stages of pathogenic insult. In order to determine the cytokine response of peritoneal macrophages (PM) after exposure to the most common pathogens such as viruses, bacteria and fungi, we used specific agonists to stimulate TLRs.

To validate our experimental set-up, WT PM which were elicited by thioglycollate were first harvested, pooled (n=4 mice per experiment), quantified, and then seeded in equal quantities (1 million cells / ml) in a 24-well plate. Thereafter, various TLR agonists were added to the PM, and cytokine/chemokine production was quantified by ELISA after 24h.

Significant IL-6 production was observed after treatment with CpG 1826 or LPS. Poly (I:C) did not cause noticeable IL-6 production. A significant production of IL-12 was observed after exposure to LPS, poly (I:C) or CpG DNA (CpG 1826) (Figure 3.1a). Based on these results, we demonstrate that the TLR agonists CpG 1826, LPS and poly (I:C) induce significant IL-12 production in our model.



Figure 3.1. a) IL-12, b) IL-6 production in WT PM after treatment with TLR agonists (1 million cells/ml). \* denotes p<0.05, \*\* denotes p<0.01 and n.s. denotes "no significant difference", i.e. p>0.05, compared to WT, thioglycollate elicited PM. Results are based on five biological repeats (mean ± S.E.M. of n=5).

### 3.1.1 IL-12 and IL-6 production in response to TLR9 agonist (CpG 1826)

In this experiment, the role of ANXA1 in PM activation by the TLR9 agonist CpG 1826 was investigated as CpG DNA stimulates the MyD88 dependent pathway. IL-12 and IL-6 production was compared between WT and ANXA1 KO PM before and after CPG 1826 stimulation (Figure 3.2).

After treatment with CpG 1826, IL-12 was produced in both WT and ANXA1 KO PM but no significance difference in their levels was observed. Similarly, when treated with CpG 1826, IL-6 was produced in both WT and ANXA1 KO PM with no significant difference between them (p=0.4604).

Based on this data, ANXA1 does not regulate IL-6 or IL-12 production after the activation of the MyD88-specific, TLR9 pathway.



Figure 3.2. a) IL-6 and b) IL-12 production in WT and ANXA1 KO PM after treatment with TLR agonist CpG1826 (1 million cells/ml). \*\* denotes p<0.01 and n.s. denotes "no significant difference", i.e. p>0.05, compared to WT, thioglycollate elicited PM. Results are based on five biological repeats (mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of n=5).

# 3.1.2 IL-12 and IL-6 production in response to TLR4 agonist (LPS)

LPS—a TLR2 and TLR4 agonist that triggers both MyD88-dependent and independent signaling—was next used to investigate the role of ANXA1 in TLR signaling (Figure 3.3).

Consistent with WT PM, ANXA1 KO PM displayed significantly increased IL-12 production after LPS treatment when compared to untreated ANXA1 KO PM. However, ANXA1 KO PM produced less IL-12 than WT PM after LPS stimulation (p=0.0014). Following LPS exposure, a significant increase in IL-6 production was observed in both WT and ANXA1 KO PM treated with LPS; however, the difference in IL-6 production between WT and ANXA1 KO PM after treatment with LPS is not significant (p=0.4729). This suggests that ANXA1 does not directly affect the production of IL-6 through the activation of the TLR-3 and TLR-4 pathways.

Based on this result, the production of IL-12 but not IL-6 is impaired in the absence of ANXA1 in response to LPS.



Figure 3.3. a) IL-6 and b) IL-12 production in WT and ANXA1 KO PM after treatment with TLR agonist LPS (1 million cells/ml). \* denotes p<0.05, \*\* denotes p<0.01, \*\*\* denotes p<0.001 and n.s. denotes "no significant difference", i.e. p>0.05, compared to WT, thioglycollate elicited PM. Results are based on five biological repeats (mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of n=5).

a)

### 3.1.3 IL-12 and IL-6 production in response to TLR3 agonist (poly (I:C)

ANXA1 did not regulate IL-6 and IL-12 production after CpG1826 activation, yet IL-12 production was affected after LPS stimulation in ANXA1 KO macrophages. CpG1826 induces TLR9 stimulation which is MyD88dependent, while LPS stimulates both TLR3 and TLR4, which are specifically segregated into MyD88-independent and dependent pathways, respectively.

Therefore, we wished to investigate if ANXA1 could regulate the MyD88-independent cytokine production using a TLR3 specific agonist, poly (I:C). Exposure to poly (I:C) induced significant IL-6 and IL-12 production (Figure 3.4). IL-6 was produced after poly (I:C) treatment in both WT and ANXA1 KO PM, but no significant difference was observed between the treated samples. Similar to the results with LPS stimulation, poly (I:C) treated ANXA1 KO PM exhibit significantly lower IL-12 production than WT PM.

Based on these observations, ANXA1 may play a role in TLR3 associated pro-inflammatory cytokine production, which is linked to an MyD88-independent pathway.



Figure 3.4. a) IL-6 and b) IL-12 production in WT and ANXA1 KO PM after treatment with TLR agonist poly (I:C) (1 million cells/ml). \* denotes p<0.05, \*\*\* denotes p<0.001 and n.s. denotes "no significant difference", i.e. p>0.05, compared to WT, thioglycollate elicited PM. Results are based on five biological repeats (mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of n=5).

#### **3.2 ANXA1 regulates TRIF dependent cytokine production**

Stimulation of TLR3 results in the activation of the endosomal adaptor protein TRIF, resulting in the phosphorylation of IRF-3 by TBK1 and the translocation of the activated IRF-3 in the form of an IRF-3 dimer into the nucleus. There, the IRF-3 dimer acts as a transcription initiation factor for the type I interferon response, inducing the transcription of cytokines such as IFN- $\beta$ . IFN- $\beta$  acts on its receptor IFNR1 to induce the production of IFN- $\beta$ inducible chemokines such as IP-10. We next examined whether ANXA1 directly regulates production of MyD88-independent or TRIF dependent pathway by investigating the levels of IP-10 production.

The mRNA level of IP-10 after a 4-hour treatment with LPS was significantly attenuated in ANXA1 KO when compared to WT (Figure 3.5a). In addition, LPS treatment induced significant IP-10 production in WT but not in ANXA1 KO PM (p=0.0419, Figure 3.5b). Similarly, IP-10 was produced in WT but not in ANXA1 KO PM after poly (I:C) treatment (p<0.001, Figure 3.5c). To verify that a selective MyD88-dependent activator does not induce IP-10 production, IP-10 levels were investigated after stimulation with CpG1826. As expected, CpG1826 stimulation did not produce IP-10 production (Figure 3.5d).

Therefore, we show that the absence of ANXA1 directly impairs IP-10 production in ANXA1 KO PM after treatment with TRIF- pathway activators.







Figure 3.5. IP-10 mRNA expression and production from WT and ANXA1 KO PM. a) mRNA profile of IP-10 over time. IP-10 production after treatment with b) LPS, c) Poly (I:C) or d) CpG 1826 (ODN 1826). \* denotes p<0.05 \*\* denotes p<0.01 and \*\*\* denotes p<0.001. *n.s.* denotes "no significant difference". Results are based on 3-5 biological repeats (mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of n=3-5).

#### 3.3 Cytokine response against live *E coli*. co-culture

LPS, a bacterial endotoxin, and CpG DNA are capable of inducing cytokine production. However our data thus far does not provide concrete proof that ANXA1 is clinically relevant in modulating cytokine response during exposure to gram negative bacteria. To establish ANXA1 as a novel regulator during TLR associated pathogenesis, a co-culture system of pathogen and macrophages was used. To mimic bacterial pathogenesis, live bacteria (*E. coli* DH5 $\alpha$  strain) was co-cultured with macrophages.

Once again, IL-6 and IL-12, as well as TRIF-specific chemokines IP-10 were assessed using ELISA. Co-culture with bacteria DH5 $\alpha$  caused significant IL-6 production for WT and ANXA1 KO PM, with both exhibiting similar levels of IL-6 production (Figure 3.6a). Statistical difference is observed between IL-12 production in WT and in ANXA1 KO PM cocultured with DH5 $\alpha$ . ANXA1 KO PM displayed significantly less production of IL-12 compared to its WT counterparts (Figure 3.6b). In both WT and ANXA1 KO PM, IP-10 is produced substantially upon co-culture with DH5 $\alpha$ . However higher IP-10 production is observed in WT than in ANXA1 KO PM, similar to that of LPS stimulation (Figure 3.6c). Taken together, these results highlight the importance of ANXA1 in regulating IL-12 and IP-10 production in a clinically relevant setting.



Figure 3.6. Co-culture of PM with DH5 $\alpha$ . Results are observed for a) IL-6 and b) IL-12 c) IP-10 production after the co-culture experiment. 10 million bacteria were added to 1 million PM for co-culture duration of 24 hours. "n.s." denotes "no significant difference", i.e. p>0.05, Results are based on at least three biological repeats (n=3).

## 3.4 Cellular activation of PM and B cells after TLR agonist treatment

Next, we investigated if antigen presenting cells harvested from ANXA1 KO mice undergo similar dynamics of innate-to-adaptive immune responses as WT equivalents through activation and up-regulation of cell surface markers that can trigger adaptive immune response such as T cell activation. Macrophages are major players in this aspect and indicators of activation through initial stimulation by TLR agonist can be observed through co-stimulatory molecules and MHC on the cell surface. While there are studies which focused predominantly on dendritic cell activation for ANXA1 KO mice (Huggins et al., 2009), we intend to place emphasis on macrophages and splenic B cells by investigating their activation level and antigen presentation capacity, in order to dissect what happens upstream (macrophages as first line of defence) and downstream (B cell activation and response). Hence, increase in activation markers such as CD86<sup>+</sup> in PM and CD 69<sup>+</sup> in splenic B cells, and changes in MHC II surface expression levels in both macrophages and B cells were chosen for analysis by comparing surface expression level between immune cells of wild type and ANXA1 KO mice.

#### **3.4.1 MHC II surface expression after TLR agonist treatment**

In this experiment, we studied MHC class II surface expression in PM and splenic B cells of ANXA1 KO mice. In WT PM (Figure 3.7 a) the expression of MHC II increased after treatment with Poly (I:C) (79.7%) or LPS (82.9%) when compared with untreated control (47.7%). Likewise, the basal levels of MFI values (28.1) increases after treatment with Poly (I:C) treatment (51.4) or LPS treatment (72.6). In ANXA1 KO PM, an increase in MHC II surface expression upon treatment with poly (I:C) or LPS was observed, but it was not as pronounced as the response observed for WT PM. Both poly (I:C) and LPS elicited only a marginal increase (less than 10% of the population) in MHC II level versus ANXA1 KO control and MFI values are similar between untreated and poly (I:C) or LPS treated PM. Based on these results, ANXA1 KO PM are incapable of up regulating MHC II surface expression even after treatment with TLR agonists poly (I:C) or LPS, compared to WT PM.

Such correlation is also noted in splenic B cells (Figure 3.7 b). In WT control B cells, MHC II positive population constitutes slightly more than half of the population (54.6%) and this population increased to 70.5% after poly (I:C) exposure and 87.9% after LPS exposure. Likewise for MFI values, from a baseline value of 740, treatment with poly (I:C) and LPS increased the MFI values nearly two fold, to 1204 in poly (I:C) and 1493 in LPS, indicating an increase in MHCII expression level in cell populations after treatment with TLR agonists. ANXA1 KO B cells exhibited a reduced MHCII upregulation after stimulation with poly (I:C) when compared with WT B cells. ANXA1 KO B cells after stimulation with poly (I:C) exhibited a reduced population of B cells with MHCII positivity (61.5%) compared to WT B cells (70.5%).

Based on these data, PM of ANXA1 KO mice have reduced phagocytic activity after stimulation with poly (I:C) and LPS, while B cells of ANXA1 KO mice have reduced phagocytic activity after stimulation with poly (I:C).



Figure 3.7. Flow cytometry analysis of MHC II expression levels on PM and B cells. a) PM, identified through prior gating for F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells, after FSC/SSC gating for macrophage sized cells. b) Splenic B cells, identified through prior gating for CD19<sup>+</sup> cells, after FSC/SSC gating for splenic B cell sized cells. Cell count: 1 million cells / sample. Result is a representative data based on pooled samples from four mice (n=4) with two independent biological replicates done on a different day.

#### **3.4.2 CD86 and CD69 expression after TLR agonist treatment**

Next, the level of activation markers on macrophages and B cells was investigated. We examined CD86<sup>+</sup> as an activation marker for PM and CD69<sup>+</sup> as an activation marker for splenic B cells.

For PM, as seen in Figure 3.8 a), a small population of PM was activated (19.9%) in WT controls and this marks a basal level of activation. In contrast, more than half (60.7%) of the population was activated upon treatment with poly (I:C) and likewise a slighter larger proportion of activation for LPS treatment (70.2%). This also places a fundamental doubt raised earlier to rest: that thioglycollate based-elicitation of PM may activate the PM. Based on this result, it is clear that the macrophages are not activated as a whole population.

In ANXA1 KO PM, close to a third of the untreated control population already possesses activation markers (27.6%). While an increase in activation upon treatment with poly (I:C) (47.2%) or LPS (57.3%) is observed, it is much lower than what is observed in WT PM for both poly (I:C) and LPS. Specifically, the presence of a double peak only in the ANXA1 KO macrophage population appears to hint on a substantial population that is not capable of responding at all. ANXA1 KO PM also exhibited an increase in activated macrophage population upon treatment with TLR agonists, but this increase is not as substantial as its WT counterpart PM. Hence, based on these results, ANXA1 KO PM seem to have a specific population that is not activated after TLR agonist treatment.

Splenic B cells derived from WT and ANXA1 KO mice were also investigated. In WT B cells, only a small fraction (10.2%) is CD69<sup>+</sup> and this increased marginally upon treatment with poly (I:C) (22.3%). However, a drastic increase in CD69<sup>+</sup> population was found upon exposure to LPS (55.9%), indicating that the activation of B cell is more pronounced in LPS than poly (I:C). In ANXA1 KO splenic B cells, control cells are not activated (12.5% positive) while exposure to poly (I:C) increases CD69<sup>+</sup> expression only slightly. While LPS treatment of ANXA1 KO B cells markedly increased the positive population, it is visibly lower than its WT counterparts. Consequently, this outlines the role ANXA1 plays in B cell activation, that ANXA1 is also important in the B cell dependent inflammatory response towards TLR agonist stimulation.

In conclusion, these results indicate a potential role ANXA1 may play in the activation of PM and B cells, thereby regulating the interface between innate and adaptive immunity.

#### a) Macrophages



b) Splenic B cells



Figure 3.8. Flow cytometry analysis of activation markers for PM and B cells. a) Macrophages, identified through prior gating for F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells, after FSC/SSC gating for macrophage sized cells. b) Splenic B cells, identified through prior gating for CD19<sup>+</sup> cells, after FSC/SSC gating for splenic B cell sized cells. Cell count: 1 million cells / sample. Result is a representative data based on pooled samples from four mice (n=4) with two independent biological replicates done separately.

## **3.5** Role of ANXA1 in cellular activation and cytokine production after poly(I:C) administration in vivo

We next investigated whether the results observed *in vitro* can also be observed *in vivo* as well. In our earlier experiments, we demonstrated that immune cells from ANXA1 KO mice show impaired TRIF dependent activation during inflammatory response induced by TLR agonists LPS and poly (I:C). To confirm that ANXA1 plays an important role in triggering TRIF dependent activation and inflammation response *in vivo*, TLR agonist poly (I:C) (1mg/ml) was injected into mice peritoneal cavity of WT and ANXA1 KO mice. As an indicator of inflammation response *in vivo*, serum levels were measured for TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IFN- $\gamma$ , IFN- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\beta$  and IP-10 (CXCL 10) using ELISA.

Upon treatment with poly (I:C) for 6 h and 24 h, WT and ANXA1 KO mice showed comparable levels of pro-inflammatory cytokine production in TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 (Figure 3.9 a and b). However, the production of TRIF dependent chemokines IFN- $\beta$  and IP-10 at 6 h was significantly inhibited in ANXA1 KO mice when compared to WT mice (Figure 3.9 d and f). To determine whether the inhibition affects other interferons induced during antiviral and inflammation process, IFN- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  production level was also investigated. Serum levels of IFN- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  were similar between WT and ANXA1 KO mice for both 6 h and 24h (Figure 3.9 c and e). IFN- $\beta$  is unique among the three interferons as its activation is IRF-3 dependent. This highlights the possibility of a TRIF/IRF-3 dependent pathway inhibition

pathway for the production of IFN- $\beta$  and IP-10 chemokine production *in vivo* in a TLR 3 dependent manner.



Figure 3.9 Poly (I:C) stimulation induces lower serum levels of TRIF dependent chemokines IFN- $\beta$  and IP-10 (CXCL 10) in ANXA1 KO PM. Black diamonds indicate WT and white square indicate ANXA1 KO mice serum cytokine levels. \* denotes *p*<0.05. Results are based on two separate experiments on eight mice (n=8).

## **3.6 Mechanism of action of ANXA1-dependent regulation of cytokine production**

Toll-like receptors have many pathways of action. TLR receptor adaptor proteins (with TIR domains) regulate downstream response of many cytokine producing immune cells, particularly macrophages (Kawai and Akira, 2006). There are five known TLR adaptor proteins, namely MyD88, TRIF, Mal, TRAM and SARM (Kenney and O'Neil, 2008). MyD88 and TRIF are essential for LPS induced TLR3 and TLR 4 activation while TRIF is essential for poly (I:C) induced TLR3 activation.

This study has demonstrated that ANXA1 KO exhibited impaired IL-12 and IP-10 production in ANXA1 KO PM after stimulation with LPS and poly (I:C), and also impaired PM and B cell activation after stimulation with LPS. As cytokine production and upregulation of activation markers are both dependent on activation of transcription factors, we next examined whether ANXA1 is important for the activation of transcription factors.

The first imperative was to identify whether the signaling cascade upstream of cytokine production was intact in ANXA1 KO PM. There are "master switches" to examine signaling cascade vitality, such as IRF-3 and NF-κB p65 nuclear translocation. IRF-3 and NF-κB p65 activity were studied using confocal microscopy to determine if nuclear translocation of these proteins was affected in the ANXA1 KO PM, after exposure to Poly I:C and LPS.

#### 3.6.1 Nuclear localization IRF-3 after LPS treatment

To investigate whether nuclear localization of transcription factors in ANXA1 KO PM is similar to the WT, we used LPS, the MyD88-dependent and independent stimulator, to test IRF-3 nuclear translocation. In this experiment, PM were exposed to LPS for 1 h prior to fixation. The samples were then incubated with anti-IRF-3 primary antibodies followed by that with Alexafluor 488-labeled secondary antibodies. DAPI, a common stain used to bind A-T rich regions of DNA during flourescent microscopy, was used to visualize the nucleus.

Under unstimulated conditions, both WT PM and ANXA1 KO PM did not show any localization of IRF-3 in the nucleus, which is delineated by DAPI (Figure 3.10). However, upon treatment with LPS, IRF-3 is seen to translocate substantially to the nucleus. However, such nuclear translocation of IRF-3 was not seen in ANXA1 KO PM after 1 h of exposure to LPS. This observation is similar to the result for poly (I:C) treatment, indicating ANXA1 plays an extensive role in TRIF dependent IRF-3 activation.

Therefore, ANXA1 is important for the translocation of IRF-3 to the nucleus after LPS exposure.



Figure 3.10. Impaired nuclear translocation of IRF-3 in ANXA1 KO PM under LPS treatment. PM were used in this confocal imaging. Stains used are DAPI for nuclear staining and rabbit anti- IRF-3 antibody for detecting localization of IRF-3 in the nucleus. WT: wild-type PM. WT LPS 60 min: wild-type PM exposed to LPS (1ug/ml) for 60 minutes. KO: PM derived from ANXA1 KO mice. KO LPS 60 min: PM derived from ANXA1 KO mice exposed to LPS (1 ug/ml) for 60 minutes.

#### 3.6.2 Nuclear localization of IRF-3 after poly (I:C) treatment

In this experiment, PM were exposed to poly (I:C) for 1 h. In untreated, nonstimulated control WT and ANXA1 KO PM, IRF-3 was found mainly in the cytosolic region with visibly less localization within the nucleus, a region highlighted distinctly by DAPI stain (Figure 3.11). When these PM were exposed to the TLR3 agonist poly (I:C), IRF-3 translocated to the nucleus in WT but not in ANXA1 KO PM. Indeed, PM derived from WT mice exhibited prominent florescence in the nuclear region, which was brighter than that of the cytosolic regions. All the WT PM cells observed exhibited such nuclear localization. However, this was not observed in PM derived from ANXA1 KO PM after sixty minutes of poly (I:C) exposure. Instead, very little IRF-3 translocation to the nucleus was seen in these PM.

Based on these results, IRF-3 nuclear translocation is impaired in ANXA1 KO PM.



Figure 3.11. Impaired nuclear translocation of IRF-3 in ANXA1 KO PM under poly (I:C) treatment. PM were used in this confocal imaging. Stains used are DAPI for nuclear staining and rabbit anti- IRF-3 antibody for detecting localization of IRF-3 in the nucleus. WT: WT PM. WT PIC 60 min: WT PM exposed to poly (I:C) for 60 minutes. KO: PM derived from ANXA1 KO mice. KO PIC 60 min: PM derived from ANXA1 KO mice exposed to poly (I:C) for 60 minutes.

#### **3.6.3** Nuclear localization of NF-kB p65 after LPS treatment

We next examined an active unit of NF- $\kappa$ B—the p65 subunit. Upon activation and release from I $\kappa$ B lockdown, the p65 subunit translocates to the nucleus to transcribe various pro-inflammatory genes; e.g. IL-12 in macrophages. As our laboratory has discovered that NF- $\kappa$ B promoter activity in PM from ANXA1 KO mice is impaired (unpublished data), it is important to determine independently whether translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B p65 subunit is also impaired. To clarify the exact involvement of ANXA1 in NF- $\kappa$ B signaling, we examined whether nuclear translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B after exposure to LPS is regulated by ANXA1.

Results for confocal on WT and ANXA1 KO PM which have undergone LPS-induced activation are shown in Figure 3.12. Both WT and ANXA1 KO PM showed distinctly low concentration of NF- $\kappa$ B in nucleus compared to cytosol at basal conditions. Upon treatment with LPS for one hour, WT PM showed clear and distinctive nuclear translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B, as the nuclear region stained by DAPI fluoresced brightly with the signal from NF- $\kappa$ B binding antibodies. ANXA1 KO PM also exhibits nuclear localization of NF- $\kappa$ B.

Hence ANXA1 does not appear to affect NF-κB nuclear translocation in PM significantly when stimulated with LPS.



Figure 3.12. Impaired nuclear translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B in ANXA1 KO PM under LPS treatment. PM were used in this confocal imaging. Stains used are DAPI for nuclear staining and rabbit anti- NF- $\kappa$ B antibody for detecting localization of NF- $\kappa$ B in the nucleus. WT: wild-type PM. WT LPS 60 min: wild-type PM exposed to LPS (1 ug/ml) for 60 minutes. KO: PM derived from ANXA1 KO mice. KO LPS 60 min: PM derived from ANXA1 KO mice exposed to LPS (1 ug/ml) for 60 minutes.

#### 3.6.4 Nuclear localization of NF-кВ p65 after poly (I:C) treatment

Figure 3.13 shows the result of confocal imaging of PM derived from both WT and ANXA1 KO mice. In both types of PM, no translocation of the NF- $\kappa$ B p65 subunit into the nucleus was observed in untreated control PM. However, upon treatment of poly (I:C) for 60 min, only WT PM exhibited prominent translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B p65 subunit to the nucleus. However, this was not observed in ANXA1 KO PM after stimulation with poly (I:C). It therefore clearly implicates ANXA1 in relaying the late phase NF- $\kappa$ B signal through the activation of TRIF dependent pathway.



Figure 3.13. Impaired nuclear translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B in ANXA1 KO PM under poly (I:C) treatment. PM were used in this confocal imaging. Stains used are DAPI for nuclear staining and rabbit anti- NF- $\kappa$ B antibody for detecting localization of NF- $\kappa$ B in the nucleus. WT: wild-type PM. WT PIC 60 min: wild-type PM exposed to poly (I:C) for 60 minutes. KO: PM derived from ANXA1 KO mice. KO PIC 60 min: PM derived from ANXA1 KO mice exposed to poly (I:C) for 60 minutes.
### **CHAPTER IV:**

### MACROPHAGE POLARIZATION AND ANXA1

#### 4. MACROPHAGE POLARIZATION AND ANXA1

In the previous chapter, we studied the role ANXA1 plays in cytokine / chemokine production and investigated possible mechanisms examined for mechanisms which may explain its functional properties in macrophages. However, there is no clear framework which can provide an explanation why ANXA1 KO macrophages are spectrally distant from wild-type macrophages in terms of both immune response and activation. As ANXA1 is also a candidate marker for aggressive cancer phenotypes (Lim and Pervaiz, 2007) and macrophages are closely associated with cancer phenotype modulation, we sought the literature for an overarching theme which could amalgamate all these observations into a tangible structure for ANXA1 to align itself in a concordant manner.

Macrophage polarization is a term coined to consolidate the gamut of macrophage phenotypes into an operationally comprehensible concept that assents both the plasticity of macrophages in microenvironments and the existence of an alternative morphologic macrophage that participates in nonimmune response (Alberto *et al.*, 2005). When the term "macrophage polarization" was popularized actively in literature, there were key features which distinguished two diametric opposites of macrophages, termed M1 and M2 macrophages. M1 macrophages are macrophages that respond and behave in a classical manner, i.e. M1 macrophages are immune response cells that highly express IL-12, IL-23 and less IL-10, while M2 macrophages express low IL-12, IL-23 and high IL-10.

The lack of mechanistic elaboration and macrophage polarization specific markers, especially for M2 polarization, has plagued its wellconceptualized idea until M2 macrophage polarization specific markers such as Arginase-1 and YM-1 were established (ibid). As more research converge to include macrophage polarization as a compendious exposition for data analysis involving macrophages, pathways and mechanisms behind macrophage polarization are better understood now. M1 polarizing pathways within M1 macrophages have been found to be dependent on the activation of three major inflammation-associated transcription factors: NF- $\kappa$ B, IRF-3 and STAT-1 (Sica and Bronte, 2007). These transcription factors are activated to induce M1 polarization, and also provide reciprocal modulation which also provide reciprocal modulation, preventing M2 polarization markers such as Arginase-1 from being expressed. This allows pathway-driven investigation.

In this chapter, we examined M2 polarization specific markers to ascertain whether ANXA1 directly affects macrophage polarization. We also focused on three major transcription factors involved in M1 polarization, namely NF- $\kappa$ B, IRF-3 and STAT-1, and a transcription factor involved in M2 polarization, PPAR- $\gamma$ . Figure 4.1 summarizes these investigations.



Figure 4.1. The regulation of M1 and M2 macrophage polarization by ANXA1 may be from several pathways. This diagram gives the general picture of critical components of in M1 and M2 polarization which are relevant to this study. The involvement of ANXA1 in macrophage polarization is not known. ANXA1 may be important for activating transcription factors NF- $\kappa$ B and IRF-3 or STAT-1. ANXA1 may also regulate M2 polarization, which can be identified by changes in expression of M2 markers such as Arginase-1 and YM-1 (Diagram by Shu Shin La).

### 4.1. Using Bone Marrow Derived Macrophages (BMDM) as a Model for Further Investigation

The use of PM is invaluable as an archetypal example of *in vivo* response which signals a response through TLR pathways in activated macrophages. Compared to other common methods of deriving macrophages such as bone marrow derived macrophages (BMDM), which mimics the development of macrophages and its cytokine environment but does not factor in the subtlety of other cellular interactions during its maturation, the use of PM have an added advantage of providing a global picture of macrophage response in a homeostatic state of differentiation and antigenic differences. However, to study macrophage polarization, the use of naïve macrophages BMDM was required, as mature macrophages such as PM may skew the polarization of macrophages.

In order to use BMDM for detailed mechanism studies, ANXA1 KO BMDM cells were examined and compared to ANXA1 KO PM. This allows BMDM cells to be used as a model for *in vivo* response of PM. As mentioned previously, ANXA1 KO PM exhibited impairment of both MyD88 and TRIF dependent pathways, particularly after LPS treatment, and it is important to determine if BMDM also share such impaired phenotype.

To investigate whether BMDM of ANXA1 KO also possess the same impaired phenotype for inflammatory cytokine production, MyD88 dependent cytokines (IL-6 and IL-12) and TRIF dependent chemokine (IP-10) production levels were examined. IL-6, IL-12 and IP-10 production of WT and ANXA1 KO BMDM in untreated controls was observed to be at basal level and similar to each other (Figure 4.2). After LPS treatment, we observed a lower production of IL-6 (although insignificant), IL-12 (p<0.05) and IP-10 (p<0.001). IP-10 levels of WT and ANXA1 KO BMDM in untreated controls were was at basal level and not significantly different (Figure 4.2 c), although compared to WT PM, WT BMDM produced more than twice the levels of IP-10.

Based on these results, we postulated that ANXA1 is required for cytokine production in response to LPS in BMDM, and is required for TRIF-dependent activation.



Figure 4.2. MyD88 and MyD88-independent, TRIF dependent cytokine / chemokine production in WT and ANXA1 KO BMDM after treatment with TLR agonists (1 million cells/ml). \* denotes p<0.05, \*\*\* denotes p<0.001 and n.s. denotes "no significant difference", i.e. p>0.05. Results are based on three biological repeats (n=3).

#### 4.2. ANXA1 is involved in supressing M2 polarization

Despite comprehensive evidence suggesting that ANXA1 affects diverse pathways involved in macrophage polarization, an association of ANXA1 to M2 polarization has not been described thus far. Macrophage polarization is a term born out of macrophages that do not respond in classical manner (M1 polarization), but there are very few methods to determine whether certain macrophages are M2 polarized, as macrophages with impairment of pro-inflammatory cytokines is the key evidence that an alternative macrophage state exists (Alberto *et al.*, 2005). However, there exist markers that can conclusively identify M2 polarization.

Arginase-1, an enzyme that converts arginine into ornithine or urea, is expressed in macrophages which actively drive an anti-inflammatory, type-2 innate response (Pesce *et al.*, 2009). Another M2 specific, anti-inflammatory macrophage associated marker is YM-1 (Raes *et al.*, 2002). The next experiment focuses on these M2 markers.

#### 4.2.1. ANXA1 suppresses Arginase-1 and YM1 expression

To examine the mRNA expression level of M2 markers in WT and ANXA1 KO BMDM, RT-PCR was used to quantify mRNA levels in BMDM of WT and ANXA1 KO mice at basal levels without stimulation. YM-1 mRNA level is higher in ANXA1 KO macrophages compared to WT BMDM (Figure 4.3). Likewise for arginase-1, ANXA1 KO macrophages have higher mRNA expression level compared to WT BMDM. We also examined a M1 macrophage polarization marker, IL-6, which is expressed at basal level in macrophages (Mantovani *et al.*, 2005). Interestingly, ANXA1 KO BMDM has diminished IL-6 mRNA expression compared to WT BMDM. This is in contrast to the M2 polarization markers that were up regulated in ANXA1 KO BMDM.

Therefore, ANXA1 KO BMDM exhibits a M2 polarization phenotype. These results demonstrate that ANXA1 may inhibit M2 and promote M1 polarization. In addition, IP-10 and IL-12 are M1 cytokines, and is observed in the previous chapter to be decreased in ANXA1 KO PM, thus further confirming that ANXA1 promotes M1 polarization.



Figure 4.3. ANXA1 suppresses M2 polarization markers. a) mRNA quantification using RT-PCR to examine mRNA levels in WT and ANXA1 KO BMDM, without any prior treatment. Result shown is a representative among two biological repeats (n=2).

#### **4.2.2.** ANXA1 KO BMDM is unresponsive to NF-κB inhibitor

NF-κB is a transcription factor important in M1 polarization. To investigate whether NF-κB is directly responsible for IL-12 production during LPS exposure, and if ANXA1 KO cells are M2 polarized due to an inhibition in NF-κB, we inhibited NF-kB using a chemical inhibitor BAY-11-7082 (hereafter called BAY-11). BAY-11 is capable of blocking NF-κB activation by irreversibly inhibiting phosphorylation of IκB-α which clamps NF-κB into an inactive state unless phosphorylated. We hypothesized that should NF-κB be responsible for the difference in IL-12 production observed in ANXA1 KO macrophages, inhibiting NF-κB would not affect ANXA1 KO macrophages.

Figure 4.4 shows the result for wild-type and ANXA1 KO macrophages pre-treated with BAY-11 for 1 hour before exposure to LPS. Both wild-type and ANXA1 KO macrophages produce IL-12 upon exposure to BAY-11 alone. After exposure to LPS, when cells are pre-treated with BAY11, a significant decrease in IL-12 production is observed in WT BMDM. However, in ANXA1 KO BMDM, BAY11 does not inhibit IL-12. Therefore, BAY-11 only affects NF-κB-dependent IL-12 production in WT BMDM, but not ANXA1 KO BMDM after stimulation with LPS.



Figure 4.4. BAY-11 inhibits only wild-type BMDM for IL-12 production treated with BAY-11 prior to LPS treatment. BAY-11 (100ng/ml) was given as a pre-treatment one hour prior to addition of LPS (1 ug/ml) to samples. \*\*\* denotes p<0.001 and "n.s." denotes "no significant difference", i.e. p>0.05, Results shown is a representative among three biological repeats (n=3).

### 4.2.3. ANXA1 directly affects NO production in macrophages

We next examined the capacity of ANXA1 to regulate other factors that characterize M1 polarization. Macrophages are active producers of nitric oxide (NO) during inflammation, and NO production is a distinguishing characteristic of M1 polarization from M2 polarization, as NO production is greatly reduced during M2 polarization (Ho and Sly, 2009). Although NO production is independent of cytokine production trigger, it is nevertheless partly affected by NF-κB activation, as the transcription factor affects iNOS expression level, which is one of the major inflammation-inducible genes responsible for increases in NO production (DeFronzo, 2009).

In untreated controls, both wild-type and ANXA1 KO macrophages produced small but detectable amounts of NO (Figure 4.5). In contrast, wildtype macrophages when exposed to LPS produced approximately13  $\mu$ M of NO, and a smaller amount of approximately 6  $\mu$ M of NO upon exposure to poly (I:C). This is significantly higher than the amount produced in ANXA1 KO macrophages when exposed to LPS or poly (I:C). Based on this result, we demonstrated that NO production is significantly inhibited in ANXA1 KO macrophages after stimulation with LPS, and poly (I:C), indicating a phenotype closer to M2 polarization.



Figure 4.5. ANXA1 KO macrophages exhibited diminished NO production levels. NO levels compared to wild-type BMDM, after treatment with TLR agonists LPS (1ug/ml) and poly (I:C) (10ug/ml), based on Greiss assay. \*\*\* denotes p < 0.001. Results shown is an average from three biological repeats (n=3).

#### 4.2.4. ANXA1 and STAT-1 signaling

Another major transcription activator which is directly involved in M1 polarization is STAT-1. Activation of STAT-1 through phosphorylation of tyrosine residue 701 (Y701) is important for both bacterial and viral immunity (Burbin *et al.*, 1996; Kristensen *et al.*, 2011). STAT-1 is mainly involved in triggering type I interferon response which is induced by external signal transduction *via* interferon-gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ) stimulation. Thus, we examined if STAT-1 could also be responsible for ANXA1-dependent functions or *vice versa*.

## 4.2.5. ANXA1 does not regulate IFN-γ stimulated cytokine / chemokine production.

Throughout our experimental results, a decrease in both IL-12 and IP-10 production in ANXA1 KO macrophages was observed compared to wildtype macrophages when treated with poly (I:C) or LPS. To activate STAT-1 specific activity, and to examine whether STAT-1 activation is affected by ANXA1, we stimulated the macrophages with STAT-1 activating IFN- $\gamma$  (100 U/ml). We also used a known M1 polarizing treatment, i.e. IFN- $\gamma$  (100 U/ml) with LPS (100 ng/ml), to examine whether the inhibition in cytokine production could be STAT-1 dependent.

Upon treatment with IFN-γ alone, an increase in IP-10 production was observed in both wild-type and ANXA1 KO BMDM. Interestingly, ANXA1 KO BMDM produce similar amounts of IP-10 compared to WT. This gave us a good indication that IP-10 production impairment observed in ANXA1 KO macrophages during TLR agonist treatment is TLR pathway specific, and based on this data, suggests the impairment is TRIF specific, since IP-10 is produced through TRIF- dependent pathway.

Next, M1 polarizing stimulation given by exposure to both IFN- $\gamma$  and LPS was examined. Similar to results for IFN- $\gamma$  treatment alone, both wildtype and ANXA1 KO macrophages produce statistically identical amount of IP-10, indicating that STAT-1 activation and downstream transcription pathway is intact in ANXA1 KO macrophages. This also demonstrated that when ANXA1 is not involved in regulating STAT-1 dependent activation. To ascertain whether the production of IP-10 after M1 polarization affects STAT-1 activation compared to activating STAT-1 only through IFN- $\gamma$ , we added IFN- $\gamma$  18 hours after M1 polarization to ascertain if secondary exposure to IFN- $\gamma$  affects IP-10 production. WT and ANXA1 KO macrophages produce similar levels of IP-10, indicating that ANXA1 does not affect STAT-1 signaling (Figure 4.6 a).

IL-12 production was also examined. STAT-1 activation through IFN- $\gamma$  alone does not trigger the production of IL-12 in both wild-type and ANXA1 KO macrophages. Interestingly, when M1 polarizing stimulation was administered (IFN- $\gamma$  and LPS), both wild-type and ANXA1 KO macrophages produced substantial and statistically similar levels of IL-12, indicating the capacity of STAT-1 driven pathway is not affected in ANXA1 KO macrophages (Figure 4.6 b). Again, this gives a good indication that IL-12 impairment observed in ANXA1 KO macrophages is a highly specific mechanism which likely involves a complex that does not associate with

STAT-1 pathway. When a secondary dose was administered 18 hours after initial stimuli, IL-12 production in both wild-type and ANXA1 KO macrophages remained unchanged. This indicates a sustained M1 polarizing capability and its capacity to retain IL-12 production. As a whole, this data therefore shows that ANXA1 is not involved in STAT-1 activation.



Figure 4.6. STAT-1 dependent cytokine / chemokine production is not affected by absence of ANXA1. a) IP-10 production and b) IL-12 production of wild-type and ANXA1 KO BMDM treated with IFN- $\gamma$  (100U/ml) and or M1 polarizing stimulant (100 ng/ml of LPS with 100U/ml of IFN- $\gamma$ ). "n.s." denotes "no significant difference", i.e. p>0.05, Results shown is an average between three biological repeats (n=3).

## 4.2.6. STAT-1 phosphorylation is not affected by absence of ANXA1

We determined whether activation of STAT-1 is affected in ANXA1 KO PM. STAT-1 activation levels were next examined through the use of western blotting.

Figure 4.7 shows the results for western blot on wild-type and ANXA1 KO PM, after treatment with LPS. Without any treatment, similar levels of STAT-1 protein expression were observed in both wild-type and ANXA1 KO PM. No change in STAT-1 levels was observed in both WT and ANXA1 KO PM after LPS treatment. No phosphorylation of STAT-1 for both wild-type and ANXA1 KO macrophages was observed at 2 h of LPS. At 4 h and 24 h post LPS treatment, STAT-1 phosphorylation is observed to be at equal levels for both wild-type and ANXA1 KO macrophages.

These results demonstrated that ANXA1 is not involved in influencing STAT-1 phosphorylation and activation after LPS.



Figure 4.7. STAT-1 phosphorylation and basal expression level is unchanged by absence of ANXA1. Wild-type (WT) and ANXA1 KO (KO) PM macrophages were given LPS treatment for 2h , 4h and 24h respectively. 1 ug/ml of LPS was given as experimental treatment. Western blotting was done with a protein lysate concentration of 100 ug / ml. Results shown is a representative among two biological repeats (n=2). " $\alpha$ -p STAT-1" denotes antibody probe for phosphorylated STAT-1 at tyrosine residue 701. " $\alpha$ - STAT-1" denotes antibody probe for STAT-1. " $\alpha$ -Actin" denotes antibody probe for actin, as loading control.

### **4.3.** ANXA1 and PPAR-γ signaling

There are known natural NF- $\kappa$ B inhibitors that would inhibit production of IL-12 and IP-10 upon LPS exposure in phagocytes. Although ANXA1 was shown to bind and inhibit NF- $\kappa$ B signaling in cancer cells (Zhang *et al.*, 2010), it remains unclear whether ANXA1 regulates NF- $\kappa$ B in healthy phagocytes but findings were limited to *in vitro* experiments using exogenous application of ANXA1 peptide on murine macrophage cell lines (Alldridge *et al*, 1999; Xu *et al.*, 2009). This led to a question whether a natural inhibitor of NF- $\kappa$ B signaling exists which ANXA1 may regulate directly in healthy phagocytes.

One such natural inhibitor of NF-κB is PPAR-γ, a natural NF-κB inhibitor. In addition, PPAR-γ has been shown to be a M2 polarizing stimuli. We hypothesized that PPAR-  $\gamma$  signaling may be dysregulated in ANXA1 KO macrophages, thus causing the impaired cytokine response, and skewing the polarization to the M2 phenotype. PPAR- $\gamma$  function is involved with ANXA1 based on previous studies in our lab that has linked ANXA1 as a potential PPAR- $\gamma$  regulator in cancer cells (unpublished data). As PPAR- $\gamma$  is a known natural NF- $\kappa$ B inhibitor acting through NFkB p65/RelA subunit (Giulia *et al.*, 1998; Vanden Berghe *et al.*, 2003), and since ANXA1 was shown to interact tightly and regulate upstream elements of NF- $\kappa$ B signaling pathway (Bist *et al.*, 2011), the study focused on whether downregulation of both My-D88 dependent and TRIF-dependent cytokines continues to be observed when ANXA1 KO macrophages were exposed to PPAR- $\gamma$  agonists. This would

determine if PPAR-γ is responsible for the attenuation in cytokine production found in ANXA1 KO macrophages.

### 4.3.1. Investigating PGJ<sub>2</sub> as a PPAR- $\gamma$ specific agonist in wildtype macrophages

We first investigated a well-known, endogenously and readily bioavailable PPAR- $\gamma$  specific agonist 15-deoxy- $\Delta$ 12,14-prostaglandin J2, or PGJ<sub>2</sub> in wild-type BMDM, in a dose-dependent manner. PGJ<sub>2</sub> is capable of inducing small amounts of IL-12 even at low doses (Figure 4.8 a). When macrophages are treated with LPS, IL-12 production is substantially increased, and upon pre-treatment for 1 hour with PGJ<sub>2</sub>, IL-12 production decreased in a dosedependent manner (Figure 4.8 b). This result is consistent with literature which studied IL-12 released by macrophages induced with LPS and PGJ<sub>2</sub> showing a dose-dependent inhibition of IL-12 production (Alleva *et al.*, 2002), thereby providing a robust model for downstream observation and analysis of results.



Figure 4.8. Wild-type macrophage response to PGJ<sub>2</sub> treatment. PGJ<sub>2</sub> was given as a pre-treatment 1 hour prior to addition of LPS to samples. \*\*\* denotes p<0.001, \*\* denotes p<0.01, \* denotes p<0.05, "n.s." denotes "no significant difference", i.e. p>0.05 when compared to DMSO only (for PGJ<sub>2</sub> treatment alone) or LPS only (for PGJ<sub>2</sub> + LPS treatment). Results shown is a representative among three biological repeats (n=3).

## 4.3.2. Stimulating PPAR- $\gamma$ with PGJ<sub>2</sub> inhibited IL-12 production

We next investigated the effect of PGJ<sub>2</sub> on ANXA1 KO BMDM. These graphs are depicted in Figure 4.9 and 4.10, showing control and PGJ<sub>2</sub> treated cells side by side. When cells were treated with PGJ<sub>2</sub> alone, IL-12 was produced significantly lesser in ANXA1 KO macrophages. After treatment with LPS, 1 $\mu$ M PGJ<sub>2</sub> inhibits IL-12 production in WT, but not in ANXA1 KO macrophages. Since PGJ<sub>2</sub> is a PPAR- $\gamma$  agonist, this result suggests that ANXA1 may be required for the inhibitory effect induced by PGJ<sub>2</sub> (Figure 4.9 b).



Figure 4.9. ANXA1 KO BMDM response to low dose of PGJ<sub>2</sub> treatment (1  $\mu$ M). PGJ<sub>2</sub> was given as a pre-treatment 1 h prior to addition of LPS to samples. \*\*\* denotes *p*<0.001, \*\* denotes *p*<0.01, and "n.s." denotes "no significant difference", i.e. *p*>0.05. Results shown is a representative among three biological repeats (n=3).

As  $PGJ_2$  is an inhibitor of IL-12 production and ANXA1 KO also exhibited inhibited IL-12 production, further analysis of our results was required to determine if the inhibition by PPAR- $\gamma$  is abrogated in ANXA1 KO PM. To do so, analysis for percentage of inhibition of IL-12 for PGJ<sub>2</sub> treatment was performed by normalizing the production of IL-12 produced by BMDM pre-treated with PGJ<sub>2</sub> prior to LPS treatment by dividing it with the production of IL-12 with LPS treatment alone. This was done for both WT and ANXA1 KO BMDM for pre-treatment with 1  $\mu$ M PGJ<sub>2</sub>. IL-12 inhibition is not observed at 1  $\mu$ M PGJ<sub>2</sub> upon treatment with LPS (Figure 4.10). Therefore ANXA1 might regulated PPAR- $\gamma$  –dependent production of IL-12 in BMDMs.



Figure 4.10. Percentage inhibition of IL-12 production after LPS stimulation with 1  $\mu$ M PGJ<sub>2</sub> pre-treatment. \*\*\* denotes *p*<0.05 compared to WT. Results shown is a representative among three biological repeats (n=3).

# 4.3.3. Investigating the role of endogenous PPAR-γ in ANXA1-regulated cytokine production –use of GW9662

Next, in order to confirm PPAR-γ as an endogenous regulator involved in the impairment of MyD88 dependent IL-12 production, we inhibited PPAR-  $\gamma$  through the use of PPAR- $\gamma$  specific inhibitor. We hypothesized that treatment with GW9662 would abrogate the endogenous link between PPAR- $\gamma$ to ANXA1, i.e. GW9662 would reverse the IL-12 inhibition in ANXA1 KO BMDM upon exposure to LPS if endogenous PPAR- $\gamma$  was involved. Prior to our investigation, we first examined WT BMDM responses to PPAR- $\gamma$ inhibitor GW9662 at 1 $\mu$ M, 3 $\mu$ M and 10 $\mu$ M levels as a pre-treatment prior to LPS exposure.

GW9662 alone inhibited the production of IL-12 in WT BMDM (Figure 4.11 a), indicating that PPAR- $\gamma$  may be involved in basal IL-12 production. When used as a pre-treatment to LPS, all doses of GW9662 reduces IL-12 production levels significantly (Figure 4.11 b). Although GW9662 is an inhibitor of PPAR- $\gamma$ , and despite being a PPAR- $\gamma$  specific antagonist, some action of its chemistry as molecular inhibitor may yet be unknown. Moreover, this decrease in IL-12 level upon pre-treatment with GW9662 prior to exposure to LPS is consistent with findings in other laboratories (Zhang *et al.*, 2004).



Figure 4.11. WT BMDM response to GW9662 treatment. GW9662 (GW) was given as a pre-treatment 1 h prior to addition of LPS to samples. \*\* denotes p<0.01, \*\*\* denotes p<0.001 when compared to DMSO only (for PGJ<sub>2</sub> treatment alone) or LPS only (for PGJ<sub>2</sub> + LPS treatment). "n.d." denotes "not detected", i.e. below detection limit of IL-12 ELISA kit. Results shown is a representative among three biological repeats (n=3).

## 4.3.4. Inhibiting PPAR-γ reverses ANXA1-KO IL-12 inhibition

We next examined ANXA1 KO BMDM and its response after pretreatment with GW9662 prior to LPS exposure. Similar to wild-type macrophages, ANXA1 KO BMDM did not produce any IL-12 upon treatment with GW9662 alone, at all concentrations investigated.

Upon treatment with 1  $\mu$ M of GW9662 prior to LPS exposure, ANXA1 KO BMDM exhibited a significant increase in IL-12 production compared to ANXA1 KO BMDM exposed only to LPS, albeit being lower in production compared to its wild-type counterparts in both LPS treatment alone samples and 1  $\mu$ M GW9662 + LPS. This was also observed for 3  $\mu$ M GW9662 treatment before LPS exposure, but the difference of IL-12 production between LPS treated and 1  $\mu$ M GW9662 with LPS treated ANXA1 KO BMDM was not as marked, but remained significantly different (p<0.05). Pre-treatment with 1 $\mu$ M GW9662 before LPS increased IL-12 production level in ANXA1 KO BMDM compared to LPS treatment alone (Figure 4.12).



Figure 4.12. ANXA1 KO BMDM response to low dose of GW9662 treatment (1  $\mu$ M). GW9662 was given as a pre-treatment 1 hour prior to addition of LPS to samples. \*\* denotes p<0.01 compared to WT. Results shown is a representative among three biological repeats (n=3).

As GW9662 is an inhibitor of PPAR- $\gamma$  and PPAR- $\gamma$  is an inhibitor of NF- $\kappa$ B, further analysis was required to visualize the effect of GW9662 on ANXA1 KO BMDM. To do so, the same method of analysis for percentage of inhibition of IL-12 done in PGJ<sub>2</sub> was employed. IL-12 production is enhanced at 1  $\mu$ M GW9662 upon treatment with LPS (Figure 4.13). The result is consistent with the hypothesis that PPAR- $\gamma$  is regulated by ANXA1, since inhibition of PPAR- $\gamma$  in ANXA1 KO BMDM causes enhancement of IL-12 production. This result demonstrates that PPAR- $\gamma$  regulates IL-12 production after stimulation with LPS, and ANXA1 regulates PPAR- $\gamma$ .



Figure 4.13. Percentage inhibition of IL-12 production after LPS stimulation with 1  $\mu$ M GW9662 pre-treatment. \*\*\* denotes p < 0.05 compared to WT. Results shown is a representative among three biological repeats (n=3).

### 4.3.5. Investigating a clinically relevant synthetic PPAR-γ ligand

Despite PGJ<sub>2</sub> showing a promising side in the likely involvement of PPAR- $\gamma$  in deficiency of cytokine / chemokine production in ANXA1 KO macrophages at small doses of PGJ<sub>2</sub> (1  $\mu$ M), it remains in question whether such observation is unique to the ligand PGJ<sub>2</sub>. We investigated if other synthetically derived ligands used clinically may also be capable of showing that ANXA1 inhibit PPAR- $\gamma$  activity during IL-12 production upon exposure to LPS. Troglitazone (commercially known as Rezulin) was once a popular PPAR- $\gamma$  agonist in the anti-diabetes market until its sale was prohibited for liver toxicity (Penumetcha and Santanam, 2012).

Troglitazone by itself did not induce noticeable IL-12 production in both wild-type and ANXA1 KO macrophages (Figure 4.14). Clinically relevant doses of 10  $\mu$ M troglitazone show significant inhibition of IL-12 production in wild-type but not ANXA1 KO BMDM when compared to production levels during LPS treatment alone. This result was consistent with observation made on PGJ<sub>2</sub> in this study. Therefore this result also supports the hypothesis that ANXA1 controls IL-12 production through the regulation of PPAR- $\gamma$ .



Figure 4.14. Wild-type and ANXA1 KO macrophage response to PPAR- $\gamma$  troglitazone as a pre-treatment 1 hour prior to addition of LPS. \* denotes p < 0.05, \*\* denotes p < 0.01 and "n.s." denotes "no significant difference", i.e. p > 0.05. Results shown is a representative among three biological repeats (n=3).

### 4.4. Chapter 4 conclusion

Macrophage polarization is a good prognosticating tool in the study of macrophages which show impairment in several spectrums of cytokine / chemokine production pathways. This has been particularly useful to identify ANXA1 as a novel regulator of macrophage polarization.

This chapter demonstrated several key influences ANXA1 has on macrophage polarization. ANXA1 is a regulator of both NF- $\kappa$ B and IRF-3 transcription factors, which are important regulators of M1 polarization. Also, ANXA1 does not partake in IFN- $\gamma$  activated STAT-1 pathway. Moreover, ANXA1 is a strong suppressor for M2 polarization in macrophages. Finally, we showed that PPAR- $\gamma$  is involved in the inhibition of IL-12 in ANXA1 KO macrophages. These results are summarized in Figure 4.15.



Figure 4.15. ANXA1 influences both M1 and M2 polarization. This diagram summarizes the overall picture of the involvement of ANXA1 in macrophage polarization. ANXA1 is important for activating transcription factors NF-κB and IRF-3, but is not associated with STAT-1 activation. Moreover, ANXA1 also influences M2 polarization, as absence of ANXA1 causes upregulation of expression in M2 markers Arginase-1 and YM-1 (Infographic by Shu Shin La).

## **CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION**

Sepsis is one of the most challenging bacteria-related conditions worldwide, and is the leading cause of death in patients with multi-organ failure

(Rittirsch *et al.*, 2012). It is also the major cause of death in neonates younger than six months: an estimated one million neonates worldwide die in a year from sepsis (Wynn and Wong, 2010). In U.K.,  $\sim$ 30% of adults admitted to intensive care unit meet the severe sepsis criteria (Padkin *et al.*, 2003). In U.S. alone, more than 10 million patients were affected by sepsis between 1979 through 2000 (Martin *et al.*, 2003) and annual total cost for the treatment of sepsis exceeds \$16 billion annually (Angus *et al.*, 2001).

Sepsis is a continuum beginning with a host-pathogen interaction that triggers and interplay between pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory mediators, and ending with an overly activated inflammatory response which then overwhelms the host (Rackow *et al.*, 1991). TLR activation by microbial infection such as bacteria, viruses and fungi is a key component in the outcome of sepsis (Tsujimoto *et al.*, 2008; Weighardt and Holzmann, 2007). Mice lacking key signaling adaptor proteins for TLR activation such as MyD88<sup>-/-</sup> and TRIF<sup>-/-</sup> mice do not die of septic shock, purportedly due to reduced inflammatory burden and cytokine production during microbial invasion (Reim *et al.*, 2011; Feng *et al.*, 2011).

There are certain subsets of immune cells linked to sepsis: notably macrophages, a dominant sentinel found at initial sites of infection, a major source of many cytokines involved in immune response (Cavaillon, 1994; Holgate, 2000; Hume, 2000; Scull *et al.*, 2010).

The innate immune system is evolutionarily conserved to provide first line of defense and host protection against invading microbial pathogens. Initially identified through Toll, a unique protein from fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* which showed participation in innate immune responses, homologues of Toll, termed Toll-like receptors (TLRs) found in mammals were also demonstrated to recognize PAMPs and elicit innate immune responses through induction of inflammatory cytokines (Akira *et al.*, 2001). Since the discovery of TLRs, many studies have joined or segregated the intracellular signaling pathway of TLRs to the activation of NF-κB, a transcription factor extensively involved in the regulation of innate immunity and inflammation (Hoffmann, 2003; Medzhitov *et al.*, 1997).

The most frequently activated form of NF-κB in TLR signalling is a heterodimer composed on RelA (p65) and p50 (Poltorak *et al.*, 1998). This heterodimer is kept in its latent state through the interaction with the inhibitor,s IκB. Stimulation of TLR triggers the phosphorylation of Inhibitor of κB (IκB) by IκB kinase (IKK) complex signaling the degredation of IκB by poly-ubiquitination. NF-κB is released from inhibition by IκB, allowing for RelA and p50 heterodimer to begin transcription by translocating into the nucleus. The IKK complex therefore indirectly regulates NF-κB. The IKK complex is made of IKK-α and IKK-β which is important for the activation of NF-κB signaling, and a NF-κB essential modifier (NEMO or IKK-γ) which acts as a regulatory component of IKK complex (Medzhitov *et al.*, 1997). We have recently shown that ANXA1 can interact with members of the NF-κB family, such as NF-kappa-B essential modulator (NEMO) or IKK-γ as well as Receptor interacting protein 1 (RIP1), a signaling molecule important in the activation of NF- $\kappa$ B (Bist *et al*, 2011). Therefore, in this project, we placed emphasis on deciphering the roles of ANXA1 in innate immunity.

Activation of innate immunity is an important step towards antigenspecific acquired immunity development. Among pattern recognition receptors, TLRs are tasked to perform this specific role of activating innate immune response. Recognition of microbial pattern products by TLRs triggers TLR signaling pathways regulated by intracellular adaptors.

TLRs trigger downstream signaling cascade by recruiting specific combination of TIR domain-containing adaptors such as MyD88, MyD88 adaptor-like (MAL), TRIF and TRIF-related adaptor molecule (TRAM) (Takeda and Akira, 2005; Takeuchi et al., 1999). Among these adaptor proteins, MyD88 is the sole adaptor used by TLR5, TLR7 and TLR9. TLR2 and TLR4 also uses adaptor protein MyD88, although not as much as other adaptor proteins like Toll/Interleukin-1 receptor adaptor protein (TIRAP), TRIF and TRAM. (Takeuchi et al., 200; Ozinsky et al., 2000; Alexopoulou et al., 2001; Hayashi et al., 2001; Zhang et al., 2004; Yarovinsky et al., 2005; Hemmi et al., 2002). Only TLR3 specifically uses TRIF for signaling, and is independent of MyD88 signaling (Hayashi et al., 2001; Alexopoulou et al., 2001). Therefore activation of MyD88 is synonymous with TLR activation in all TLR except for TLR3, for activation of NF-kB, leading to the induction of inflammatory cytokine genes (Kawai and Akira, 2005). This leads to the notion of TLR signaling being largely segregated into two discrete pathways: the MyD88-dependent and the TRIF-dependent pathways. In this study, we focused on TLR agonists CpG DNA (CpG1826), poly (I:C) and LPS that

initiates TLR signal transduction through MyD88, TRIF- and both MyD88 and TRIF respectively. CpG 1826 activates TLR9 transduction of downstream signal solely through MyD88 adaptor protein. On the other hand, poly (I:C) ,a TLR3 agonist activates downstream pathway through TRIF adaptor protein. LPS is capable to sending downstream signals through both TLR 3 and 4, thus utilizing both MyD88 and TRIF adaptor proteins to relay downstream signals for activation of immune cell response.

The MyD88 adaptor protein is composed of a Toll/Interleukin-1 receptor (TIR) domain and a death domain. The death domain is used for interaction with Interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase 1 (IRAK) family of protein kinases, namely IRAK1, IRAK2, IRAK4 and IRAK-M (Takeda and Akira, 2005). Function of IRAK2 remains unclear (Kawai and Akira, 2007). IRAK4 is initially activated by MyD88, which in turn phosphorylates IRAK1, forming a temporal complex between IRAK1, IRAK 4 and MyD88. IRAK-M is believed to inhibit release of IRAK1 and IRAK4 from MyD88, thus inhibiting signal transuction (Diebold et al., 2004). Alterantively, IRAK1 and IRAK4 are released from MyD88 upon their phosphorylation and interact with NEMO through another adaptor protein, TRAF6. This occurs by ubiquitination of NEMO at lysine 63 residue by TRAF6 (Heil et al., 2004, Heil et al., 2003), causing the recruitment of TAK1 and TAB (Heil et al., 2004), which then activates two downstream pathways, the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway and the MAPK pathway (Kawai and Akira, 2007). Our lab has previously published a report detailing the interaction of ANXA1 with IKK complex through NEMO, and that ANXA1 is important to the recruitment of RIP-1 to
the IKK complex, which is critical for activation of NF- $\kappa$ B (Meylan *et al.*, 2004; Bist *et al.*, 2011

NF-kB plays an important role in the regulation of variety of genes involved in inflammatory immune response (Ghosh et al., 1998). The active form of NF- $\kappa B$  is composed of NF- $\kappa B/Rel$  family members in homo- and hetero- dimers. In the cytoplasm, NF- $\kappa$ B exists as an inactive form that is bound to a family of inhibiting molecules I-kappa-B (IKB), consisting of three subunits, namely  $I\kappa B-\alpha$ ,  $I\kappa B-\beta$  and  $I\kappa B-\varepsilon$  (Fumiko *et al.*, 2000). Activation of NF-κB requires the phosphorylation of IkB, which is followed by the polyubiquitination degradation of IkB by 26S proteasome. The dissociation of IkB from NF-kB due to the phosphorylation of I $\kappa$ B allow NF- $\kappa$ B complex to be released and translocated into the nucleus, which cuases upregulation of myriad genes involved in pro-inflammatory cytokine response (Baeuerle and Henkel, 1994; Verma et al., 1995; Baeuerle and Baltimore, 1996). Due to the nature of inhibitory mechanism by  $I\kappa B$  family which controls the activation of NF- $\kappa B$ , the activator of IkB complex, kinases responsible for IkB phosphorylation is an upstream epicentre for control of NF- $\kappa$ B activity, i.e. the I $\kappa$ B kinases or IKK complex. Our lab has shown that ANXA1 can positively regulate NF-κB activity in breast cancer cells. Therefore, we hypothesized that ANXA1 could also positively regulate NF-KB activity in macrophages stimulated with TLR agonists. However, through our initial studies, we determined that ANXA1 could regulate LPS but not CpG DNA-stimulated cytokine production, demonstrating that the MyD88-dependent pathway was not regulated by ANXA1. Therefore, as LPS also triggers the MyD88-independent pathway, or the TRIF-dependent pathway, we determined if ANXA1 could activate TRIF

signaling to regulate NF- $\kappa$ B activation. IRF-3 is also dependent on NEMO (IKK- $\gamma$ ) for TLR3 mediated immunity (Audry *et al.*, 2011), and we hypothesized that ANXA1 may regulate NF- $\kappa$ B through TRIF. Indeed, ANXA1 regulated NF- $\kappa$ B p65 nuclear translocation in response to poly(I:C) but not LPS, indicating that TRIF-dependent NF- $\kappa$ B activation, and not MYD88-dependent NF- $\kappa$ B activation is regulated by ANXA1.

The adaptor protein TRIF links TLR3 and TLR4 to IRF-3, an anti-viral transcription factor, through TBK-1 recruitment and phosphorylation of IRF-3 by TBK1. This induces IRF-3 to dimerize and translocate into the nucleus, triggering transcription of type 1 interferons (IFN- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\beta$ ) (Sugimoto et al., 2004). Another adaptor protein that links TRIF and TBK1 is TRAF3. TRAF3 deficient mice fail to induce IFN-β response when stimulated with TLR3 and TLR4 ligands (Kawai et al., 1999; Theofilopoulos et al., 2005). Therefore TLR3 and TLR4 use the TRIF pathway to induce INF-β to develop an antiviral state. This activation of TRIF dependent pathway is independent of MyD88 pathway, as evidenced by the impairment of TLR3 and TLR4 ligand induced activation only observed in TRIF deficient mice but not in MyD88 deficient mice (Alexopoulou et al., 2001; Yarovinsky et al., 2003). We demonstrate that ANXA1 is required for IRF-3 to translocate into the nucleus to initiate macrophage activation after stimulation with LPS or poly (I:C), and other data from our lab also show that ANXA1 can control IRF-3 phosphorylation, in ANXA1 deficient macrophages which exhibit impaired phosphorylation and dimerization of IRF-3. In addition, surface activation markers MHCII and CD86 on macrophages from ANXA1 KO mice show an attenuated activation profile after LPS or poly (I:C) treatment. This data implies that ANXA1 can activate IRF-3 in the MyD88-independent or TRIFdependent pathway, which is possibly responsible for the impairment of IL-12 and IP-10 production in ANXA1 KO macrophages.

The TRIF adaptor protein can also activate NF- $\kappa$ B, but as a late phase response. TRIF directly binds to TRAF6, purportedly linking MyD88 and TRIF in early response (Lund *et al.*, 2003; Coban *et al.*, 2005), but a detailed study that followed TRAF6 activity concluded that TRAF6 is dispensible for TRIF-dependent NF- $\kappa$ B activation (Gohda *et al.*, 2004). Therefore the activation of NF- $\kappa$ B by TRIF is more likely through an auto-feedback loop derived from the production of type-I antiviral response (Du *et al.*, 2007; Pfeffer, 2011). It may be possible that ANXA1 plays a role in the cross-talk between the MyD88 and TRIF pathways, but this needs to be investigated further.

Therefore, the TLR agonists chosen in this study stimulate two distinct signaling mechanisms: MyD88 dependent and TRIF dependent pathways. This draws a clear division for the role of ANXA1 in TLR agonist-induced cytokine production. IL-12 / IP-10 production was only significantly inhibited in the ANXA1 KO when LPS and poly (I:C) treatment was given, but not after exposure to CpG 1826. This highlights the importance of ANXA1 in TRIF-dependent pathway, but not TLR2 activated MYD88-dependent pathway. The impairment of TLR 3 and 4 dependent IL-12 / IP-10 production is not a unique phenotype to ANXA1 KO macrophages- it was previously reported that macrophages from MyD88 deficient mice are incapable of producing cytokines in response to TLR3 and TLR4 agonists.(Yamamoto *et al.*, 2003). IL-12 production is completely abrogated in MyD88-deficient mice

administered with LPS, and they do not undergo endotoxin shock (Kawai *et al.*, 1999). This highlights the importance of MyD88 as an adaptor protein in cytokine production, in particular IL-12. On the other hand, IP-10 levels are shown to be impaired in TRIF-deficient mice compared to wild-type mice, indicating the relevance of TRIF adaptor protein in IP-10 production during TLR dependent activation (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2002). As both IL-12 and IP-10 levels are impaired, the result implicates ANXA1 in both MyD88 dependent and TRIF dependent pathways. It is however, more akin to what was observed in TRIF knockout mice, where both TLR3 and TLR4 mediated responses were impaired, once again suggesting that ANXA1 is important for TRIF-dependent IL-12 and IP-10 production.

This study has demonstrated that although IL-12 production was impaired in ANXA1 KO PM when compared to WT after treatment with LPS, there was no significant difference in IL-6 production between WT PM and ANXA1 KO PM after treatment with LPS. This may be due to the specificity of IL-6 to the MyD88 pathway, i.e. MyD88 deficient mice is unresponsive to LPS and does not produce IL-6 (Kawai et al., 1999). In contrast, IL-12 is a cytokine produce in synergy with both MyD88 and TRIF pathway, i.e. TRIF pathway can also trigger IL-12 production (Krummen et al., 2010). As this study proposes that ANXA1 KO PM exhibit impaired TRIF dependent response, therefore the impairment of IL-12 production is a TRIF specific pathway impairment, compared to IL-6 that is solely MyD88 dependent in production.

Yang *et al.*, (2009) and Yona *et al.*, (2006) investigated IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  levels in ANXA1 KO macrophages after LPS stimulation, and both cytokines were shown to be increased compared to wild-type macrophages. However, in this study the TNF- $\alpha$  mRNA expression was observed to be higher in ANXA1 KO than wild-type macrophages, yet no difference was observed for IL-6 level between wild-type and ANXA1 KO macrophages. The result suggests that MyD88 pathway may be intact and that IL-12 impairment may be due to impairment of pathways independent of MyD88, since IL-6 is a MyD88 dependent cytokine (Kawai *et al.*, 1999). Significant IL-6 production was observed after treatment with poly (I:C) or LPS. The result is similar with findings from other reports (Meng and Lowell, 1997; Bae *et al.*, 2010). Interestingly CpG 1826 did not cause noticeable IL-6 production, consistent with other studies based on CpG 1826 (Yasuda *et al.*, 2004).

The importance of finding that ANXA1 regulates TRIF pathway is particularly evident when it is juxtaposed with the results of a study that revealed TRIF pathway activation to be responsible for 74.4% of the LPSinduced transcriptome in murine macrophages (Björkbacka *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, steady state neutrophil homeostasis is found to be dependent on TLR4 and TRIF signaling pathway (Bugl *et al.*, 2012), hinting on the potential interaction that remains to be discovered between ANXA1 and TRIF in neutrophils, since ANXA1 is found to be highly expressed in neutrophils and is dependent on ANXA1 for neutrophil extravasation (Lim *et al.*, 1998). Further, TRIF pathway activation was also identified to be essential for differentiation of dendritic cells and mobilization to the lymph nodes during bacterial infection studies in mice (Cheng *et al.*, 2010). More importantly, identifying new regulators of TRIF pathway can directly impact sepsis

were found have upregulated in the expression of TRIF-dependent genes such as IFN- $\beta$ , CCL5 and IP-10 (Shalova *et al.*, 2012).

IRF-3 requires phosphorylation by IKK-ε of the IKK complex and TBK1 (Fitzgerald *et al.*, 2003; Nomura *et al.*, 2000) in order to translocate into the nucleus. In human macrophages, TBK1 and IKK-ε are involved in directing LPS induced IFN-β transcription and activation (Solis *et al.*, 2007). Our lab has unpublished data that ANXA1 KO macrophages show delayed kinetics in TBK1 phosphorylation and activation when compared to WT (unpublished data). TBK1 may be responsible for the impaired IRF-3 nuclear localization in ANXA1 KO PM. TBK1 is important in NF-κB signaling as macrophages from TBK1 -/- mice exhibit reduced NF-κB directed transcription caused by ablation of IFN-β production. Interestingly, ANXA1 KO mice exhibit similar phenotype as TBK1 KO mice in terms of LPS induced lethality (Marchilk *et al.*, 2010). It therefore suggests a direct role of TBK1 in the regulation of TRIF dependent pathway through ANXA1.

After confirming that ANXA1 is required for cytokine production in response to LPS and poly (I:C), it was important to determine surface activation markers of macrophages after TLR agonist stimulation to determine the capacity of ANXA1 KO macrophages to activate adaptive immune response. MHCII and CD86 were chosen as activation markers for macrophages. MHCII interacts with the T-cell receptor (TCR) of the CD4<sup>+</sup> T-helper cells while CD86 binds and prime the T cells against presented antigens (Blander, 2008). The role of ANXA1 as a regulator of T cell activation was established previously (D'Acquisto, 2007). Our study showed that a substantial proportion of ANXA1 KO macrophages are not activated

after stimulation when compared to WT macrophages, demonstrating that ANXA1 is required for proper macrophage activation in response to TLR stimulation.

Furthermore, macrophages secrete cytokines which affect B cell activation. Although B cells do possess TLRs and are capable of being activated directly by TLR agonists such as LPS and CpG (Kim *et al.*, 2012), B cells are, in most cases, downstream of macrophage activation during initial stages of pathogen invasion (Cerutti *et al.*, 2012). Upon analysis of B cell activation by TLR agonists, our data showed that a subset population in ANXA1 KO B cells are either not capable of being activated or is not activated enough to express surface markers such as CD69. This is interesting as B cells from MyD88-deficient mice also exhibited similar unresponsiveness to LPS response (Kawai *et al.*, 1999). The only other study that investigated B-cells in relation to ANXA1 was a study for non-Hodgkin's lymphomas, and it was shown that ANXA1 expression is completely abrogated in these lymphomas, when ANXA1 is expressed in healthy B cells (Vishwanatha *et al.*, 2004).

Exposure to live pathogens provide a better understanding to whether our results are agonist-specific observations or if defects are also persistent in live sepsis. Live *Escherichia coli (E. coli)* DH5 $\alpha$  bacteria were cultured with macrophages overnight. While MyD88-dependent cytokines IL-12 and IL-6 production were not observed to be different between ANXA1 KO and wildtype macrophages, the TRIF dependent chemokines IP-10 is regulated by ANXA1. This once again highlights impairment in the TRIF-dependent pathway which is activated by TLR4. These results provide more clinical relevance to the results obtained, associating ANXA1 with clinical sepsis. Damazo *et al.*, previously demonstrated that ANXA1 is negatively involved in sepsis, where ANXA1 KO mice exhibit greater lethality to LPS (Damazo *et al.*, 2005), and TNF levels were found to be enhanced. However, it was previously not known if the TRIF-dependent cytokines were affected by LPS. Our results here extend the studies above, demonstrating that ANXA1 can positively regulate TRIF-dependent cytokine production such as IP-10, in response to LPS.

To examine the relevance of ANXA1 in TRIF dependent activity *in vivo*, TRIF dependent cytokine and chemokine response was investigated after intraperitoneal injection of poly (I:C) in mice. Not surprisingly, there is a drastic down regulation of TRIF dependent genes such as IFN- $\beta$  and IP-10, and this phenotype is consistent with TRIF knockout mice (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2003). IFN- $\beta$  regulation is directly dependent on IRF-3 activation, and when taken into discussion together with the evidence that ANXA1 KO has impaired nuclear localization of IRF-3, further supports the notion that ANXA1 is directly involved in regulating the TRIF pathway through activation and translocation of IRF-3. Therefore, our *in vivo* study also supports the conclusion that ANXA1 regulates TRIF dependent pathway.

The study has demonstrated that the serum levels of IFN- $\beta$  in ANXA1 KO mice after intraperitoneal injection of poly (I:C) is significantly inhibited at 4 h when compared WT mice, but not IFN- $\alpha$ . IRF-3 activates the transcription of IFN- $\beta$  but not IFN- $\alpha$ , while regulation of IFN- $\alpha$  is mainly through IRF-7 (Conzelmann, 2005). This result further establishes the role of ANXA1 as a regulator specifically for the TRIF/IRF-3 pathway.

TRIF dependent pathway is activated through the recognition of viral RNA by TLR3. Since increased IP-10 production is a marker for better therapeutic outcome during viral infection (Lagging *et al.*, 2006), *in vivo* studies in ANXA1 KO mice should likely give a better survival outcome during viral burden compared to wild-type mice. There is currently no literature on ANXA1 KO macrophages or plasmacytoid dendritic cells co-cultured with virus. As ANXA1 KO macrophages show impaired TRIF response, the data strongly suggests that ANXA1 is an important regulator of anti-viral response mediated through TRIF pathway. It may also be possible that ANXA1 plays a regulatory role in suppressing anti-viral response through another anti-viral pathway, independent of TRIF adaptor protein activity, such as RIG-I.

Nuclear localization of NF- $\kappa$ B is considered a hallmark of NF- $\kappa$ B activation. In WT PM, nuclear localization of NF- $\kappa$ B is observed after 1h of stimulation with LPS (Figure 5.1 a). LPS induces signal transduction to activate NF- $\kappa$ B through the activation of TLR4 and the subsequent downstream signalling pathway induced by the adaptor protein MyD88. However, in ANXA1 KO PM, nuclear localization of NF- $\kappa$ B is impaired after stimulation with LPS for 1 h. This is consistent with the previous report from our lab that demonstrated the binding of ANXA1 to IKK-g (NEMO) and requirement of ANXA1 for activation of the phosphorylation of IkB by IKK complex (Bist et al., 2011). Therefore ANXA1 KO PM exhibits an impairment of NF- $\kappa$ B activation and nuclear localization due to the absence of ANXA1 to bind and activate IKK-g to drive downstream activation of NF- $\kappa$ B (Figure 5.1 b).

This study has also dissected the TLR pathway by investigating TRIF specific TLR3 agonist poly (I:C). In WT PM, stimulation of endosomal TLR3 with poly (I:C) triggers TRIF dependent cascade that activates IRF-3 nuclear localization, an important step in the activation of transcription factor IRF-3 (Figure 5.1 c). LPS is also capable of activating TRIF dependent IRF-3 nuclear translocation and activation, through the TRIF adaptor protein that can bind and be activated directly by TLR4.

In ANXA1 KO PM, the nuclear translocation of IRF-3 is impaired after treatment with poly (I:C). This is consistent with the our lab data that ANXA1 KO PM has inhibited TBK1 phosphorylation, which is required for the phosphorylation and dimerization of IRF-3 and its nuclear translocation (unpublished data). NF- $\kappa$ B nuclear translocation is unaffected, likely through the signalling adaptor protein TRAF6. TRAF6 -/- mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) exhibit completely abolished poly (I:C) induced NF- $\kappa$ B activation (Jiang et al., 2004). Therefore, this study suggests that signal transduction from TRIF is impaired but not MyD88 or TRAF6 (Figure 5.1 d).







Figure 5.1. Proposed mechanism behind ANXA1 regulating nuclear translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B and IRF-3, after stimulation with LPS or poly (I:C). a) Proposed mechanism for transcription of NF- $\kappa$ B and IRF-3 in WT PM after LPS stimulation. b) Proposed mechanism for transcription of NF- $\kappa$ B and IRF-3 in ANXA1 KO PM after LPS stimulation. c) Proposed mechanism for transcription of NF- $\kappa$ B and IRF-3 in WT PM after poly (I:C) stimulation. d) Proposed mechanism for transcription of NF- $\kappa$ B and IRF-3 in ANXA1 KO PM after poly (I:C) stimulation.

Macrophage polarization studies require a naïve subset of macrophages that are not specifically skewed towards any particular phenotype. PM were generated using elicitation of macrophages to peritoneal cavity with thioglycollate injection, and this may affect macrophage polarization study, even if they are not activated macrophages. The use of BMDM resolves this issue as macrophages are grown directly on tissue culture dish from its progenitor monocytes and therefore does not undergo any form of stimulation that may skew the macrophages permanently towards a particular phenotype. Interestingly, our data shows that ANXA1 KO bone marrow derived macrophages show similar defects in cytokine production after LPS exposure. This indicates that the impairment of TLR- dependent pro-inflammatory response in macrophages in absence of ANXA1 is not simply an observation specific to activated or thioglycollate elicited peritoneal macrophages, but a defect which impairs macrophage potential at pre-monocytic lineage level. In addition, this data suggest that the regulation of cytokine production by ANXA1 is not due to other immune cell such as T-cells or B-cells which is known to modulate macrophage response by altering its activation after thioglycollate elicitation.

Macrophage polarization is the classification of diverse macrophage phenotypes into two distinct dipolar states mirroring the T helper Type I (Th1)-T helper type 2 (Th2) polarization. Classically activated macrophages are classified as M1 on one end of the spectrum, while alternatively activated macrophages are classified as M2, representing the other end of spectrum of macrophage gene expression profile (Mantovani *et al.*, 2002; Mantovani *et al.*, 2008; Mosser *et al.*, 2008). M1 macrophages are generally considered potent effector cells that produce copious amounts of pro-inflammatory cytokines. In contrast, M2 macrophages are able to tune inflammatory responses, adaptive Th2 immunity and promote tissue repair (Mantovani *et al.*, 2002)

TLR engagement leads to activation of NF-κB and inflammatory mediators associated with M1 macrophages (Bonizzi *et al.*, 2004). Alternatively activated (M2) macrophages show defective NF-κB activation in response to different pro-inflammatory signals (Sica *et al.*, 2000; Sica *et al.*, 2006; Saccani *et al.*, 2006). The defective NF-κB activation in M2 macrophages correlates with impaired expression of NF-κB dependent inflammatory function such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-12 (Mantovani *et al.*, 2002). Indeed, it may be possible that ANXA1 deficient macrophages are more skewed towards an M2 phenotype which release less pro-inflammatory cytokines.

Our study has examined the effect of ANXA1 on three major transcription activation pathways (MyD88/NF- $\kappa$ B, TRIF/IRF-3, IFN- $\gamma$ /STAT-1), through the use of ANXA1 KO macrophages. The NF- $\kappa$ B inhibitor BAY-11 (which acts through inhibition of I $\kappa$ B kinase) was shown to affect IL-12 production only in wild-type macrophages, but not ANXA1 KO macrophages.

This gave an indication that ANXA1 KO macrophages were either resistant to NF-KB inhibition, or that ANXA1-regulated IL-12 production is NF-KB dependent. This may seem to be contradicting several articles that suggest ANXA1 is an inhibitor of NF-kB activity (Wang et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2010), as these studies correlated an increase in ANXA1 with the antiinflammatory activity of ANXA1. However, there are new studies that suggest ANXA1 may not be a completely anti-inflammatory molecule. In a recent study, cleaved N-terminus of ANXA1 was demonstrated to play an antiinflammatory role while C-terminus end of truncated ANXA1 played a proinflammatory role which activated ERK activity and up regulated ICAM-1 clustering around adherent neutrophils and anchor them to the endothelium, thus promoting transmigration (Williams et al., 2010). Our result therefore supports a more homeostatic role ANXA1 plays at endogenous level than what was previously perceived of ANXA1, and that it is not an "antiinflammatory bullet". In other words, a high concentration of ANXA1 induced by anti-inflammatory drugs may inhibit NF-kB, while a low homeostatic concentration of ANXA1 may regulate proper cytokine production during inflammation.

We also investigated the nitric oxide production level of macrophages, as they are a major source of inflammatory nitric oxide producer during inflammatory processes. We demonstrated that nitric oxide levels in ANXA1 KO macrophages are significantly attenuated in both poly (I:C) and LPS stimulation, indicating that ANXA1 regulates NO production. As M1 polarization also involves the extent of NO production, this shows that ANXA1 may affect M1 polarization in more ways than one, and it also

presents novel data on nitric oxide regulation in ANXA1 KO macrophages, which is consistent with the other studies which overexpressed ANXA1 and showed a concomitant increase in iNOS expression level (Roviezzo *et al.*, 2002; Smyth *et al.*, 2006).

STAT-1 is an important element in IRF-3 signaling. Canonical IRF-3/STAT-1 signaling pathway is critical for skewing macrophage polarization to M1 (Sica et al., 2007), and STAT-1 plays a role in IRF-3 mediated IP-10 production (Kopydlowski et al., 1999; Toschchakov et al., 2002). Our study investigated whether STAT-1 activation status in ANXA1 KO and WT macrophages by measuring the phosphorylation of STAT-1. It was observed that the phosphorylation of STAT-1 is identical in both WT and ANXA1 KO macrophages, suggesting that STAT-1 is not regulated by ANXA1. To further establish that ANXA1 regulates TLR activation independently from STAT-1 dependent pathway, we examined the effect of IFN- $\gamma$  stimulation, as it is an important ligand for M1 polarization through STAT-1 activation. Upon stimulation with IFN- $\gamma$ , no difference in IL-12 production was observed between WT and ANXA1 KO macrophages. Hence, IFN-γ dependent STAT-1 activation is not regulated by ANXA1. This result presents strong evidence that the specificity of action by ANXA1 is TLR dependent, and not IFN- $\gamma$  or STAT-1 dependent. This however, does not mean ANXA1 is not related with the STAT family. N-terminal cleaved peptide of ANXA1 (Ac2-26) released by apoptotic cells has been shown to activate STAT-3 through formyl peptide receptor (Pupialis et al., 2011).

We also investigated if ANXA1 can affect M2 polarization. The determination of M2 polarization is complicated as there are not many M2

specific markers available to confirm the existence of M2 macrophages. YM1, FIZZ1 and arginase-1 (Arg1) were chosen as they are key markers for M2 polarization (Kurowska-stolarska et al., 2009; Arranz et al., 2012). In this study, ANXA1 KO macrophages were shown to be more M2 polarized as they expressed markedly higher levels of Arg1 and FIZZ-1 mRNA expression levels, indicating that ANXA1 either enhanced M1 polarization or inhibited M2 polarization. The Arg1 PCR data complement the results with NO production, where ANXA1 KO macrophages exhibit lower NO production during LPS treatment. A similar observation was reported in M2 polarized macrophages of Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate 5-phosphatase 1 (SHIP) deficient mice (ship -/-), where the ship-/- macrophages exhibited lower NO production and enhanced Arg1 expression (Rauh et al., 2005). IL12<sup>low</sup>, IL10<sup>high</sup> expressing macrophages are hallmarks of M2 polarized macrophages (Gordon et al., 2003; Mantovani et al., 2003; Mantovani et al., 2005; Mosser et al., 2003). Our data show that ANXA1 KO macrophages indeed exhibit low levels of IL-12 production suggesting that ANXA1 may be a modulator of macrophage polarization. It is possible that ANXA1 regulates M2 polarization which is capable of inhibiting M1 polarization (Briken and Mosser, 2011). Further study can be done to elucidate the exact role of ANXA1 in M2 polarization.

The significance of ANXA1 affecting macrophage polarization is farreaching as macrophages mediate a diverse spectrum of physiological and pathological disease outcome. Physiologically, M1 polarized macrophages can mediate tissue damage and inflammatory responses (Gordon and Martinez, 2010; Biswas and Mantovani, 2010). On the other hand, M2 phenotype macrophages are important for tissue damage recovery, as patients with severe burns have up regulated M2 polarized macrophages, and absence of M2 macrophages causes substantially increased formation of scar tissues in wounds (Lucas et al., 2010; Cairo et al., 2011). Pathologically, M1 macrophages are generally considered the key element responsible for resisting intracellular pathogens, such as Listeria monocytogenes (Shanghnessy et al., 2010), Salmonella typhi, Salmonella typhimurium (Jouanguy et al., 1999). Moreover, M1 macrophages are also important in resisting early phases of infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Chaon-Salinas et al., 2005), Mycobacterium ulcerans and Mycobacterium avium (Kiszewski et al., 2006; Murphy et al., 2006). With respect to M2 macrophages, there are parasites that favour M2 polarized macrophages. In experimental and human parasite infections, macrophages generally undergo M2 polarization switching (Noel et al., 2004; Babu et al., 2005). For example, late phases of *Taenia crassiceps* infection switches macrophages to M2 state (Murray and Wyunn, 2011; Brys et al., 2005) and similar observations are also reported in other parasitic infections such as Schistosoma mansoni and Trypanoma conglense infections (Pearce and MacDonald, 2002). M2 polarization affects disease outcome in viral infections and is important for reducing inflammation and epithelial damage in lungs (Shirey et al., 2010).

The clinical relevance of ANXA1 being a regulator of macrophage polarization should be investigated. While still in its infancy, therapeutic macrophage targeting exists. Macrophage control in therapeutic settings are done through the use of PPAR- $\gamma$  agonists, as several studies have established PPAR- $\gamma$  to be an important regulator of M2 polarization (Lu *et al.*, 2011; Stienstra *et al.*, 2008; Charo, 2007). Since this study has evidence to suggest ANXA1 as a regulator of M2 macrophage polarization, we hypothesized that ANXA1 could regulate PPAR- $\gamma$  induced cytokine production and that PPAR- $\gamma$  is involved in controlling the macrophage polarization phenotype observed in ANXA1 KO.

PPAR- $\gamma$  plays an important role in the differentiation, activation and regulation of inflammatory activities of macrophages (Yessoufou *et al.*, 2010; Nagy et al., 1998; Ricote et al., 1998; Ricote et al., 1999; Tontouoz et al., 1998; Jiang *et al.*, 1998). The role of PPAR- $\gamma$  in clinical disease is diverse. Patients with mutations in PPAR- $\gamma$  gene in the ligand binding domains manifested clinical syndromes such as severe insulin resistance, diabetes and hypertension (Barroso et al., 1999). Interestingly, macrophage foam cells express PPAR-  $\gamma$  in atherosclerotic plaques (Marx *et al.*, 1998; Ricote *et al.*, 1998). Thiazolidineones, a class of anti-diabetic drugs have high affinity for PPAR- $\gamma$ , and were developed for the treatment of type-2 diabetes as they were capable of lowering blood glucose levels (Lehman et al., 1995), significantly reducing vascular inflammation in non-diabetic patients (Meisner et al., 2006), and are frequently prescribed to patients with type 2 diabetes (Gerstein *et al.*, 2006; Kahn et al., 2006). However, a few of these drugs were taken off the market due to cardiovascular side-effects and complications (Penumetcha and Santanam, 2012). PPAR- $\gamma$  is also implicated in chronic autoimmune diseases. For example, PPAR- $\gamma$  is up-regulated in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (Palma *et al.*, 2012). It is also clinically relevant in other chronic diseases, in particular Alzheimer's disease (AD), where PPAR- $\gamma$  activation reduces AD

risk by as much as 80% (Heneka *et al.*, 2001; Kielian and Drew, 2003; Laridreth and Heneka, 2001; Mandreka-lolucci *et al.*, 2012).

The endogenous and natural ligand of PPAR- $\gamma$  is PGJ<sub>2</sub>, a downstream metabolite of the arachadonic acid pathway of inflammation and is known for its regulatory role of IL-12 inhibition (Azuma *et al.*, 2001). PGJ<sub>2</sub> is a prostaglandin produced through the enzymatic cleavage of membrane phospholipids by phospholipase A2 (PLA<sub>2</sub>) at the second carbon group of glycerol to produce arachidonic acid, which is further processed endogenously to form prostaglandins.

Our data show that  $PGJ_2$  induces small amounts of IL-12 at low doses, but inhibits IL-12 production after treatment with LPS in WT macrophages, similar to other studies (Drew and Chavis, 2001).

Endogenous level of prostaglandins such as  $PGJ_2$  is dictated by  $PLA_2$  activity. ANXA1 inhibits  $PLA_2$  and subsequently inhibits prostaglandin production (Flower and Blackwell, 1979). As ANXA1 inhibits the production of prostaglandins, PPAR- $\gamma$  activity in the cell during homeostasis is low and therefore PPAR- $\gamma$  does not inhibit NF- $\kappa$ B activity and IL-12 production in a WT BMDM (figure 5.2 a).

In our experiments, WT BMDM is capable of producing high levels of IL-12 after stimulation with LPS. However in ANXA1 KO BMDM, IL-12 production is impaired after stimulation with LPS when compared to WT BMDM.

In ANXA1 KO cells, PLA<sub>2</sub> activity is uninhibited, thereby causing the endogenous levels of prostaglandins such as PGJ<sub>2</sub> to be high. It is proposed that these endogenous PGJ<sub>2</sub> act as a ligand to activate PPAR- $\gamma$ , thus increasing PPAR- $\gamma$  activity in the cell, leading to the inhibition of NF- $\kappa$ B activity and IL-12 production (Figure 5.2 a). It was observed in this study that exogenous pre-treatment of PGJ<sub>2</sub> prior to LPS treatment does not show inhibit IL-12 production in ANXA1 KO. It is proposed that exogenous addition of PGJ<sub>2</sub> does not alter the level of PPAR- $\gamma$  as endogenous PGJ<sub>2</sub> level is already high (Figure 5.2 b).

To support these claims, GW9662, a PPAR-g specific inhibitor was used to examine whether ANXA1 KO BMDM exhibit inhibited IL-12 production due to increased endogenous PPAR- $\gamma$  activity. In line with our hypothesis, pre-treatment with GW9662 before LPS stimulation substantially reversed the inhibition of IL-12 production observed in ANXA1 KO BMDM when compared to WT BMDM. This observation is due to the inhibition of PGJ<sub>2</sub> activity which is high in ANXA1 KO, causing NF- $\kappa$ B activity to be enhanced, leading to a reversal of inhibition and therefore increased production of IL-12 compared to WT BMDM (Figure 5.2 c). Taken together, ANXA1 may regulate endogenous PPAR- $\gamma$  activity, but further experiments to quantify PPAR- $\gamma$  activity level in ANXA1 KO BMDM is required to validate the hypothesis. A possible experiment would be to measure the PPAR- $\gamma$ promoter activity level in ANXA1 KO BMDM after treatment with LPS and compare with WT BMDM, by using a luciferase reporter assay.

Further study needs to examine whether ANXA1 affects both PPAR-g dependent and PPAR-g independent activity of PGJ<sub>2</sub> (Hortelano *et al.*, 2000;

Tsubouchi *et al.*, 2001; Petrovaet *et al.*, 1999; Vaidya *et al.*, 1999). This is because a study has shown that  $PGJ_2$  has a unique ability to inhibit IL-12 production through the inhibition and modification of IKK2 subunit of the IKK complex, preventing the phosphorylation of the inhibitory I $\kappa$ B proteins (Rossi *et al.*, 2000).

In conclusion, this thesis has shown that ANXA1 is able to regulate IL-12/IP-10 production through TRIF dependent pathways by controlling NF- $\kappa$ B and IRF-3 translocation to the nucleus upon activation. ANXA1 is required for proper M1 polarization and suppression of M2 polarization, and PPAR- $\gamma$ activity in the production of IL-12 after LPS stimulation is regulated by ANXA1.







Figure 5.2. Proposed mechanism for the regulation of ANXA1 by PPAR- $\gamma$  with and without pre-treatment with PPAR- $\gamma$  agonist PGJ<sub>2</sub> and PPAR- $\gamma$  inhibitor GW9662. a) Proposed mechanism for endogenous control of PPAR- $\gamma$  by ANXA1 after LPS stimulation. b) Proposed mechanism during exogenous pre-treatment of PGJ<sub>2</sub> before LPS stimulation. c) Proposed mechanism during pre-treatment of GW9662 before LPS stimulation. Infographic by Shu Shin La.

## 6. REFERENCES

- Abraham, E., Anzueto, A., Gutierrez, G., Tessler, S., San Pedro, G., Wunderink, R., Dal Nogare, A., Nasraway, S., Berman, S., Cooney, R., Levy, H., Baughman, R., Rumbak, M., Light, R.B., Poole, L., Allred, R., Constant, J., Pennington, J., and Porter, S. (1998). "Double-Blind Randomised Controlled Trial of Monoclonal Antibody to Human Tumour Necrosis Factor in Treatment of Septic Shock. Norasept Ii Study Group." Lancet 351.9107: 929-33.
- Abraham, E., Wunderink, R., Silverman, H., Perl, T.M., Nasraway, S., Levy, H., Bone, R., Wenzel, R.P., Balk, R., Allred, R., and et al. (1995). "Efficacy and Safety of Monoclonal Antibody to Human Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha in Patients with Sepsis Syndrome. A Randomized, Controlled, Double-Blind, Multicenter Clinical Trial. Tnf-Alpha Mab Sepsis Study Group." JAMA 273.12: 934-41.
- Adorini, L. (1997). "Antigen-Based Immunointervention in Autoimmune Diseases." Res Immunol 148.6: 419-20.
- Akira, S. (2003). "Toll-Like Receptor Signaling." J Biol Chem 278.40: 38105-8.
- Akira, S., Takeda, K., and Kaisho, T. (2001). "Toll-Like Receptors: Critical Proteins Linking Innate and Acquired Immunity." Nat Immunol 2.8: 675-80.
- Akira, S., Uematsu, S., and Takeuchi, O. (2006). "Pathogen Recognition and Innate Immunity." Cell 124.4: 783-801.
- Alexopoulou, L., Holt, A.C., Medzhitov, R., and Flavell, R.A. (2001). "Recognition of Double-Stranded Rna and Activation of Nf-Kappab by Toll-Like Receptor 3." Nature 413.6857: 732-8.
- Alldridge, L.C., Harris, H.J., Plevin, R., Hannon, R., and Bryant, C.E. (1999). "The Annexin Protein Lipocortin 1 Regulates the Mapk/Erk Pathway." J Biol Chem 274.53: 37620-8.
- Alleva, D.G., Johnson, E.B., Lio, F.M., Boehme, S.A., Conlon, P.J., and Crowe, P.D. (2002). "Regulation of Murine Macrophage Proinflammatory and Anti-Inflammatory Cytokines by Ligands for Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor-Gamma: Counter-Regulatory Activity by Ifn-Gamma." J Leukoc Biol 71.4: 677-85.
- Alleva, D.G., Kaser, S.B., and Beller, D.I. (1998). "Intrinsic Defects in Macrophage II-12 Production Associated with Immune Dysfunction in the Mrl/++ and New Zealand Black/White F1 Lupus-Prone Mice and the Leishmania Major-Susceptible Balb/C Strain." J Immunol 161.12: 6878-84.
- Almawi, W.Y., Saouda, M.S., Stevens, A.C., Lipman, M.L., Barth, C.M., and Strom, T.B. (1996). "Partial Mediation of Glucocorticoid Antiproliferative Effects by Lipocortins." J Immunol 157.12: 5231-9.
- Ambrose, M.P., Bahns, C.L., and Hunninghake, G.W. (1992). "Lipocortin I Production by Human Alveolar Macrophages." Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 6.1: 17-21.

- Ang, E.Z., Nguyen, H.T., Sim, H.L., Putti, T.C., and Lim, L.H. (2009).
   "Annexin-1 Regulates Growth Arrest Induced by High Levels of Estrogen in Mcf-7 Breast Cancer Cells." Mol Cancer Res 7.2: 266-74.
- Angus, D.C., Linde-Zwirble, W.T., Lidicker, J., Clermont, G., Carcillo, J., and Pinsky, M.R. (2001). "Epidemiology of Severe Sepsis in the United States: Analysis of Incidence, Outcome, and Associated Costs of Care." Crit Care Med 29.7: 1303-10.
- Appel, S., Mirakaj, V., Bringmann, A., Weck, M.M., Grunebach, F., and Brossart, P. (2005). "Ppar-Gamma Agonists Inhibit Toll-Like Receptor-Mediated Activation of Dendritic Cells Via the Map Kinase and Nf-Kappab Pathways." Blood 106.12: 3888-94.
- Arranz, A., Doxaki, C., Vergadi, E., Martinez de la Torre, Y., Vaporidi, K., Lagoudaki, E.D., Ieronymaki, E., Androulidaki, A., Venihaki, M., Margioris, A.N., Stathopoulos, E.N., Tsichlis, P.N., and Tsatsanis, C. (2012). "Akt1 and Akt2 Protein Kinases Differentially Contribute to Macrophage Polarization." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109.24: 9517-22.
- Arur, S., Uche, U.E., Rezaul, K., Fong, M., Scranton, V., Cowan, A.E., Mohler, W., and Han, D.K. (2003). "Annexin I Is an Endogenous Ligand That Mediates Apoptotic Cell Engulfment." Dev Cell 4.4: 587-98.
- Audry, M., Ciancanelli, M., Yang, K., Cobat, A., Chang, H.H., Sancho-Shimizu, V., Lorenzo, L., Niehues, T., Reichenbach, J., Li, X.X., Israel, A., Abel, L., Casanova, J.L., Zhang, S.Y., Jouanguy, E., and Puel, A. (2011). "Nemo Is a Key Component of Nf-Kappab- and Irf-3-Dependent Tlr3-Mediated Immunity to Herpes Simplex Virus." J Allergy Clin Immunol 128.3: 610-7 e1-4.
- Azuma, Y., Shinohara, M., Wang, P.L., and Ohura, K. (2001). "15-Deoxy-Delta(12,14)-Prostaglandin J(2) Inhibits Il-10 and Il-12 Production by Macrophages." Biochem Biophys Res Commun 283.2: 344-6.
- Babu, S., Blauvelt, C.P., Kumaraswami, V., and Nutman, T.B. (2005).
  "Chemokine Receptors of T Cells and of B Cells in Lymphatic Filarial Infection: A Role for Ccr9 in Pathogenesis." J Infect Dis 191.6: 1018-26.
- Bae, G.S., Kim, M.S., Jung, W.S., Seo, S.W., Yun, S.W., Kim, S.G., Park, R.K., Kim, E.C., Song, H.J., and Park, S.J. (2010). "Inhibition of Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Inflammatory Responses by Piperine." Eur J Pharmacol 642.1-3: 154-62.
- Baeuerle, P.A., and Baltimore, D. (1996). "Nf-Kappa B: Ten Years After." Cell 87.1: 13-20.
- Baeuerle, P.A., and Henkel, T. (1994). "Function and Activation of Nf-Kappa B in the Immune System." Annu Rev Immunol 12: 141-79.
- Baldwin, A.S., Jr. (1996). "The Nf-Kappa B and I Kappa B Proteins: New Discoveries and Insights." Annu Rev Immunol 14: 649-83.
- Barroso, I., Gurnell, M., Crowley, V.E., Agostini, M., Schwabe, J.W., Soos, M.A., Maslen, G.L., Williams, T.D., Lewis, H., Schafer, A.J., Chatterjee, V.K., and O'Rahilly, S. (1999). "Dominant Negative Mutations in Human Ppargamma Associated with Severe Insulin Resistance, Diabetes Mellitus and Hypertension." Nature 402.6764: 880-3.

- Beattie, R.M., Goulding, N.J., Walker-Smith, J.A., and MacDonald, T.T. (1995). "Lipocortin-1 Autoantibody Concentration in Children with Inflammatory Bowel Disease." Aliment Pharmacol Ther 9.5: 541-5.
- Beg, A.A., Sha, W.C., Bronson, R.T., Ghosh, S., and Baltimore, D. (1995).
   "Embryonic Lethality and Liver Degeneration in Mice Lacking the Rela Component of Nf-Kappa B." Nature 376.6536: 167-70.
- Benoit, M., Barbarat, B., Bernard, A., Olive, D., and Mege, J.L. (2008). "Coxiella Burnetii, the Agent of Q Fever, Stimulates an Atypical M2 Activation Program in Human Macrophages." Eur J Immunol 38.4: 1065-70.
- Benoit, M., Desnues, B., and Mege, J.L. (2008). "Macrophage Polarization in Bacterial Infections." J Immunol 181.6: 3733-9.
- Bensalem, N., Ventura, A.P., Vallee, B., Lipecka, J., Tondelier, D., Davezac, N., Dos Santos, A., Perretti, M., Fajac, A., Sermet-Gaudelus, I., Renouil, M., Lesure, J.F., Halgand, F., Laprevote, O., and Edelman, A. (2005). "Down-Regulation of the Anti-Inflammatory Protein Annexin A1 in Cystic Fibrosis Knock-out Mice and Patients." Mol Cell Proteomics 4.10: 1591-601.
- Berg, D.J., Kuhn, R., Rajewsky, K., Muller, W., Menon, S., Davidson, N., Grunig, G., and Rennick, D. (1995). "Interleukin-10 Is a Central Regulator of the Response to Lps in Murine Models of Endotoxic Shock and the Shwartzman Reaction but Not Endotoxin Tolerance." J Clin Invest 96.5: 2339-47.
- Bernard, A.M., and Bernard, G.R. (2012). "The Immune Response: Targets for the Treatment of Severe Sepsis." Int J Inflam 2012: 697592.
- Bernhard, O.K., Cunningham, A.L., and Sheil, M.M. (2004). "Analysis of Proteins Copurifying with the Cd4/Lck Complex Using One-Dimensional Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis and Mass Spectrometry: Comparison with Affinity-Tag Based Protein Detection and Evaluation of Different Solubilization Methods." J Am Soc Mass Spectrom 15.4: 558-67.
- Bianchi, R., Giambanco, I., Arcuri, C., and Donato, R. (2003). "Subcellular Localization of S100a11 (S100c) in Llc-Pk1 Renal Cells: Calcium- and Protein Kinase C-Dependent Association of S100a11 with S100b and Vimentin Intermediate Filaments." Microsc Res Tech 60.6: 639-51.
- Bist, P., Leow, S.C., Phua, Q.H., Shu, S., Zhuang, Q., Loh, W.T., Nguyen, T.H., Zhou, J.B., Hooi, S.C., and Lim, L.H. (2011). "Annexin-1 Interacts with Nemo and Rip1 to Constitutively Activate Ikk Complex and Nf-Kappab: Implication in Breast Cancer Metastasis." Oncogene 30.28: 3174-85.
- Biswas, S.K., and Mantovani, A. (2010). "Macrophage Plasticity and Interaction with Lymphocyte Subsets: Cancer as a Paradigm." Nat Immunol 11.10: 889-96.
- Bjorkbacka, H., Fitzgerald, K.A., Huet, F., Li, X., Gregory, J.A., Lee, M.A., Ordija, C.M., Dowley, N.E., Golenbock, D.T., and Freeman, M.W. (2004). "The Induction of Macrophage Gene Expression by Lps Predominantly Utilizes Myd88-Independent Signaling Cascades." Physiol Genomics 19.3: 319-30.
- Bonacchi, A., Romagnani, P., Romanelli, R.G., Efsen, E., Annunziato, F., Lasagni, L., Francalanci, M., Serio, M., Laffi, G., Pinzani, M.,

Gentilini, P., and Marra, F. (2001). "Signal Transduction by the Chemokine Receptor Cxcr3: Activation of Ras/Erk, Src, and Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase/Akt Controls Cell Migration and Proliferation in Human Vascular Pericytes." J Biol Chem 276.13: 9945-54.

- Bonizzi, G., and Karin, M. (2004). "The Two Nf-Kappab Activation Pathways and Their Role in Innate and Adaptive Immunity." Trends Immunol 25.6: 280-8.
- Bouhlel, M.A., Derudas, B., Rigamonti, E., Dievart, R., Brozek, J., Haulon, S., Zawadzki, C., Jude, B., Torpier, G., Marx, N., Staels, B., and Chinetti-Gbaguidi, G. (2007). "Ppargamma Activation Primes Human Monocytes into Alternative M2 Macrophages with Anti-Inflammatory Properties." Cell Metab 6.2: 137-43.
- Bouwmeester, T., Bauch, A., Ruffner, H., Angrand, P.O., Bergamini, G., Croughton, K., Cruciat, C., Eberhard, D., Gagneur, J., Ghidelli, S., Hopf, C., Huhse, B., Mangano, R., Michon, A.M., Schirle, M., Schlegl, J., Schwab, M., Stein, M.A., Bauer, A., Casari, G., Drewes, G., Gavin, A.C., Jackson, D.B., Joberty, G., Neubauer, G., Rick, J., Kuster, B., and Superti-Furga, G. (2004). "A Physical and Functional Map of the Human Tnf-Alpha/Nf-Kappa B Signal Transduction Pathway." Nat Cell Biol 6.2: 97-105.
- Briken, V., and Mosser, D.M. (2011). "Editorial: Switching on Arginase in M2 Macrophages." J Leukoc Biol 90.5: 839-41.
- Brys, L., Beschin, A., Raes, G., Ghassabeh, G.H., Noel, W., Brandt, J., Brombacher, F., and De Baetselier, P. (2005). "Reactive Oxygen Species and 12/15-Lipoxygenase Contribute to the Antiproliferative Capacity of Alternatively Activated Myeloid Cells Elicited During Helminth Infection." J Immunol 174.10: 6095-104.
- Bugl, S., Wirths, S., Radsak, M.P., Schild, H., Stein, P., Andre, M.C., Muller, M.R., Malenke, E., Wiesner, T., Marklin, M., Frick, J.S., Handgretinger, R., Rammensee, H.G., Kanz, L., and Kopp, H.G. (2012). "Steady-State Neutrophil Homeostasis Is Dependent on Tlr4/Trif Signaling." Blood.
- Caamano, J.H., Rizzo, C.A., Durham, S.K., Barton, D.S., Raventos-Suarez, C., Snapper, C.M., and Bravo, R. (1998). "Nuclear Factor (Nf)-Kappa B2 (P100/P52) Is Required for Normal Splenic Microarchitecture and B Cell-Mediated Immune Responses." J Exp Med 187.2: 185-96.
- Cairo, G., Recalcati, S., Mantovani, A., and Locati, M. (2011). "Iron Trafficking and Metabolism in Macrophages: Contribution to the Polarized Phenotype." Trends Immunol 32.6: 241-7.
- Campbell, J.D., Gangur, V., Simons, F.E., and HayGlass, K.T. (2004). "Allergic Humans Are Hyporesponsive to a Cxcr3 Ligand-Mediated Th1 Immunity-Promoting Loop." FASEB J 18.2: 329-31.
- Cao, Y., Li, Y., Edelweiss, M., Arun, B., Rosen, D., Resetkova, E., Wu, Y., Liu, J., Sahin, A., and Albarracin, C.T. (2008). "Loss of Annexin A1 Expression in Breast Cancer Progression." Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol 16.6: 530-4.
- Cassol, E., Cassetta, L., Rizzi, C., Alfano, M., and Poli, G. (2009). "M1 and M2a Polarization of Human Monocyte-Derived Macrophages Inhibits

Hiv-1 Replication by Distinct Mechanisms." J Immunol 182.10: 6237-46.

- Cavaillon, J.M. (1994). "Cytokines and Macrophages." Biomed Pharmacother 48.10: 445-53.
- Cerutti, A., Cols, M., and Puga, I. (2012). "Activation of B Cells by Non-Canonical Helper Signals." EMBO Rep 13.9: 798-810.
- Chacon-Salinas, R., Serafin-Lopez, J., Ramos-Payan, R., Mendez-Aragon, P., Hernandez-Pando, R., Van Soolingen, D., Flores-Romo, L., Estrada-Parra, S., and Estrada-Garcia, I. (2005). "Differential Pattern of Cytokine Expression by Macrophages Infected in Vitro with Different Mycobacterium Tuberculosis Genotypes." Clin Exp Immunol 140.3: 443-9.
- Charo, I.F. (2007). "Macrophage Polarization and Insulin Resistance: Ppargamma in Control." Cell Metab 6.2: 96-8.
- Chawla, A., Barak, Y., Nagy, L., Liao, D., Tontonoz, P., and Evans, R.M. (2001). "Ppar-Gamma Dependent and Independent Effects on Macrophage-Gene Expression in Lipid Metabolism and Inflammation." Nat Med 7.1: 48-52.
- Chen, F., Castranova, V., Shi, X., and Demers, L.M. (1999). "New Insights into the Role of Nuclear Factor-Kappab, a Ubiquitous Transcription Factor in the Initiation of Diseases." Clin Chem 45.1: 7-17.
- Chen, G., and Goeddel, D.V. (2002). "Tnf-R1 Signaling: A Beautiful Pathway." Science 296.5573: 1634-5.
- Cheong, C., Matos, I., Choi, J.H., Dandamudi, D.B., Shrestha, E., Longhi, M.P., Jeffrey, K.L., Anthony, R.M., Kluger, C., Nchinda, G., Koh, H., Rodriguez, A., Idoyaga, J., Pack, M., Velinzon, K., Park, C.G., and Steinman, R.M. (2010). "Microbial Stimulation Fully Differentiates Monocytes to Dc-Sign/Cd209(+) Dendritic Cells for Immune T Cell Areas." Cell 143.3: 416-29.
- Chien, C.C., Shen, S.C., Yang, L.Y., and Chen, Y.C. (2012). "Prostaglandins as Negative Regulators against Lipopolysaccharide, Lipoteichoic Acid, and Peptidoglycan-Induced Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase/Nitric Oxide Production through Reactive Oxygen Species-Dependent Heme Oxygenase 1 Expression in Macrophages." Shock 38.5: 549-58.
- Chinetti, G., Griglio, S., Antonucci, M., Torra, I.P., Delerive, P., Majd, Z., Fruchart, J.C., Chapman, J., Najib, J., and Staels, B. (1998).
  "Activation of Proliferator-Activated Receptors Alpha and Gamma Induces Apoptosis of Human Monocyte-Derived Macrophages." J Biol Chem 273.40: 25573-80.
- Christmas, P., Callaway, J., Fallon, J., Jones, J., and Haigler, H.T. (1991)."Selective Secretion of Annexin 1, a Protein without a Signal Sequence, by the Human Prostate Gland." J Biol Chem 266.4: 2499-507.
- Ciapponi, L., Graziani, R., Paonessa, G., Lahm, A., Ciliberto, G., and Savino, R. (1995). "Definition of a Composite Binding Site for Gp130 in Human Interleukin-6." J Biol Chem 270.52: 31249-54.
- Cirino, G., and Cicala, C. (1993). "Human Recombinant Lipocortin 1 (Annexin 1) Has Anticoagulant Activity on Human Plasma in Vitro." J Lipid Mediat 8.2: 81-6.
- Cirino, G., Cicala, C., Sorrentino, L., Ciliberto, G., Arpaia, G., Perretti, M., and Flower, R.J. (1993). "Anti-Inflammatory Actions of an N-

Terminal Peptide from Human Lipocortin 1." Br J Pharmacol 108.3: 573-4.

- Coban, C., Ishii, K.J., Kawai, T., Hemmi, H., Sato, S., Uematsu, S., Yamamoto, M., Takeuchi, O., Itagaki, S., Kumar, N., Horii, T., and Akira, S. (2005). "Toll-Like Receptor 9 Mediates Innate Immune Activation by the Malaria Pigment Hemozoin." J Exp Med 201.1: 19-25.
- Cohen, J., and Carlet, J. (1996). "Intersept: An International, Multicenter, Placebo-Controlled Trial of Monoclonal Antibody to Human Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha in Patients with Sepsis. International Sepsis Trial Study Group." Crit Care Med 24.9: 1431-40.
- Combadiere, C., Ahuja, S.K., Van Damme, J., Tiffany, H.L., Gao, J.L., and Murphy, P.M. (1995). "Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-3 Is a Functional Ligand for Cc Chemokine Receptors 1 and 2b." J Biol Chem 270.50: 29671-5.
- Conti, P., and DiGioacchino, M. (2001). "Mcp-1 and Rantes Are Mediators of Acute and Chronic Inflammation." Allergy Asthma Proc 22.3: 133-7.
- Conzelmann, K.K. (2005). "Transcriptional Activation of Alpha/Beta Interferon Genes: Interference by Nonsegmented Negative-Strand Rna Viruses." J Virol 79.9: 5241-8.Cook, D.N., Pisetsky, D.S., and Schwartz, D.A. (2004). "Toll-Like Receptors in the Pathogenesis of Human Disease." Nat Immunol 5.10: 975-9.
- Cooper, A.M., Dalton, D.K., Stewart, T.A., Griffin, J.P., Russell, D.G., and Orme, I.M. (1993). "Disseminated Tuberculosis in Interferon Gamma Gene-Disrupted Mice." J Exp Med 178.6: 2243-7.
- Cote, M.C., Lavoie, J.R., Houle, F., Poirier, A., Rousseau, S., and Huot, J. (2010). "Regulation of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-Induced Endothelial Cell Migration by Lim Kinase 1-Mediated Phosphorylation of Annexin 1." J Biol Chem 285.11: 8013-21.
- Crampton, S.P., Voynova, E., and Bolland, S. (2010). "Innate Pathways to B-Cell Activation and Tolerance." Ann N Y Acad Sci 1183: 58-68.
- Crawford, A., Angelosanto, J.M., Nadwodny, K.L., Blackburn, S.D., and Wherry, E.J. (2011). "A Role for the Chemokine Rantes in Regulating Cd8 T Cell Responses During Chronic Viral Infection." PLoS Pathog 7.7: e1002098.
- Cunard, R., Eto, Y., Muljadi, J.T., Glass, C.K., Kelly, C.J., and Ricote, M. (2004). "Repression of Ifn-Gamma Expression by Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma." J Immunol 172.12: 7530-6.
- Curnow, S.J., Scheel-Toellner, D., Jenkinson, W., Raza, K., Durrani, O.M., Faint, J.M., Rauz, S., Wloka, K., Pilling, D., Rose-John, S., Buckley, C.D., Murray, P.I., and Salmon, M. (2004). "Inhibition of T Cell Apoptosis in the Aqueous Humor of Patients with Uveitis by Il-6/Soluble Il-6 Receptor Trans-Signaling." J Immunol 173.8: 5290-7.
- D'Acquisto, F., Merghani, A., Lecona, E., Rosignoli, G., Raza, K., Buckley, C.D., Flower, R.J., and Perretti, M. (2007). "Annexin-1 Modulates T-Cell Activation and Differentiation." Blood 109.3: 1095-102.
- D'Acquisto, F., Paschalidis, N., Raza, K., Buckley, C.D., Flower, R.J., and Perretti, M. (2008). "Glucocorticoid Treatment Inhibits Annexin-1 Expression in Rheumatoid Arthritis Cd4+ T Cells." Rheumatology (Oxford) 47.5: 636-9.

- D'Acunto, C.W., Fontanella, B., Rodriquez, M., Taddei, M., Parente, L., and Petrella, A. (2010). "Histone Deacetylase Inhibitor Fr235222 Sensitizes Human Prostate Adenocarcinoma Cells to Apoptosis through up-Regulation of Annexin A1." Cancer Lett 295.1: 85-91.
- D'Ambrosio, D., Cippitelli, M., Cocciolo, M.G., Mazzeo, D., Di Lucia, P., Lang, R., Sinigaglia, F., and Panina-Bordignon, P. (1998). "Inhibition of Il-12 Production by 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3. Involvement of Nf-Kappab Downregulation in Transcriptional Repression of the P40 Gene." J Clin Invest 101.1: 252-62.
- da Cunha, E.E., Oliani, S.M., and Damazo, A.S. (2012). "Effect of Annexin-A1 Peptide Treatment During Lung Inflammation Induced by Lipopolysaccharide." Pulm Pharmacol Ther 25.4: 303-11.
- Dalli, J., Rosignoli, G., Hayhoe, R.P., Edelman, A., and Perretti, M. (2010). "Cftr Inhibition Provokes an Inflammatory Response Associated with an Imbalance of the Annexin A1 Pathway." Am J Pathol 177.1: 176-86.
- Damazo, A.S., Sampaio, A.L., Nakata, C.M., Flower, R.J., Perretti, M., and Oliani, S.M. (2011). "Endogenous Annexin A1 Counter-Regulates Bleomycin-Induced Lung Fibrosis." BMC Immunol 12: 59.
- Damazo, A.S., Yona, S., D'Acquisto, F., Flower, R.J., Oliani, S.M., and Perretti, M. (2005). "Critical Protective Role for Annexin 1 Gene Expression in the Endotoxemic Murine Microcirculation." Am J Pathol 166.6: 1607-17.
- Damazo, A.S., Yona, S., Flower, R.J., Perretti, M., and Oliani, S.M. (2006). "Spatial and Temporal Profiles for Anti-Inflammatory Gene Expression in Leukocytes During a Resolving Model of Peritonitis." J Immunol 176.7: 4410-8.
- de Bont, J.M., den Boer, M.L., Kros, J.M., Passier, M.M., Reddingius, R.E., Smitt, P.A., Luider, T.M., and Pieters, R. (2007). "Identification of Novel Biomarkers in Pediatric Primitive Neuroectodermal Tumors and Ependymomas by Proteome-Wide Analysis." J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 66.6: 505-16.
- de la Barrera, S., Aleman, M., Musella, R., Schierloh, P., Pasquinelli, V., Garcia, V., Abbate, E., and Sasiain Mdel, C. (2004). "Il-10 Down-Regulates Costimulatory Molecules on Mycobacterium Tuberculosis-Pulsed Macrophages and Impairs the Lytic Activity of Cd4 and Cd8 Ctl in Tuberculosis Patients." Clin Exp Immunol 138.1: 128-38.
- de Waal Malefyt, R., Abrams, J., Bennett, B., Figdor, C.G., and de Vries, J.E. (1991). "Interleukin 10(II-10) Inhibits Cytokine Synthesis by Human Monocytes: An Autoregulatory Role of II-10 Produced by Monocytes." J Exp Med 174.5: 1209-20.
- DeFronzo, R.A. (2010). "Insulin Resistance, Lipotoxicity, Type 2 Diabetes and Atherosclerosis: The Missing Links. The Claude Bernard Lecture 2009." Diabetologia 53.7: 1270-87.
- DiDonato, J.A., Mercurio, F., and Karin, M. (2012). "Nf-Kappab and the Link between Inflammation and Cancer." Immunol Rev 246.1: 379-400.
- Diebold, S.S., Kaisho, T., Hemmi, H., Akira, S., and Reis e Sousa, C. (2004). "Innate Antiviral Responses by Means of Tlr7-Mediated Recognition of Single-Stranded Rna." Science 303.5663: 1529-31.
- Dorovkov, M.V., Kostyukova, A.S., and Ryazanov, A.G. (2011). "Phosphorylation of Annexin A1 by Trpm7 Kinase: A Switch

Regulating the Induction of an Alpha-Helix." Biochemistry 50.12: 2187-93.

- Dorovkov, M.V., and Ryazanov, A.G. (2004). "Phosphorylation of Annexin I by Trpm7 Channel-Kinase." J Biol Chem 279.49: 50643-6.
- Drew, P.D., and Chavis, J.A. (2001). "The Cyclopentone Prostaglandin 15-Deoxy-Delta(12,14) Prostaglandin J2 Represses Nitric Oxide, Tnf-Alpha, and Il-12 Production by Microglial Cells." J Neuroimmunol 115.1-2: 28-35.
- Du, Z., Wei, L., Murti, A., Pfeffer, S.R., Fan, M., Yang, C.H., and Pfeffer, L.M. (2007). "Non-Conventional Signal Transduction by Type 1 Interferons: The Nf-Kappab Pathway." J Cell Biochem 102.5: 1087-94.
- Durbin, J.E., Hackenmiller, R., Simon, M.C., and Levy, D.E. (1996).
  "Targeted Disruption of the Mouse Stat1 Gene Results in Compromised Innate Immunity to Viral Disease." Cell 84.3: 443-50.
- Ernst, S., Lange, C., Wilbers, A., Goebeler, V., Gerke, V., and Rescher, U. (2004). "An Annexin 1 N-Terminal Peptide Activates Leukocytes by Triggering Different Members of the Formyl Peptide Receptor Family." J Immunol 172.12: 7669-76.
- Eskdale, J., Kube, D., Tesch, H., and Gallagher, G. (1997). "Mapping of the Human II10 Gene and Further Characterization of the 5' Flanking Sequence." Immunogenetics 46.2: 120-8.
- Ewing, R.M., Chu, P., Elisma, F., Li, H., Taylor, P., Climie, S., McBroom-Cerajewski, L., Robinson, M.D., O'Connor, L., Li, M., Taylor, R., Dharsee, M., Ho, Y., Heilbut, A., Moore, L., Zhang, S., Ornatsky, O., Bukhman, Y.V., Ethier, M., Sheng, Y., Vasilescu, J., Abu-Farha, M., Lambert, J.P., Duewel, H.S., Stewart, II, Kuehl, B., Hogue, K., Colwill, K., Gladwish, K., Muskat, B., Kinach, R., Adams, S.L., Moran, M.F., Morin, G.B., Topaloglou, T., and Figeys, D. (2007). "Large-Scale Mapping of Human Protein-Protein Interactions by Mass Spectrometry." Mol Syst Biol 3: 89.
- Falini, B., Tiacci, E., Liso, A., Basso, K., Sabattini, E., Pacini, R., Foa, R., Pulsoni, A., Dalla Favera, R., and Pileri, S. (2004). "Simple Diagnostic Assay for Hairy Cell Leukaemia by Immunocytochemical Detection of Annexin A1 (Anxa1)." Lancet 363.9424: 1869-70.
- Faria, P.C., Sena, A.A., Nascimento, R., Carvalho, W.J., Loyola, A.M., Silva, S.J., Durighetto, A.F., Oliveira, A.D., Oliani, S.M., and Goulart, L.R. (2010). "Expression of Annexin A1 Mrna in Peripheral Blood from Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma Patients." Oral Oncol 46.1: 25-30.
- Feng, Y., Zou, L., Zhang, M., Li, Y., Chen, C., and Chao, W. (2011). "Myd88 and Trif Signaling Play Distinct Roles in Cardiac Dysfunction and Mortality During Endotoxin Shock and Polymicrobial Sepsis." Anesthesiology 115.3: 555-67.
- Ferlazzo, V., D'Agostino, P., Milano, S., Caruso, R., Feo, S., Cillari, E., and Parente, L. (2003). "Anti-Inflammatory Effects of Annexin-1: Stimulation of II-10 Release and Inhibition of Nitric Oxide Synthesis." Int Immunopharmacol 3.10-11: 1363-9.
- Fink, M.P. (1993). "Adoptive Immunotherapy of Gram-Negative Sepsis: Use of Monoclonal Antibodies to Lipopolysaccharide." Crit Care Med 21.2 Suppl: S32-9.

- Fiorentino, D.F., Zlotnik, A., Mosmann, T.R., Howard, M., and O'Garra, A. (1991). "Il-10 Inhibits Cytokine Production by Activated Macrophages." J Immunol 147.11: 3815-22.
- Fitzgerald, K.A., McWhirter, S.M., Faia, K.L., Rowe, D.C., Latz, E., Golenbock, D.T., Coyle, A.J., Liao, S.M., and Maniatis, T. (2003).
  "Ikkepsilon and Tbk1 Are Essential Components of the Irf3 Signaling Pathway." Nat Immunol 4.5: 491-6.
- Fleetwood, A.J., Dinh, H., Cook, A.D., Hertzog, P.J., and Hamilton, J.A. (2009). "Gm-Csf- and M-Csf-Dependent Macrophage Phenotypes Display Differential Dependence on Type I Interferon Signaling." J Leukoc Biol 86.2: 411-21.
- Fleetwood, A.J., Lawrence, T., Hamilton, J.A., and Cook, A.D. (2007). "Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor (Csf) and Macrophage Csf-Dependent Macrophage Phenotypes Display Differences in Cytokine Profiles and Transcription Factor Activities: Implications for Csf Blockade in Inflammation." J Immunol 178.8: 5245-52.
- Flower, R.J., and Blackwell, G.J. (1979). "Anti-Inflammatory Steroids Induce Biosynthesis of a Phospholipase A2 Inhibitor Which Prevents Prostaglandin Generation." Nature 278.5703: 456-9.
- Flower, R.J., and Rothwell, N.J. (1994). "Lipocortin-1: Cellular Mechanisms and Clinical Relevance." Trends Pharmacol Sci 15.3: 71-6.
- Flynn, J.L., Chan, J., Triebold, K.J., Dalton, D.K., Stewart, T.A., and Bloom, B.R. (1993). "An Essential Role for Interferon Gamma in Resistance to Mycobacterium Tuberculosis Infection." J Exp Med 178.6: 2249-54.
- Fried, S.K., Bunkin, D.A., and Greenberg, A.S. (1998). "Omental and Subcutaneous Adipose Tissues of Obese Subjects Release Interleukin-6: Depot Difference and Regulation by Glucocorticoid." J Clin Endocrinol Metab 83.3: 847-50.
- Galkina, S.I., Fedorova, N.V., Serebryakova, M.V., Romanova, J.M., Golyshev, S.A., Stadnichuk, V.I., Baratova, L.A., Sud'ina, G.F., and Klein, T. (2012). "Proteome Analysis Identified Human Neutrophil Membrane Tubulovesicular Extensions (Cytonemes, Membrane Tethers) as Bactericide Trafficking." Biochim Biophys Acta 1820.11: 1705-14.
- Gauldie, J., Richards, C., Harnish, D., Lansdorp, P., and Baumann, H. (1987).
  "Interferon Beta 2/B-Cell Stimulatory Factor Type 2 Shares Identity with Monocyte-Derived Hepatocyte-Stimulating Factor and Regulates the Major Acute Phase Protein Response in Liver Cells." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84.20: 7251-5.
- Gerke, V., Creutz, C.E., and Moss, S.E. (2005). "Annexins: Linking Ca2+ Signalling to Membrane Dynamics." Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6.6: 449-61.
- Gerke, V., and Moss, S.E. (2002). "Annexins: From Structure to Function." Physiol Rev 82.2: 331-71.
- Gerondakis, S., Strasser, A., Metcalf, D., Grigoriadis, G., Scheerlinck, J.Y., and Grumont, R.J. (1996). "Rel-Deficient T Cells Exhibit Defects in Production of Interleukin 3 and Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93.8: 3405-9.

- Gerstein, H.C., Yale, J.F., Harris, S.B., Issa, M., Stewart, J.A., and Dempsey,
  E. (2006). "A Randomized Trial of Adding Insulin Glargine Vs. Avoidance of Insulin in People with Type 2 Diabetes on Either No Oral Glucose-Lowering Agents or Submaximal Doses of Metformin and/or Sulphonylureas. The Canadian Insight (Implementing New Strategies with Insulin Glargine for Hyperglycaemia Treatment) Study." Diabet Med 23.7: 736-42.
- Ghosh, S., May, M.J., and Kopp, E.B. (1998). "Nf-Kappa B and Rel Proteins: Evolutionarily Conserved Mediators of Immune Responses." Annu Rev Immunol 16: 225-60.
- Gilmore, T.D. (2006). "Introduction to Nf-Kappab: Players, Pathways, Perspectives." Oncogene 25.51: 6680-4.
- Gohda, J., Matsumura, T., and Inoue, J. (2004). "Cutting Edge: Tnfr-Associated Factor (Traf) 6 Is Essential for Myd88-Dependent Pathway but Not Toll/II-1 Receptor Domain-Containing Adaptor-Inducing Ifn-Beta (Trif)-Dependent Pathway in Tlr Signaling." J Immunol 173.5: 2913-7.
- Gordon, S. (2003). "Alternative Activation of Macrophages." Nat Rev Immunol 3.1: 23-35.
- Gordon, S. (2002). "Pattern Recognition Receptors: Doubling up for the Innate Immune Response." Cell 111.7: 927-30.
- Gordon, S., and Martinez, F.O. (2010). "Alternative Activation of Macrophages: Mechanism and Functions." Immunity 32.5: 593-604.
- Gordon S. (Paul, W.E. In "Fundamental Immunology". 4th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven, 1999. Print.
- Griess, P. (1879). "Bemerkungen Zu Der Abhandlung Der Hh. Weselsky Und Benedikt "Ueber Einige Azoverbindungen"." Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 12: 426–28.
- Hacker, H., Vabulas, R.M., Takeuchi, O., Hoshino, K., Akira, S., and Wagner,
  H. (2000). "Immune Cell Activation by Bacterial Cpg-DNA through Myeloid Differentiation Marker 88 and Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor-Associated Factor (Traf)6." J Exp Med 192.4: 595-600.
- Han, C., Fu, J., Liu, Z., Huang, H., Luo, L., and Yin, Z. (2010). "Dipyrithione Inhibits Ifn-Gamma-Induced Jak/Stat1 Signaling Pathway Activation and Ip-10/Cxcl10 Expression in Raw264.7 Cells." Inflamm Res 59.10: 809-16.
- Haraguchi, S., Day, N.K., Nelson, R.P., Jr., Emmanuel, P., Duplantier, J.E., Christodoulou, C.S., and Good, R.A. (1998). "Interleukin 12 Deficiency Associated with Recurrent Infections." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95.22: 13125-9.
- Hayashi, F., Smith, K.D., Ozinsky, A., Hawn, T.R., Yi, E.C., Goodlett, D.R., Eng, J.K., Akira, S., Underhill, D.M., and Aderem, A. (2001). "The Innate Immune Response to Bacterial Flagellin Is Mediated by Toll-Like Receptor 5." Nature 410.6832: 1099-103.
- Hayden, M.S., and Ghosh, S. (2012). "Nf-Kappab, the First Quarter-Century: Remarkable Progress and Outstanding Questions." Genes Dev 26.3: 203-34.
- Heil, F., Ahmad-Nejad, P., Hemmi, H., Hochrein, H., Ampenberger, F., Gellert, T., Dietrich, H., Lipford, G., Takeda, K., Akira, S., Wagner, H., and Bauer, S. (2003). "The Toll-Like Receptor 7 (Tlr7)-Specific

Stimulus Loxoribine Uncovers a Strong Relationship within the Tlr7, 8 and 9 Subfamily." Eur J Immunol 33.11: 2987-97.

- Heil, F., Hemmi, H., Hochrein, H., Ampenberger, F., Kirschning, C., Akira, S., Lipford, G., Wagner, H., and Bauer, S. (2004). "Species-Specific Recognition of Single-Stranded Rna Via Toll-Like Receptor 7 and 8." Science 303.5663: 1526-9.
- Hemmi, H., Kaisho, T., Takeuchi, O., Sato, S., Sanjo, H., Hoshino, K., Horiuchi, T., Tomizawa, H., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2002). "Small Anti-Viral Compounds Activate Immune Cells Via the Tlr7 Myd88-Dependent Signaling Pathway." Nat Immunol 3.2: 196-200.
- Heneka, M.T., Landreth, G.E., and Feinstein, D.L. (2001). "Role for Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor-Gamma in Alzheimer's Disease." Ann Neurol 49.2: 276.
- Herzig, D., Fang, G., Toliver-Kinsky, T.E., Guo, Y., Bohannon, J., and Sherwood, E.R. (2012). "Stat1-Deficient Mice Are Resistant to Cecal Ligation and Puncture-Induced Septic Shock." Shock 38.4: 395-402.
- Hirata, F., del Carmine, R., Nelson, C.A., Axelrod, J., Schiffmann, E., Warabi,
  A., De Blas, A.L., Nirenberg, M., Manganiello, V., Vaughan, M.,
  Kumagai, S., Green, I., Decker, J.L., and Steinberg, A.D. (1981).
  "Presence of Autoantibody for Phospholipase Inhibitory Protein,
  Lipomodulin, in Patients with Rheumatic Diseases." Proc Natl Acad
  Sci U S A 78.5: 3190-4.
- Ho, V.W., and Sly, L.M. (2009). "Derivation and Characterization of Murine Alternatively Activated (M2) Macrophages." Methods Mol Biol 531: 173-85.
- Hoekstra, D., Buist-Arkema, R., Klappe, K., and Reutelingsperger, C.P. (1993). "Interaction of Annexins with Membranes: The N-Terminus as a Governing Parameter as Revealed with a Chimeric Annexin." Biochemistry 32.51: 14194-202.
- Hoentjen, F., Sartor, R.B., Ozaki, M., and Jobin, C. (2005). "Stat3 Regulates Nf-Kappab Recruitment to the II-12p40 Promoter in Dendritic Cells." Blood 105.2: 689-96.
- Hoffmann, J.A. (2003). "The Immune Response of Drosophila." Nature 426.6962: 33-8.
- Holgate, S.T. (2000). "The Role of Mast Cells and Basophils in Inflammation." Clin Exp Allergy 30 Suppl 1: 28-32.
- Holtkamp, D.E., and Levy, A.C. (1965). "An Anti-Anti-Inflammation Concept." Nature 206.988: 1048.
- Hortelano, S., Castrillo, A., Alvarez, A.M., and Bosca, L. (2000). "Contribution of Cyclopentenone Prostaglandins to the Resolution of Inflammation through the Potentiation of Apoptosis in Activated Macrophages." J Immunol 165.11: 6525-31.
- Hotchkiss, R.S., and Karl, I.E. (2003). "The Pathophysiology and Treatment of Sepsis." N Engl J Med 348.2: 138-50.
- Huang, C., Yang, L., Li, Z., Yang, J., Zhao, J., Dehui, X., Liu, L., Wang, Q., and Song, T. (2007). "Detection of Ccnd1 Amplification Using Laser Capture Microdissection Coupled with Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction in Human Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma." Cancer Genet Cytogenet 175.1: 19-25.

- Huggins, A., Paschalidis, N., Flower, R.J., Perretti, M., and D'Acquisto, F. (2009). "Annexin-1-Deficient Dendritic Cells Acquire a Mature Phenotype During Differentiation." FASEB J 23.4: 985-96.
- Hume, D.A. (2006). "The Mononuclear Phagocyte System." Curr Opin Immunol 18.1: 49-53.
- Hunter, C.A., Ellis-Neyes, L.A., Slifer, T., Kanaly, S., Grunig, G., Fort, M., Rennick, D., and Araujo, F.G. (1997). "II-10 Is Required to Prevent Immune Hyperactivity During Infection with Trypanosoma Cruzi." J Immunol 158.7: 3311-6.
- Hunter, T. (1988). "The Ca2+/Phospholipid-Binding Proteins of the Submembraneous Skeleton." Adv Exp Med Biol 234: 169-93.
- Inokuchi, J., Lau, A., Tyson, D.R., and Ornstein, D.K. (2009). "Loss of Annexin A1 Disrupts Normal Prostate Glandular Structure by Inducing Autocrine II-6 Signaling." Carcinogenesis 30.7: 1082-8.
- Ishii, K.J., and Akira, S. (2004). "Toll-Like Receptors and Sepsis." Curr Infect Dis Rep 6.5: 361-66.
- Ishii, M., Wen, H., Corsa, C.A., Liu, T., Coelho, A.L., Allen, R.M., Carson, W.F.t., Cavassani, K.A., Li, X., Lukacs, N.W., Hogaboam, C.M., Dou, Y., and Kunkel, S.L. (2009). "Epigenetic Regulation of the Alternatively Activated Macrophage Phenotype." Blood 114.15: 3244-54.
- Jiang, C., Ting, A.T., and Seed, B. (1998). "Ppar-Gamma Agonists Inhibit Production of Monocyte Inflammatory Cytokines." Nature 391.6662: 82-6.
- Jiang, Z., Mak, T.W., Sen, G., and Li, X. (2004). "Toll-Like Receptor 3-Mediated Activation of Nf-Kappab and Irf3 Diverges at Toll-II-1 Receptor Domain-Containing Adapter Inducing Ifn-Beta." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101.10: 3533-8.
- Jinquan, T., Jing, C., Jacobi, H.H., Reimert, C.M., Millner, A., Quan, S., Hansen, J.B., Dissing, S., Malling, H.J., Skov, P.S., and Poulsen, L.K. (2000). "Cxcr3 Expression and Activation of Eosinophils: Role of Ifn-Gamma-Inducible Protein-10 and Monokine Induced by Ifn-Gamma." J Immunol 165.3: 1548-56.
- Jones, J.R., Barrick, C., Kim, K.A., Lindner, J., Blondeau, B., Fujimoto, Y., Shiota, M., Kesterson, R.A., Kahn, B.B., and Magnuson, M.A. (2005).
  "Deletion of Ppargamma in Adipose Tissues of Mice Protects against High Fat Diet-Induced Obesity and Insulin Resistance." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102.17: 6207-12.
- Joseph, C., Buga, A.M., Vintilescu, R., Balseanu, A.T., Moldovan, M., Junker, H., Walker, L., Lotze, M., and Popa-Wagner, A. (2012). "Prolonged Gaseous Hypothermia Prevents the Upregulation of Phagocytosis-Specific Protein Annexin 1 and Causes Low-Amplitude Eeg Activity in the Aged Rat Brain after Cerebral Ischemia." J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 32.8: 1632-42.
- Jouanguy, E., Doffinger, R., Dupuis, S., Pallier, A., Altare, F., and Casanova, J.L. (1999). "Il-12 and Ifn-Gamma in Host Defense against Mycobacteria and Salmonella in Mice and Men." Curr Opin Immunol 11.3: 346-51.
- Kahn, S.E., Haffner, S.M., Heise, M.A., Herman, W.H., Holman, R.R., Jones, N.P., Kravitz, B.G., Lachin, J.M., O'Neill, M.C., Zinman, B., Viberti,
G., and Group, A.S. (2006). "Glycemic Durability of Rosiglitazone, Metformin, or Glyburide Monotherapy." N Engl J Med 355.23: 2427-43.

- Kamal, A.M., Flower, R.J., and Perretti, M. (2005). "An Overview of the Effects of Annexin 1 on Cells Involved in the Inflammatory Process." Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz 100 Suppl 1: 39-47.
- Kaplanski, G., Marin, V., Montero-Julian, F., Mantovani, A., and Farnarier, C. (2003). "II-6: A Regulator of the Transition from Neutrophil to Monocyte Recruitment During Inflammation." Trends Immunol 24.1: 25-9.
- Katsounas, A., Schlaak, J.F., and Lempicki, R.A. (2011). "Ccl5: A Double-Edged Sword in Host Defense against the Hepatitis C Virus." Int Rev Immunol 30.5-6: 366-78.
- Kawai, T., Adachi, O., Ogawa, T., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (1999). "Unresponsiveness of Myd88-Deficient Mice to Endotoxin." Immunity 11.1: 115-22.
- Kawai, T., and Akira, S. (2006). "Innate Immune Recognition of Viral Infection." Nat Immunol 7.2: 131-7.
- Kawai, T., and Akira, S. (2010). "The Role of Pattern-Recognition Receptors in Innate Immunity: Update on Toll-Like Receptors." Nat Immunol 11.5: 373-84.
- Kawai, T., and Akira, S. (2008). "Toll-Like Receptor and Rig-I-Like Receptor Signaling." Ann N Y Acad Sci 1143: 1-20.
- Kenny, E.F., and O'Neill, L.A. (2008). "Signalling Adaptors Used by Toll-Like Receptors: An Update." Cytokine 43.3: 342-9.
- Kestler, D.P., Agarwal, S., Cobb, J., Goldstein, K.M., and Hall, R.E. (1995).
  "Detection and Analysis of an Alternatively Spliced Isoform of Interleukin-6 Mrna in Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells." Blood 86.12: 4559-67.
- Kielian, T., and Drew, P.D. (2003). "Effects of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor-Gamma Agonists on Central Nervous System Inflammation." J Neurosci Res 71.3: 315-25.
- Kim, S.J., Park, H.J., Shin, H.J., Shon, D.H., Kim do, H., and Youn, H.S. (2012a). "Suppression of Trif-Dependent Signaling Pathway of Toll-Like Receptors by Allyl Isothiocyanate in Raw 264.7 Macrophages." Int Immunopharmacol 13.4: 403-7.
- Kim, Y.H., Lee, S.H., Yoo, Y.C., Lee, J., Park, J.H., and Park, S.R. (2012b)."Kinetic Analysis of Cpg-Induced Mouse B Cell Growth and Ig Production." Immune Netw 12.3: 89-95.
- Kiszewski, A.E., Becerril, E., Aguilar, L.D., Kader, I.T., Myers, W., Portaels, F., and Hernandez Pando, R. (2006). "The Local Immune Response in Ulcerative Lesions of Buruli Disease." Clin Exp Immunol 143.3: 445-51.
- Klaas, M., Oetke, C., Lewis, L.E., Erwig, L.P., Heikema, A.P., Easton, A., Willison, H.J., and Crocker, P.R. (2012). "Sialoadhesin Promotes Rapid Proinflammatory and Type I Ifn Responses to a Sialylated Pathogen, Campylobacter Jejuni." J Immunol 189.5: 2414-22.
- Knott, C., Stern, G., and Wilkin, G.P. (2000). "Inflammatory Regulators in Parkinson's Disease: Inos, Lipocortin-1, and Cyclooxygenases-1 and 2." Mol Cell Neurosci 16.6: 724-39.

- Kopydlowski, K.M., Salkowski, C.A., Cody, M.J., van Rooijen, N., Major, J., Hamilton, T.A., and Vogel, S.N. (1999). "Regulation of Macrophage Chemokine Expression by Lipopolysaccharide in Vitro and in Vivo." J Immunol 163.3: 1537-44.
- Kristensen, I.A., Veirum, J.E., Moller, B.K., and Christiansen, M. (2011). "Novel Stat1 Alleles in a Patient with Impaired Resistance to Mycobacteria." J Clin Immunol 31.2: 265-71.
- Krummen, M., Balkow, S., Shen, L., Heinz, S., Loquai, C., Probst, H.C., and Grabbe, S. (2010). "Release of Il-12 by Dendritic Cells Activated by Tlr Ligation Is Dependent on Myd88 Signaling, Whereas Trif Signaling Is Indispensable for Tlr Synergy." J Leukoc Biol 88.1: 189-99.
- Kurowska-Stolarska, M., Stolarski, B., Kewin, P., Murphy, G., Corrigan, C.J., Ying, S., Pitman, N., Mirchandani, A., Rana, B., van Rooijen, N., Shepherd, M., McSharry, C., McInnes, I.B., Xu, D., and Liew, F.Y. (2009). "II-33 Amplifies the Polarization of Alternatively Activated Macrophages That Contribute to Airway Inflammation." J Immunol 183.10: 6469-77.
- Lagging, M., Romero, A.I., Westin, J., Norkrans, G., Dhillon, A.P., Pawlotsky, J.M., Zeuzem, S., von Wagner, M., Negro, F., Schalm, S.W., Haagmans, B.L., Ferrari, C., Missale, G., Neumann, A.U., Verheij-Hart, E., and Hellstrand, K. (2006). "Ip-10 Predicts Viral Response and Therapeutic Outcome in Difficult-to-Treat Patients with Hcv Genotype 1 Infection." Hepatology 44.6: 1617-25.
- Landreth, G.E., and Heneka, M.T. (2001). "Anti-Inflammatory Actions of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma Agonists in Alzheimer's Disease." Neurobiol Aging 22.6: 937-44.
- Lange, M., Connelly, R., Traber, D.L., Hamahata, A., Nakano, Y., Esechie, A., Jonkam, C., von Borzyskowski, S., Traber, L.D., Schmalstieg, F.C., Herndon, D.N., and Enkhbaatar, P. (2010). "Time Course of Nitric Oxide Synthases, Nitrosative Stress, and Poly(Adp Ribosylation) in an Ovine Sepsis Model." Crit Care 14.4: R129.
- Lapara, N.J., 3rd, and Kelly, B.L. (2010). "Suppression of Lps-Induced Inflammatory Responses in Macrophages Infected with Leishmania." J Inflamm (Lond) 7.1: 8.
- Lee, C.S., Yi, E.H., Lee, J.K., Won, C., Lee, Y.J., Shin, M.K., Yang, Y.M., Chung, M.H., Lee, J.W., Sung, S.H., and Ye, S.K. (2012).
  "Simvastatin Suppresses Rantes-Mediated Neutrophilia in Poly I:C-Induced Pneumonia." Eur Respir J.
- Lee, S.H., Kim, D.W., Back, S.S., Hwang, H.S., Park, E.Y., Kang, T.C., Kwon, O.S., Park, J.H., Cho, S.W., Han, K.H., Park, J., Eum, W.S., and Choi, S.Y. (2011). "Transduced Tat-Annexin Protein Suppresses Inflammation-Associated Gene Expression in Lipopolysaccharide (Lps)-Stimulated Raw 264.7 Cells." BMB Rep 44.7: 484-9.
- Lehmann, J.M., Moore, L.B., Smith-Oliver, T.A., Wilkison, W.O., Willson, T.M., and Kliewer, S.A. (1995). "An Antidiabetic Thiazolidinedione Is a High Affinity Ligand for Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma (Ppar Gamma)." J Biol Chem 270.22: 12953-6.
- Lennon, A.M., Ramauge, M., Dessouroux, A., and Pierre, M. (2002). "Map Kinase Cascades Are Activated in Astrocytes and Preadipocytes by 15-

Deoxy-Delta(12-14)-Prostaglandin J(2) and the Thiazolidinedione Ciglitazone through Peroxisome Proliferator Activator Receptor Gamma-Independent Mechanisms Involving Reactive Oxygenated Species." J Biol Chem 277.33: 29681-5.

- Li, C.F., Shen, K.H., Huang, L.C., Huang, H.Y., Wang, Y.H., and Wu, T.F. (2010). "Annexin-I Overexpression Is Associated with Tumour Progression and Independently Predicts Inferior Disease-Specific and Metastasis-Free Survival in Urinary Bladder Urothelial Carcinoma." Pathology 42.1: 43-9.
- Li, P., Neubig, R.R., Zingarelli, B., Borg, K., Halushka, P.V., Cook, J.A., and Fan, H. (2012). "Toll-Like Receptor-Induced Inflammatory Cytokines Are Suppressed by Gain of Function or Overexpression of Galpha(I2) Protein." Inflammation 35.5: 1611-7.
- Lim, L.H., and Pervaiz, S. (2007). "Annexin 1: The New Face of an Old Molecule." FASEB J 21.4: 968-75.
- Lim, L.H., Solito, E., Russo-Marie, F., Flower, R.J., and Perretti, M. (1998). "Promoting Detachment of Neutrophils Adherent to Murine Postcapillary Venules to Control Inflammation: Effect of Lipocortin 1." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95.24: 14535-9.
- Lin, C.Y., Jeng, Y.M., Chou, H.Y., Hsu, H.C., Yuan, R.H., Chiang, C.P., and Kuo, M.Y. (2008). "Nuclear Localization of Annexin A1 Is a Prognostic Factor in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma." J Surg Oncol 97.6: 544-50.
- Liou, H.C., Jin, Z., Tumang, J., Andjelic, S., Smith, K.A., and Liou, M.L. (1999). "C-Rel Is Crucial for Lymphocyte Proliferation but Dispensable for T Cell Effector Function." Int Immunol 11.3: 361-71.
- Liu, M., Guo, S., Hibbert, J.M., Jain, V., Singh, N., Wilson, N.O., and Stiles, J.K. (2011). "Cxcl10/Ip-10 in Infectious Diseases Pathogenesis and Potential Therapeutic Implications." Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 22.3: 121-30.
- Liu, M., Zhao, J., Chen, K., Bian, X., Wang, C., Shi, Y., and Wang, J.M. (2012). "G Protein-Coupled Receptor Fpr1 as a Pharmacologic Target in Inflammation and Human Glioblastoma." Int Immunopharmacol 14.3: 283-88.
- Liu, X., Yu, H., Yang, L., Li, C., and Li, L. (2012). "15-Deoxy-Delta(12,14)-Prostaglandin J(2) Attenuates the Biological Activities of Monocyte/Macrophage Cell Lines." Eur J Cell Biol 91.8: 654-61.
- Loxley, H.D., Cowell, A.M., Flower, R.J., and Buckingham, J.C. (1993). "Effects of Lipocortin 1 and Dexamethasone on the Secretion of Corticotrophin-Releasing Factors in the Rat: In Vitro and in Vivo Studies." J Neuroendocrinol 5.1: 51-61.
- Lu, M., Sarruf, D.A., Talukdar, S., Sharma, S., Li, P., Bandyopadhyay, G., Nalbandian, S., Fan, W., Gayen, J.R., Mahata, S.K., Webster, N.J., Schwartz, M.W., and Olefsky, J.M. (2011). "Brain Ppar-Gamma Promotes Obesity and Is Required for the Insulin-Sensitizing Effect of Thiazolidinediones." Nat Med 17.5: 618-22.
- Lucas, T., Waisman, A., Ranjan, R., Roes, J., Krieg, T., Muller, W., Roers, A., and Eming, S.A. (2010). "Differential Roles of Macrophages in Diverse Phases of Skin Repair." J Immunol 184.7: 3964-77.

- Lund, J., Sato, A., Akira, S., Medzhitov, R., and Iwasaki, A. (2003). "Toll-Like Receptor 9-Mediated Recognition of Herpes Simplex Virus-2 by Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells." J Exp Med 198.3: 513-20.
- Luster, A.D., Greenberg, S.M., and Leder, P. (1995). "The Ip-10 Chemokine Binds to a Specific Cell Surface Heparan Sulfate Site Shared with Platelet Factor 4 and Inhibits Endothelial Cell Proliferation." J Exp Med 182.1: 219-31.
- Luster, A.D., and Ravetch, J.V. (1987). "Biochemical Characterization of a Gamma Interferon-Inducible Cytokine (Ip-10)." J Exp Med 166.4: 1084-97.
- Mandrekar-Colucci, S., Karlo, J.C., and Landreth, G.E. (2012). "Mechanisms Underlying the Rapid Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor-Gamma-Mediated Amyloid Clearance and Reversal of Cognitive Deficits in a Murine Model of Alzheimer's Disease." J Neurosci 32.30: 10117-28.
- Mansour, S.J., Matten, W.T., Hermann, A.S., Candia, J.M., Rong, S., Fukasawa, K., Vande Woude, G.F., and Ahn, N.G. (1994).
  "Transformation of Mammalian Cells by Constitutively Active Map Kinase Kinase." Science 265.5174: 966-70.
- Mantovani, A. (2008). "From Phagocyte Diversity and Activation to Probiotics: Back to Metchnikoff." Eur J Immunol 38.12: 3269-73.
- Mantovani, A., Sica, A., and Locati, M. (2005). "Macrophage Polarization Comes of Age." Immunity 23.4: 344-6.
- Mantovani, A., Sica, A., Sozzani, S., Allavena, P., Vecchi, A., and Locati, M. (2004). "The Chemokine System in Diverse Forms of Macrophage Activation and Polarization." Trends Immunol 25.12: 677-86.
- Mantovani, A., Sozzani, S., Locati, M., Allavena, P., and Sica, A. (2002).
  "Macrophage Polarization: Tumor-Associated Macrophages as a Paradigm for Polarized M2 Mononuclear Phagocytes." Trends Immunol 23.11: 549-55.
- Mantovani, A., Sozzani, S., Locati, M., Schioppa, T., Saccani, A., Allavena, P., and Sica, A. (2004). "Infiltration of Tumours by Macrophages and Dendritic Cells: Tumour-Associated Macrophages as a Paradigm for Polarized M2 Mononuclear Phagocytes." Novartis Found Symp 256: 137-45; discussion 46-8, 259-69.
- Marchlik, E., Thakker, P., Carlson, T., Jiang, Z., Ryan, M., Marusic, S., Goutagny, N., Kuang, W., Askew, G.R., Roberts, V., Benoit, S., Zhou, T., Ling, V., Pfeifer, R., Stedman, N., Fitzgerald, K.A., Lin, L.L., and Hall, J.P. (2010). "Mice Lacking Tbk1 Activity Exhibit Immune Cell Infiltrates in Multiple Tissues and Increased Susceptibility to Lps-Induced Lethality." J Leukoc Biol 88.6: 1171-80.
- Martin, F., Derancourt, J., Capony, J.P., Watrin, A., and Cavadore, J.C. (1988).
  "A 36 Kda Monomeric Protein and Its Complex with a 10 Kda Protein Both Isolated from Bovine Aorta Are Calpactin-Like Proteins That Differ in Their Ca2+-Dependent Calmodulin-Binding and Actin-Severing Properties." Biochem J 251.3: 777-85.
- Martin, G.S., Mannino, D.M., Eaton, S., and Moss, M. (2003). "The Epidemiology of Sepsis in the United States from 1979 through 2000." N Engl J Med 348.16: 1546-54.

- Martinez, F.O., Sica, A., Mantovani, A., and Locati, M. (2008). "Macrophage Activation and Polarization." Front Biosci 13: 453-61.
- Marx, N., Sukhova, G., Murphy, C., Libby, P., and Plutzky, J. (1998).
  "Macrophages in Human Atheroma Contain Ppargamma: Differentiation-Dependent Peroxisomal Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma(Ppargamma) Expression and Reduction of Mmp-9 Activity through Ppargamma Activation in Mononuclear Phagocytes in Vitro." Am J Pathol 153.1: 17-23.
- McArthur, S., Yazid, S., Christian, H., Sirha, R., Flower, R., Buckingham, J., and Solito, E. (2009). "Annexin A1 Regulates Hormone Exocytosis through a Mechanism Involving Actin Reorganization." FASEB J 23.11: 4000-10.
- Medzhitov, R., Preston-Hurlburt, P., and Janeway, C.A., Jr. (1997). "A Human Homologue of the Drosophila Toll Protein Signals Activation of Adaptive Immunity." Nature 388.6640: 394-7.
- Meek, S.E., Lane, W.S., and Piwnica-Worms, H. (2004). "Comprehensive Proteomic Analysis of Interphase and Mitotic 14-3-3-Binding Proteins." J Biol Chem 279.31: 32046-54.
- Meisner, F., Walcher, D., Gizard, F., Kapfer, X., Huber, R., Noak, A., Sunder-Plassmann, L., Bach, H., Haug, C., Bachem, M., Stojakovic, T., Marz, W., Hombach, V., Koenig, W., Staels, B., and Marx, N. (2006). "Effect of Rosiglitazone Treatment on Plaque Inflammation and Collagen Content in Nondiabetic Patients: Data from a Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trial." Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 26.4: 845-50.
- Meng, F., and Lowell, C.A. (1997). "Lipopolysaccharide (Lps)-Induced Macrophage Activation and Signal Transduction in the Absence of Src-Family Kinases Hck, Fgr, and Lyn." J Exp Med 185.9: 1661-70.
- Meyer, T.A., Wang, J., Tiao, G.M., Ogle, C.K., Fischer, J.E., and Hasselgren, P.O. (1995). "Sepsis and Endotoxemia Stimulate Intestinal Interleukin-6 Production." Surgery 118.2: 336-42.
- Meylan, E., Burns, K., Hofmann, K., Blancheteau, V., Martinon, F., Kelliher, M., and Tschopp, J. (2004). "Rip1 Is an Essential Mediator of Toll-Like Receptor 3-Induced Nf-Kappa B Activation." Nat Immunol 5.5: 503-7.
- Mills, C.D., Kincaid, K., Alt, J.M., Heilman, M.J., and Hill, A.M. (2000). "M-1/M-2 Macrophages and the Th1/Th2 Paradigm." J Immunol 164.12: 6166-73.
- Minghetti, L., Nicolini, A., Polazzi, E., Greco, A., Perretti, M., Parente, L., and Levi, G. (1999). "Down-Regulation of Microglial Cyclo-Oxygenase-2 and Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase Expression by Lipocortin 1." Br J Pharmacol 126.6: 1307-14.
- Monastyrskaya, K., Babiychuk, E.B., Hostettler, A., Rescher, U., and Draeger, A. (2007). "Annexins as Intracellular Calcium Sensors." Cell Calcium 41.3: 207-19.
- Mosser, D.M. (2003). "The Many Faces of Macrophage Activation." J Leukoc Biol 73.2: 209-12.
- Mosser, D.M., and Edwards, J.P. (2008). "Exploring the Full Spectrum of Macrophage Activation." Nat Rev Immunol 8.12: 958-69.
- Murphy, J.T., Sommer, S., Kabara, E.A., Verman, N., Kuelbs, M.A., Saama, P., Halgren, R., and Coussens, P.M. (2006). "Gene Expression

Profiling of Monocyte-Derived Macrophages Following Infection with Mycobacterium Avium Subspecies Avium and Mycobacterium Avium Subspecies Paratuberculosis." Physiol Genomics 28.1: 67-75.

- Murray, P.J., and Wynn, T.A. (2011). "Obstacles and Opportunities for Understanding Macrophage Polarization." J Leukoc Biol 89.4: 557-63.
- Nadkarni, S., Cooper, D., Brancaleone, V., Bena, S., and Perretti, M. (2011). "Activation of the Annexin A1 Pathway Underlies the Protective Effects Exerted by Estrogen in Polymorphonuclear Leukocytes." Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 31.11: 2749-59.
- Nagy, L., Tontonoz, P., Alvarez, J.G., Chen, H., and Evans, R.M. (1998). "Oxidized Ldl Regulates Macrophage Gene Expression through Ligand Activation of Ppargamma." Cell 93.2: 229-40.
- Nan, Y., Yang, S., Tian, Y., Zhang, W., Zhou, B., Bu, L., and Huo, S. (2009).
   "Analysis of the Expression Protein Profiles of Lung Squamous Carcinoma Cell Using Shot-Gun Proteomics Strategy." Med Oncol 26.2: 215-21.
- Natoli, G., Saccani, S., Bosisio, D., and Marazzi, I. (2005). "Interactions of Nf-Kappab with Chromatin: The Art of Being at the Right Place at the Right Time." Nat Immunol 6.5: 439-45.
- Nau, G.J., Richmond, J.F., Schlesinger, A., Jennings, E.G., Lander, E.S., and Young, R.A. (2002). "Human Macrophage Activation Programs Induced by Bacterial Pathogens." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99.3: 1503-8.
- Nemeth, T., and Mocsai, A. (2012). "The Role of Neutrophils in Autoimmune Diseases." Immunol Lett 143.1: 9-19.
- Ng, C.T., and Oldstone, M.B. (2012). "Infected Cd8alpha- Dendritic Cells Are the Predominant Source of Il-10 During Establishment of Persistent Viral Infection." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109.35: 14116-21.
- Ng, F.S., Wong, K.Y., Guan, S.P., Mustafa, F.B., Kajiji, T.S., Bist, P., Biswas, S.K., Wong, W.S., and Lim, L.H. (2011). "Annexin-1-Deficient Mice Exhibit Spontaneous Airway Hyperresponsiveness and Exacerbated Allergen-Specific Antibody Responses in a Mouse Model of Asthma." Clin Exp Allergy 41.12: 1793-803.
- Noel, W., Raes, G., Hassanzadeh Ghassabeh, G., De Baetselier, P., and Beschin, A. (2004). "Alternatively Activated Macrophages During Parasite Infections." Trends Parasitol 20.3: 126-33.
- Nomura, F., Kawai, T., Nakanishi, K., and Akira, S. (2000). "Nf-Kappab Activation through Ikk-I-Dependent I-Traf/Tank Phosphorylation." Genes Cells 5.3: 191-202.
- Ohshima, K., Mogi, M., and Horiuchi, M. (2012). "Role of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor-Gamma in Vascular Inflammation." Int J Vasc Med 2012: 508416.
- Opal, S.M. (2010). "New Perspectives on Immunomodulatory Therapy for Bacteraemia and Sepsis." Int J Antimicrob Agents 36 Suppl 2: S70-3.
- Ozinsky, A., Underhill, D.M., Fontenot, J.D., Hajjar, A.M., Smith, K.D., Wilson, C.B., Schroeder, L., and Aderem, A. (2000). "The Repertoire for Pattern Recognition of Pathogens by the Innate Immune System Is Defined by Cooperation between Toll-Like Receptors." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97.25: 13766-71.

- Padkin, A., Goldfrad, C., Brady, A.R., Young, D., Black, N., and Rowan, K. (2003). "Epidemiology of Severe Sepsis Occurring in the First 24 Hrs in Intensive Care Units in England, Wales, and Northern Ireland." Crit Care Med 31.9: 2332-8.
- Palma, A., Sainaghi, P.P., Amoruso, A., Fresu, L.G., Avanzi, G., Pirisi, M., and Brunelleschi, S. (2012). "Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor-Gamma Expression in Monocytes/Macrophages from Rheumatoid Arthritis Patients: Relation to Disease Activity and Therapy Efficacy--a Pilot Study." Rheumatology (Oxford) 51.11: 1942-52.
- Parente, L., and Solito, E. (2004). "Annexin 1: More Than an Anti-Phospholipase Protein." Inflamm Res 53.4: 125-32.
- Paschalidis, N., Huggins, A., Rowbotham, N.J., Furmanski, A.L., Crompton, T., Flower, R.J., Perretti, M., and D'Acquisto, F. (2010). "Role of Endogenous Annexin-A1 in the Regulation of Thymocyte Positive and Negative Selection." Cell Cycle 9.4: 784-93.
- Pattison, M.J., Mackenzie, K.F., and Arthur, J.S. (2012). "Inhibition of Jaks in Macrophages Increases Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Cytokine Production by Blocking Il-10-Mediated Feedback." J Immunol 189.6: 2784-92.
- Paun, A., and Pitha, P.M. (2007). "The Irf Family, Revisited." Biochimie 89.6-7: 744-53.
- Pearce, E.J., and MacDonald, A.S. (2002). "The Immunobiology of Schistosomiasis." Nat Rev Immunol 2.7: 499-511.
- Pederzoli-Ribeil, M., Maione, F., Cooper, D., Al-Kashi, A., Dalli, J., Perretti, M., and D'Acquisto, F. (2010). "Design and Characterization of a Cleavage-Resistant Annexin A1 Mutant to Control Inflammation in the Microvasculature." Blood 116.20: 4288-96.
- Peers, S.H., and Flower, R.J. (1990). "The Role of Lipocortin in Corticosteroid Actions." Am Rev Respir Dis 141.2 Pt 2: S18-21.
- Peers, S.H., Smillie, F., Elderfield, A.J., and Flower, R.J. (1993).
  "Glucocorticoid-and Non-Glucocorticoid Induction of Lipocortins (Annexins) 1 and 2 in Rat Peritoneal Leucocytes in Vivo." Br J Pharmacol 108.1: 66-72.
- Penumetcha, M., and Santanam, N. (2012). "Nutraceuticals as Ligands of Ppargamma." PPAR Res 2012: 858352.
- Perretti, M., Chiang, N., La, M., Fierro, I.M., Marullo, S., Getting, S.J., Solito, E., and Serhan, C.N. (2002). "Endogenous Lipid- and Peptide-Derived Anti-Inflammatory Pathways Generated with Glucocorticoid and Aspirin Treatment Activate the Lipoxin A4 Receptor." Nat Med 8.11: 1296-302.
- Perretti, M., and Flower, R.J. (2004). "Annexin 1 and the Biology of the Neutrophil." J Leukoc Biol 76.1: 25-9.
- Perretti, M., Wheller, S.K., Choudhury, Q., Croxtall, J.D., and Flower, R.J. (1995). "Selective Inhibition of Neutrophil Function by a Peptide Derived from Lipocortin 1 N-Terminus." Biochem Pharmacol 50.7: 1037-42.
- Pesce, J.T., Ramalingam, T.R., Mentink-Kane, M.M., Wilson, M.S., El Kasmi, K.C., Smith, A.M., Thompson, R.W., Cheever, A.W., Murray, P.J.,

and Wynn, T.A. (2009). "Arginase-1-Expressing Macrophages Suppress Th2 Cytokine-Driven Inflammation and Fibrosis." PLoS Pathog 5.4: e1000371.

- Petrova, T.V., Akama, K.T., and Van Eldik, L.J. (1999). "Cyclopentenone Prostaglandins Suppress Activation of Microglia: Down-Regulation of Inducible Nitric-Oxide Synthase by 15-Deoxy-Delta12,14-Prostaglandin J2." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96.8: 4668-73.
- Petry, H., Cashion, L., Szymanski, P., Ast, O., Orme, A., Gross, C., Bauzon, M., Brooks, A., Schaefer, C., Gibson, H., Qian, H., Rubanyi, G.M., and Harkins, R.N. (2006). "Mx1 and Ip-10: Biomarkers to Measure Ifn-Beta Activity in Mice Following Gene-Based Delivery." J Interferon Cytokine Res 26.10: 699-705.
- Pfeffer, L.M. (2011). "The Role of Nuclear Factor Kappab in the Interferon Response." J Interferon Cytokine Res 31.7: 553-9.
- Philip, J.G., Flower, R.J., and Buckingham, J.C. (1997). "Glucocorticoids Modulate the Cellular Disposition of Lipocortin 1 in the Rat Brain in Vivo and in Vitro." Neuroreport 8.8: 1871-6.
- Phua, J., Koh, Y., Du, B., Tang, Y.Q., Divatia, J.V., Tan, C.C., Gomersall, C.D., Faruq, M.O., Shrestha, B.R., Gia Binh, N., Arabi, Y.M., Salahuddin, N., Wahyuprajitno, B., Tu, M.L., Wahab, A.Y., Hameed, A.A., Nishimura, M., Procyshyn, M., Chan, Y.H., and Group, M.S. (2011). "Management of Severe Sepsis in Patients Admitted to Asian Intensive Care Units: Prospective Cohort Study." BMJ 342: d3245.
- Pin, A.L., Houle, F., Fournier, P., Guillonneau, M., Paquet, E.R., Simard, M.J., Royal, I., and Huot, J. (2012). "Annexin-1-Mediated Endothelial Cell Migration and Angiogenesis Are Regulated by Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (Vegf)-Induced Inhibition of Mir-196a Expression." J Biol Chem 287.36: 30541-51.
- Pini, M., Rhodes, D.H., Castellanos, K.J., Hall, A.R., Cabay, R.J., Chennuri, R., Grady, E.F., and Fantuzzi, G. (2012). "Role of Il-6 in the Resolution of Pancreatitis in Obese Mice." J Leukoc Biol 91.6: 957-66.
- Pinsky, M.R. (2004). "Dysregulation of the Immune Response in Severe Sepsis." Am J Med Sci 328.4: 220-9.
- Plissonnier, M.L., Fauconnet, S., Bittard, H., and Lascombe, I. (2011). "The Antidiabetic Drug Ciglitazone Induces High Grade Bladder Cancer Cells Apoptosis through the up-Regulation of Trail." PLoS One 6.12: e28354.
- Podlaski, F.J., Nanduri, V.B., Hulmes, J.D., Pan, Y.C., Levin, W., Danho, W., Chizzonite, R., Gately, M.K., and Stern, A.S. (1992). "Molecular Characterization of Interleukin 12." Arch Biochem Biophys 294.1: 230-7.
- Poltorak, A., He, X., Smirnova, I., Liu, M.Y., Van Huffel, C., Du, X., Birdwell, D., Alejos, E., Silva, M., Galanos, C., Freudenberg, M., Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P., Layton, B., and Beutler, B. (1998). "Defective Lps Signaling in C3h/Hej and C57bl/10sccr Mice: Mutations in Tlr4 Gene." Science 282.5396: 2085-8.
- Probst-Cousin, S., Kowolik, D., Kuchelmeister, K., Kayser, C., Neundorfer, B., and Heuss, D. (2002). "Expression of Annexin-1 in Multiple Sclerosis Plaques." Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 28.4: 292-300.

- Pupjalis, D., Goetsch, J., Kottas, D.J., Gerke, V., and Rescher, U. (2011). "Annexin A1 Released from Apoptotic Cells Acts through Formyl Peptide Receptors to Dampen Inflammatory Monocyte Activation Via Jak/Stat/Socs Signalling." EMBO Mol Med 3.2: 102-14.
- Qiu, L., Lin, B., Lin, Z., Lin, Y., Lin, M., and Yang, X. (2012). "Biochanin a Ameliorates the Cytokine Secretion Profile of Lipopolysaccharide-Stimulated Macrophages by a Ppargamma-Dependent Pathway." Mol Med Report 5.1: 217-22.
- Qiu, P., Cui, X., Barochia, A., Li, Y., Natanson, C., and Eichacker, P.Q. (2011). "The Evolving Experience with Therapeutic Tnf Inhibition in Sepsis: Considering the Potential Influence of Risk of Death." Expert Opin Investig Drugs 20.11: 1555-64.
- Rackow, E.C., and Astiz, M.E. (1991). "Pathophysiology and Treatment of Septic Shock." JAMA 266.4: 548-54.
- Radke, S., Austermann, J., Russo-Marie, F., Gerke, V., and Rescher, U. (2004). "Specific Association of Annexin 1 with Plasma Membrane-Resident and Internalized Egf Receptors Mediated through the Protein Core Domain." FEBS Lett 578.1-2: 95-8.
- Raes, G., De Baetselier, P., Noel, W., Beschin, A., Brombacher, F., and Hassanzadeh Gh, G. (2002). "Differential Expression of Fizz1 and Ym1 in Alternatively Versus Classically Activated Macrophages." J Leukoc Biol 71.4: 597-602.
- Rauh, M.J., Ho, V., Pereira, C., Sham, A., Sly, L.M., Lam, V., Huxham, L., Minchinton, A.I., Mui, A., and Krystal, G. (2005). "Ship Represses the Generation of Alternatively Activated Macrophages." Immunity 23.4: 361-74.
- Reim, D., Rossmann-Bloeck, T., Jusek, G., Prazeres da Costa, O., and Holzmann, B. (2011). "Improved Host Defense against Septic Peritonitis in Mice Lacking Myd88 and Trif Is Linked to a Normal Interferon Response." J Leukoc Biol 90.3: 613-20.
- Reinhart, K., and Karzai, W. (2001). "Anti-Tumor Necrosis Factor Therapy in Sepsis: Update on Clinical Trials and Lessons Learned." Crit Care Med 29.7 Suppl: S121-5.
- Rice, T.W., and Bernard, G.R. (2005). "Therapeutic Intervention and Targets for Sepsis." Annu Rev Med 56: 225-48.
- Rice, T.W., Wheeler, A.P., Bernard, G.R., Vincent, J.L., Angus, D.C., Aikawa, N., Demeyer, I., Sainati, S., Amlot, N., Cao, C., Ii, M., Matsuda, H., Mouri, K., and Cohen, J. (2010). "A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial of Tak-242 for the Treatment of Severe Sepsis." Crit Care Med 38.8: 1685-94.
- Ricote, M., Huang, J., Fajas, L., Li, A., Welch, J., Najib, J., Witztum, J.L., Auwerx, J., Palinski, W., and Glass, C.K. (1998). "Expression of the Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma (Ppargamma) in Human Atherosclerosis and Regulation in Macrophages by Colony Stimulating Factors and Oxidized Low Density Lipoprotein." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95.13: 7614-9.
- Ricote, M., Huang, J.T., Welch, J.S., and Glass, C.K. (1999). "The Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor(Ppargamma) as a

Regulator of Monocyte/Macrophage Function." J Leukoc Biol 66.5: 733-9.

- Ricote, M., Li, A.C., Willson, T.M., Kelly, C.J., and Glass, C.K. (1998). "The Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor-Gamma Is a Negative Regulator of Macrophage Activation." Nature 391.6662: 79-82.
- Rietschel, E.T., Kirikae, T., Schade, F.U., Mamat, U., Schmidt, G., Loppnow, H., Ulmer, A.J., Zahringer, U., Seydel, U., Di Padova, F., and et al. (1994). "Bacterial Endotoxin: Molecular Relationships of Structure to Activity and Function." FASEB J 8.2: 217-25.
- Rittirsch, D., Redl, H., and Huber-Lang, M. (2012). "Role of Complement in Multiorgan Failure." Clin Dev Immunol 2012: 962927.
- Rosengarth, A., and Luecke, H. (2003). "A Calcium-Driven Conformational Switch of the N-Terminal and Core Domains of Annexin A1." J Mol Biol 326.5: 1317-25.
- Rossi, A., Kapahi, P., Natoli, G., Takahashi, T., Chen, Y., Karin, M., and Santoro, M.G. (2000). "Anti-Inflammatory Cyclopentenone Prostaglandins Are Direct Inhibitors of Ikappab Kinase." Nature 403.6765: 103-8.
- Roviezzo, F., Getting, S.J., Paul-Clark, M.J., Yona, S., Gavins, F.N., Perretti, M., Hannon, R., Croxtall, J.D., Buckingham, J.C., and Flower, R.J. (2002). "The Annexin-1 Knockout Mouse: What It Tells Us About the Inflammatory Response." J Physiol Pharmacol 53.4 Pt 1: 541-53.
- Ruan, Q., and Chen, Y.H. (2012). "Nuclear Factor-Kappab in Immunity and Inflammation: The Treg and Th17 Connection." Adv Exp Med Biol 946: 207-21.
- Saccani, A., Schioppa, T., Porta, C., Biswas, S.K., Nebuloni, M., Vago, L., Bottazzi, B., Colombo, M.P., Mantovani, A., and Sica, A. (2006). "P50 Nuclear Factor-Kappab Overexpression in Tumor-Associated Macrophages Inhibits M1 Inflammatory Responses and Antitumor Resistance." Cancer Res 66.23: 11432-40.
- Sakaguchi, M., and Huh, N.H. (2011). "S100a11, a Dual Growth Regulator of Epidermal Keratinocytes." Amino Acids 41.4: 797-807.
- Sakamoto, T., Repasky, W.T., Uchida, K., Hirata, A., and Hirata, F. (1996). "Modulation of Cell Death Pathways to Apoptosis and Necrosis of H2o2-Treated Rat Thymocytes by Lipocortin I." Biochem Biophys Res Commun 220.3: 643-7.
- Salomao, R., Martins, P.S., Brunialti, M.K., Fernandes Mda, L., Martos, L.S., Mendes, M.E., Gomes, N.E., and Rigato, O. (2008). "Tlr Signaling Pathway in Patients with Sepsis." Shock 30 Suppl 1: 73-7.
- Sanjabi, S., Hoffmann, A., Liou, H.C., Baltimore, D., and Smale, S.T. (2000). "Selective Requirement for C-Rel During II-12 P40 Gene Induction in Macrophages." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97.23: 12705-10.
- Sarndahl, E., Bergstrom, I., Nijm, J., Forslund, T., Perretti, M., and Jonasson, L. (2010). "Enhanced Neutrophil Expression of Annexin-1 in Coronary Artery Disease." Metabolism 59.3: 433-40.
- Sasaki, M., Jordan, P., Welbourne, T., Minagar, A., Joh, T., Itoh, M., Elrod, J.W., and Alexander, J.S. (2005). "Troglitazone, a Ppar-Gamma Activator Prevents Endothelial Cell Adhesion Molecule Expression and Lymphocyte Adhesion Mediated by Tnf-Alpha." BMC Physiol 5.1: 3.

- Scannell, M., Flanagan, M.B., deStefani, A., Wynne, K.J., Cagney, G., Godson, C., and Maderna, P. (2007). "Annexin-1 and Peptide Derivatives Are Released by Apoptotic Cells and Stimulate Phagocytosis of Apoptotic Neutrophils by Macrophages." J Immunol 178.7: 4595-605.
- Scull, C.M., Hays, W.D., and Fischer, T.H. (2010). "Macrophage Pro-Inflammatory Cytokine Secretion Is Enhanced Following Interaction with Autologous Platelets." J Inflamm (Lond) 7: 53.
- Sha, W.C., Liou, H.C., Tuomanen, E.I., and Baltimore, D. (1995). "Targeted Disruption of the P50 Subunit of Nf-Kappa B Leads to Multifocal Defects in Immune Responses." Cell 80.2: 321-30.
- Shahabuddin, S., Ji, R., Wang, P., Brailoiu, E., Dun, N., Yang, Y., Aksoy, M.O., and Kelsen, S.G. (2006). "Cxcr3 Chemokine Receptor-Induced Chemotaxis in Human Airway Epithelial Cells: Role of P38 Mapk and Pi3k Signaling Pathways." Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 291.1: C34-9.
- Shalova, I.N., Kajiji, T., Lim, J.Y., Gomez-Pina, V., Fernandez-Ruiz, I., Arnalich, F., Iau, P.T., Lopez-Collazo, E., Wong, S.C., and Biswas, S.K. (2012). "Cd16 Regulates Trif-Dependent Tlr4 Response in Human Monocytes and Their Subsets." J Immunol 188.8: 3584-93.
- Sharma, S., tenOever, B.R., Grandvaux, N., Zhou, G.P., Lin, R., and Hiscott, J. (2003). "Triggering the Interferon Antiviral Response through an Ikk-Related Pathway." Science 300.5622: 1148-51.
- Shaughnessy, L.M., and Swanson, J.A. (2007). "The Role of the Activated Macrophage in Clearing Listeria Monocytogenes Infection." Front Biosci 12: 2683-92.
- Shaulian, E., and Karin, M. (2002). "Ap-1 as a Regulator of Cell Life and Death." Nat Cell Biol 4.5: E131-6.
- Shen, H., Schuster, R., Lu, B., Waltz, S.E., and Lentsch, A.B. (2006). "Critical and Opposing Roles of the Chemokine Receptors Cxcr2 and Cxcr3 in Prostate Tumor Growth." Prostate 66.16: 1721-8.
- Shimoji, T., Murakami, K., Sugiyama, Y., Matsuda, M., Inubushi, S., Nasu, J., Shirakura, M., Suzuki, T., Wakita, T., Kishino, T., Hotta, H., Miyamura, T., and Shoji, I. (2009). "Identification of Annexin A1 as a Novel Substrate for E6ap-Mediated Ubiquitylation." J Cell Biochem 106.6: 1123-35.
- Shirey, K.A., Pletneva, L.M., Puche, A.C., Keegan, A.D., Prince, G.A., Blanco, J.C., and Vogel, S.N. (2010). "Control of Rsv-Induced Lung Injury by Alternatively Activated Macrophages Is II-4r Alpha-, Tlr4-, and Ifn-Beta-Dependent." Mucosal Immunol 3.3: 291-300.
- Sica, A., and Bronte, V. (2007). "Altered Macrophage Differentiation and Immune Dysfunction in Tumor Development." J Clin Invest 117.5: 1155-66.
- Sica, A., Saccani, A., Bottazzi, B., Polentarutti, N., Vecchi, A., van Damme, J., and Mantovani, A. (2000). "Autocrine Production of Il-10 Mediates Defective Il-12 Production and Nf-Kappa B Activation in Tumor-Associated Macrophages." J Immunol 164.2: 762-7.
- Sica, A., Schioppa, T., Mantovani, A., and Allavena, P. (2006). "Tumour-Associated Macrophages Are a Distinct M2 Polarised Population Promoting Tumour Progression: Potential Targets of Anti-Cancer Therapy." Eur J Cancer 42.6: 717-27.

- Silistino-Souza, R., Rodrigues-Lisoni, F.C., Cury, P.M., Maniglia, J.V., Raposo, L.S., Tajara, E.H., Christian, H.C., and Oliani, S.M. (2007).
  "Annexin 1: Differential Expression in Tumor and Mast Cells in Human Larynx Cancer." Int J Cancer 120.12: 2582-9.
- Skrupky, L.P., Kerby, P.W., and Hotchkiss, R.S. (2011). "Advances in the Management of Sepsis and the Understanding of Key Immunologic Defects." Anesthesiology 115.6: 1349-62.
- Smyth, T., Harris, H.J., Brown, A., Totemeyer, S., Farnfield, B.A., Maskell, D.J., Matsumoto, M., Plevin, R., Alldridge, L.C., and Bryant, C.E. (2006). "Differential Modulatory Effects of Annexin 1 on Nitric Oxide Synthase Induction by Lipopolysaccharide in Macrophages." Immunology 117.3: 340-9.
- Solis, M., Romieu-Mourez, R., Goubau, D., Grandvaux, N., Mesplede, T., Julkunen, I., Nardin, A., Salcedo, M., and Hiscott, J. (2007).
  "Involvement of Tbk1 and Ikkepsilon in Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Activation of the Interferon Response in Primary Human Macrophages." Eur J Immunol 37.2: 528-39.
- Solito, E., Kamal, A., Russo-Marie, F., Buckingham, J.C., Marullo, S., and Perretti, M. (2003). "A Novel Calcium-Dependent Proapoptotic Effect of Annexin 1 on Human Neutrophils." FASEB J 17.11: 1544-6.
- Solito, E., Mulla, A., Morris, J.F., Christian, H.C., Flower, R.J., and Buckingham, J.C. (2003). "Dexamethasone Induces Rapid Serine-Phosphorylation and Membrane Translocation of Annexin 1 in a Human Folliculostellate Cell Line Via a Novel Nongenomic Mechanism Involving the Glucocorticoid Receptor, Protein Kinase C, Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase, and Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase." Endocrinology 144.4: 1164-74.
- Solito, E., Nuti, S., and Parente, L. (1994). "Dexamethasone-Induced Translocation of Lipocortin (Annexin) 1 to the Cell Membrane of U-937 Cells." Br J Pharmacol 112.2: 347-8.
- Solito, E., Raguenes-Nicol, C., de Coupade, C., Bisagni-Faure, A., and Russo-Marie, F. (1998). "U937 Cells Deprived of Endogenous Annexin 1 Demonstrate an Increased Pla2 Activity." Br J Pharmacol 124.8: 1675-83.
- Stienstra, R., Duval, C., Keshtkar, S., van der Laak, J., Kersten, S., and Muller, M. (2008). "Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma Activation Promotes Infiltration of Alternatively Activated Macrophages into Adipose Tissue." J Biol Chem 283.33: 22620-7.
- Suematsu, S., Matsusaka, T., Matsuda, T., Ohno, S., Miyazaki, J., Yamamura, K., Hirano, T., and Kishimoto, T. (1992). "Generation of Plasmacytomas with the Chromosomal Translocation T(12;15) in Interleukin 6 Transgenic Mice." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89.1: 232-5.
- Sugimoto, K., Ohata, M., Miyoshi, J., Ishizaki, H., Tsuboi, N., Masuda, A., Yoshikai, Y., Takamoto, M., Sugane, K., Matsuo, S., Shimada, Y., and Matsuguchi, T. (2004). "A Serine/Threonine Kinase, Cot/Tpl2, Modulates Bacterial DNA-Induced II-12 Production and Th Cell Differentiation." J Clin Invest 114.6: 857-66.
- Tak, P.P., and Firestein, G.S. (2001). "Nf-Kappab: A Key Role in Inflammatory Diseases." J Clin Invest 107.1: 7-11.

- Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2007). "Toll-Like Receptors." Curr Protoc Immunol Chapter 14: Unit 14 12.
- Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2005). "Toll-Like Receptors in Innate Immunity." Int Immunol 17.1: 1-14.
- Takeda, K., Kaisho, T., and Akira, S. (2003). "Toll-Like Receptors." Annu Rev Immunol 21: 335-76.
- Takeuchi, O., and Akira, S. (2010). "Pattern Recognition Receptors and Inflammation." Cell 140.6: 805-20.
- Takeuchi, O., Hoshino, K., Kawai, T., Sanjo, H., Takada, H., Ogawa, T., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (1999). "Differential Roles of Tlr2 and Tlr4 in Recognition of Gram-Negative and Gram-Positive Bacterial Cell Wall Components." Immunity 11.4: 443-51.
- Takeuchi, O., Kawai, T., Muhlradt, P.F., Morr, M., Radolf, J.D., Zychlinsky, A., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2001). "Discrimination of Bacterial Lipoproteins by Toll-Like Receptor 6." Int Immunol 13.7: 933-40.
- Taylor, A.D., Cowell, A.M., Flower, J., and Buckingham, J.C. (1993). "Lipocortin 1 Mediates an Early Inhibitory Action of Glucocorticoids on the Secretion of Acth by the Rat Anterior Pituitary Gland in Vitro." Neuroendocrinology 58.4: 430-9.
- Theofilopoulos, A.N., Baccala, R., Beutler, B., and Kono, D.H. (2005). "Type I Interferons (Alpha/Beta) in Immunity and Autoimmunity." Annu Rev Immunol 23: 307-36.
- Tontonoz, P., Nagy, L., Alvarez, J.G., Thomazy, V.A., and Evans, R.M. (1998). "Ppargamma Promotes Monocyte/Macrophage Differentiation and Uptake of Oxidized Ldl." Cell 93.2: 241-52.
- Toshchakov, V., Jones, B.W., Perera, P.Y., Thomas, K., Cody, M.J., Zhang, S., Williams, B.R., Major, J., Hamilton, T.A., Fenton, M.J., and Vogel, S.N. (2002). "Tlr4, but Not Tlr2, Mediates Ifn-Beta-Induced Stat1alpha/Beta-Dependent Gene Expression in Macrophages." Nat Immunol 3.4: 392-8.
- Trinchieri, G. (2003). "Interleukin-12 and the Regulation of Innate Resistance and Adaptive Immunity." Nat Rev Immunol 3.2: 133-46.
- Trinchieri, G. (1995). "The Two Faces of Interleukin 12: A Pro-Inflammatory Cytokine and a Key Immunoregulatory Molecule Produced by Antigen-Presenting Cells." Ciba Found Symp 195: 203-14; discussion 14-20.
- Tsubouchi, Y., Kawahito, Y., Kohno, M., Inoue, K., Hla, T., and Sano, H. (2001). "Feedback Control of the Arachidonate Cascade in Rheumatoid Synoviocytes by 15-Deoxy-Delta(12,14)-Prostaglandin J2." Biochem Biophys Res Commun 283.4: 750-5.
- Tsujimoto, H., Ono, S., Efron, P.A., Scumpia, P.O., Moldawer, L.L., and Mochizuki, H. (2008). "Role of Toll-Like Receptors in the Development of Sepsis." Shock 29.3: 315-21.
- Uzzaman, A., and Fuleihan, R.L. (2012). "Chapter 27: Approach to Primary Immunodeficiency." Allergy Asthma Proc 33 Suppl 1: S91-5.
- Vaidya, S., Somers, E.P., Wright, S.D., Detmers, P.A., and Bansal, V.S. (1999). "15-Deoxy-Delta12,1412,14-Prostaglandin J2 Inhibits the Beta2 Integrin-Dependent Oxidative Burst: Involvement of a Mechanism Distinct from Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma Ligation." J Immunol 163.11: 6187-92.

- van de Veerdonk, F.L., Plantinga, T.S., Hoischen, A., Smeekens, S.P., Joosten, L.A., Gilissen, C., Arts, P., Rosentul, D.C., Carmichael, A.J., Smitsvan der Graaf, C.A., Kullberg, B.J., van der Meer, J.W., Lilic, D., Veltman, J.A., and Netea, M.G. (2011). "Stat1 Mutations in Autosomal Dominant Chronic Mucocutaneous Candidiasis." N Engl J Med 365.1: 54-61.
- van der Poll, T., Keogh, C.V., Guirao, X., Buurman, W.A., Kopf, M., and Lowry, S.F. (1997). "Interleukin-6 Gene-Deficient Mice Show Impaired Defense against Pneumococcal Pneumonia." J Infect Dis 176.2: 439-44.
- Verma, I.M., Stevenson, J.K., Schwarz, E.M., Van Antwerp, D., and Miyamoto, S. (1995). "Rel/Nf-Kappa B/I Kappa B Family: Intimate Tales of Association and Dissociation." Genes Dev 9.22: 2723-35.
- Vincent, J.L., Sakr, Y., Sprung, C.L., Ranieri, V.M., Reinhart, K., Gerlach, H., Moreno, R., Carlet, J., Le Gall, J.R., Payen, D., and Sepsis Occurrence in Acutely Ill Patients, I. (2006). "Sepsis in European Intensive Care Units: Results of the Soap Study." Crit Care Med 34.2: 344-53.
- Vishwanatha, J.K., Salazar, E., and Gopalakrishnan, V.K. (2004). "Absence of Annexin I Expression in B-Cell Non-Hodgkin's Lymphomas and Cell Lines." BMC Cancer 4: 8.
- Walsh, L.J., Trinchieri, G., Waldorf, H.A., Whitaker, D., and Murphy, G.F. (1991). "Human Dermal Mast Cells Contain and Release Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha, Which Induces Endothelial Leukocyte Adhesion Molecule 1." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88.10: 4220-4.
- Walther, A., Riehemann, K., and Gerke, V. (2000). "A Novel Ligand of the Formyl Peptide Receptor: Annexin I Regulates Neutrophil Extravasation by Interacting with the Fpr." Mol Cell 5.5: 831-40.
- Wang, L.D., Yang, Y.H., Liu, Y., Song, H.T., Zhang, L.Y., and Li, P.L. (2008). "Decreased Expression of Annexin A1 During the Progression of Cervical Neoplasia." J Int Med Res 36.4: 665-72.
- Wang, W., and Creutz, C.E. (1994). "Role of the Amino-Terminal Domain in Regulating Interactions of Annexin I with Membranes: Effects of Amino-Terminal Truncation and Mutagenesis of the Phosphorylation Sites." Biochemistry 33.1: 275-82.
- Wang, X.M., Hamza, M., Wu, T.X., and Dionne, R.A. (2009). "Upregulation of II-6, II-8 and Ccl2 Gene Expression after Acute Inflammation: Correlation to Clinical Pain." Pain 142.3: 275-83.
- Wang, Z.M., Zhu, S.G., Wu, Z.W., Lu, Y., Fu, H.Z., and Qian, R.Q. (2011). "Kirenol Upregulates Nuclear Annexin-1 Which Interacts with Nf-Kappab to Attenuate Synovial Inflammation of Collagen-Induced Arthritis in Rats." J Ethnopharmacol 137.1: 774-82.
- Weighardt, H., and Holzmann, B. (2007). "Role of Toll-Like Receptor Responses for Sepsis Pathogenesis." Immunobiology 212.9-10: 715-22.
- Weighardt, H., Jusek, G., Mages, J., Lang, R., Hoebe, K., Beutler, B., and Holzmann, B. (2004). "Identification of a Tlr4- and Trif-Dependent Activation Program of Dendritic Cells." Eur J Immunol 34.2: 558-64.
- Welch, J.S., Ricote, M., Akiyama, T.E., Gonzalez, F.J., and Glass, C.K. (2003). "Ppargamma and Ppardelta Negatively Regulate Specific Subsets of Lipopolysaccharide and Ifn-Gamma Target Genes in Macrophages." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100.11: 6712-7.

- Williams, S.L., Milne, I.R., Bagley, C.J., Gamble, J.R., Vadas, M.A., Pitson, S.M., and Khew-Goodall, Y. (2010). "A Proinflammatory Role for Proteolytically Cleaved Annexin A1 in Neutrophil Transendothelial Migration." J Immunol 185.5: 3057-63.
- Wong, M., Uddin, S., Majchrzak, B., Huynh, T., Proudfoot, A.E., Platanias, L.C., and Fish, E.N. (2001). "Rantes Activates Jak2 and Jak3 to Regulate Engagement of Multiple Signaling Pathways in T Cells." J Biol Chem 276.14: 11427-31.
- Wu, Z., Xie, Y., Morrison, R.F., Bucher, N.L., and Farmer, S.R. (1998).
  "Ppargamma Induces the Insulin-Dependent Glucose Transporter Glut4 in the Absence of C/Ebpalpha During the Conversion of 3t3 Fibroblasts into Adipocytes." J Clin Invest 101.1: 22-32.
- Wynn, J.L., and Wong, H.R. (2010). "Pathophysiology and Treatment of Septic Shock in Neonates." Clin Perinatol 37.2: 439-79.
- Xu, L.M., Jin, S.W., Zhou, X.Y., Wu, P., Li, Y.S., Zhang, L., Lin, Y.Y., Chen, Y., and Ye, D.Y. (2009). "Effects of Exogenous Annexin-1 on Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Proliferation and Reactive Oxygen Species Production Partially through Modulation of Crac Channels but Independent of Nf-Kappab Pathway." Inflamm Res 58.12: 921-30.
- Yamamoto, M., Sato, S., Hemmi, H., Hoshino, K., Kaisho, T., Sanjo, H., Takeuchi, O., Sugiyama, M., Okabe, M., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2003). "Role of Adaptor Trif in the Myd88-Independent Toll-Like Receptor Signaling Pathway." Science 301.5633: 640-3.
- Yang, Y.H., Aeberli, D., Dacumos, A., Xue, J.R., and Morand, E.F. (2009). "Annexin-1 Regulates Macrophage II-6 and Tnf Via Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper." J Immunol 183.2: 1435-45.
- Yang, Y.H., Hutchinson, P., Santos, L.L., and Morand, E.F. (1998). "Glucocorticoid Inhibition of Adjuvant Arthritis Synovial Macrophage Nitric Oxide Production: Role of Lipocortin 1." Clin Exp Immunol 111.1: 117-22.
- Yarovinsky, F., Zhang, D., Andersen, J.F., Bannenberg, G.L., Serhan, C.N., Hayden, M.S., Hieny, S., Sutterwala, F.S., Flavell, R.A., Ghosh, S., and Sher, A. (2005). "Tlr11 Activation of Dendritic Cells by a Protozoan Profilin-Like Protein." Science 308.5728: 1626-9.
- Yasuda, K., Kawano, H., Yamane, I., Ogawa, Y., Yoshinaga, T., Nishikawa, M., and Takakura, Y. (2004). "Restricted Cytokine Production from Mouse Peritoneal Macrophages in Culture in Spite of Extensive Uptake of Plasmid DNA." Immunology 111.3: 282-90.
- Yessoufou, A., and Wahli, W. (2010). "Multifaceted Roles of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptors (Ppars) at the Cellular and Whole Organism Levels." Swiss Med Wkly 140: w13071.
- Yin, G.Q., Du, K.H., Gu, F.R., Fang, Z.X., Tang, J.Q., Zhong, B., Zhu, X.Y., Wu, Y.W., and Lu, C.P. (2007). "Early-Phase Endotoxic Shock-Induced Myocardial Injury Increases Inos and Selectin Expression in Macaque Primate." Heart Lung Circ 16.2: 85-92.
- Yona, S., Heinsbroek, S.E., Peiser, L., Gordon, S., Perretti, M., and Flower, R.J. (2006). "Impaired Phagocytic Mechanism in Annexin 1 Null Macrophages." Br J Pharmacol 148.4: 469-77.
- Yoneyama, M., Kikuchi, M., Natsukawa, T., Shinobu, N., Imaizumi, T., Miyagishi, M., Taira, K., Akira, S., and Fujita, T. (2004). "The Rna

Helicase Rig-I Has an Essential Function in Double-Stranded Rna-Induced Innate Antiviral Responses." Nat Immunol 5.7: 730-7.

- Yu, G., Wang, J., Chen, Y., Wang, X., Pan, J., Li, Q., and Xie, K. (2008).
   "Tissue Microarray Analysis Reveals Strong Clinical Evidence for a Close Association between Loss of Annexin A1 Expression and Nodal Metastasis in Gastric Cancer." Clin Exp Metastasis 25.7: 695-702.
- Zhang, D., Zhang, G., Hayden, M.S., Greenblatt, M.B., Bussey, C., Flavell, R.A., and Ghosh, S. (2004). "A Toll-Like Receptor That Prevents Infection by Uropathogenic Bacteria." Science 303.5663: 1522-6.
- Zhang, M., and Fritsche, K.L. (2004). "Fatty Acid-Mediated Inhibition of II-12 Production by Murine Macrophages Is Independent of Ppargamma." Br J Nutr 91.5: 733-9.
- Zhang, Z., Huang, L., Zhao, W., and Rigas, B. (2010). "Annexin 1 Induced by Anti-Inflammatory Drugs Binds to Nf-Kappab and Inhibits Its Activation: Anticancer Effects in Vitro and in Vivo." Cancer Res 70.6: 2379-88.
- Zhao, M.L., Brosnan, C.F., and Lee, S.C. (2004). "15-Deoxy-Delta (12,14)-Pgj2 Inhibits Astrocyte II-1 Signaling: Inhibition of Nf-Kappab and Map Kinase Pathways and Suppression of Cytokine and Chemokine Expression." J Neuroimmunol 153.1-2: 132-42.
- Zhao, T., Yang, L., Sun, Q., Arguello, M., Ballard, D.W., Hiscott, J., and Lin, R. (2007). "The Nemo Adaptor Bridges the Nuclear Factor-Kappab and Interferon Regulatory Factor Signaling Pathways." Nat Immunol 8.6: 592-600.
- Zhao, W., Wang, L., Zhang, M., Wang, P., Zhang, L., Yuan, C., Qi, J., Qiao, Y., Kuo, P.C., and Gao, C. (2011). "Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma Negatively Regulates Ifn-Beta Production in Toll-Like Receptor (Tlr) 3- and Tlr4-Stimulated Macrophages by Preventing Interferon Regulatory Factor 3 Binding to the Ifn-Beta Promoter." J Biol Chem 286.7: 5519-28.
- Zhou, L., Nazarian, A.A., and Smale, S.T. (2004). "Interleukin-10 Inhibits Interleukin-12 P40 Gene Transcription by Targeting a Late Event in the Activation Pathway." Mol Cell Biol 24.6: 2385-96.
- Ziegler, E.J., Fisher, C.J., Jr., Sprung, C.L., Straube, R.C., Sadoff, J.C., Foulke, G.E., Wortel, C.H., Fink, M.P., Dellinger, R.P., Teng, N.N., and et al. (1991). "Treatment of Gram-Negative Bacteremia and Septic Shock with Ha-1a Human Monoclonal Antibody against Endotoxin. A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial. The Ha-1a Sepsis Study Group." N Engl J Med 324.7: 429-36.
- Zingarelli, B., Sheehan, M., Hake, P.W., O'Connor, M., Denenberg, A., and Cook, J.A. (2003). "Peroxisome Proliferator Activator Receptor-Gamma Ligands, 15-Deoxy-Delta(12,14)-Prostaglandin J2 and Ciglitazone, Reduce Systemic Inflammation in Polymicrobial Sepsis by Modulation of Signal Transduction Pathways." J Immunol 171.12: 6827-37.

## 7. APPENDICES

ANXA1 interacting proteins						
Interacting Partner	Description of its known functional role (summarized from UniProt)	Species of the two interacting molecules	Interaction Detection Method	Protein Databas e Source	References	
ACTB (Cytoplasm ic beta- Actin)	Key molecule in cell motility that is ubiquitously expressed in all eukaryotic cells. Often used as a loading control in protein assays	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004	
Alpha- enolase	Multifunctional enzyme involved in glycolysis, plays a part in growth control, hypoxia tolerance and allergic response	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004	
ATP5A1 (ATP synthase subunit alpha, mitochond rial)	Part of mitochondrial membrane ATP synthase complex	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004	
CD4 (T-cell surface glycoprotei n CD4)	Accessory protein for MHC class II antigen/T-cell receptor interaction	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004	
DDX3X (ATP- dependent RNA helicase)	RNA helicase	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Ewing <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2007	
DHRS2 (Dehydrog enase/redu ctase SDR family member 2)	An NADPH- dependent dicarbonyl reductase	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004	

DLG3 (Disks large homolog 3)	Defects in DLG3 are the cause of mental retardation X- linked type 90.	Human - Human	Anti-bait immunop recipitatio n	IntAct, GRID	Ewing <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2007
EEF1B2 (Elongation Factor1- beta)	Responsible for delivery of tRNAs to ribosome	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
EGFR (Epidermal growth factor receptor)	Recruits adapter proteins like GRB2 and activate RAS-RAF pathway, PI3 kinase-AKT pathway, PLC gamma-PKC pathway, and STAT modules	Human - Human	Colocaliza tion by Immunost aining	MINT, HPRD	Radke <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2004
EIF3E (Eukaryotic initiation factor 3 subunit E)	Part of eIF-3 complex that stimulates mRNA recruitment into ribosome subunit	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
EIF4A2 (Eukaryotic initiation factor 4A- II)	RNA helicase required for mRNA binding to ribosome	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
FARSB (Phenylala nine-tRNA ligase beta subunit)	tRNA carrier for the amino acid phenylalanine during translation	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
GAPDH (Glyceride- 3- phosphatas e dehydroge nase)	glyceraldehyde-3- phosphate dehydrogenase	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
GNAI2 (Guanine nucleotide- binding protein G subunit alpha-2)	Transmembrane signaling system involved in the regulation of adenylate cyclase	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004

HNRPH1 (Heterogen eous nuclear ribonucleo protein H)	A component of hnRNP complex which provides substrate for pre- mRNA processing	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
HSPA8 (Heat shock cognate 71 kDa protein)	Repressor of transcriptional activation. Inhibits Smad- mediated transcription. Also acts as a chaperone	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
KPNB1 (Importain subunit beta-1)	Functions in nuclear protein import. Servces itself as an NLS receptor	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
LCK (Tyrosine- protein kinase)	Selection and maturation of developing T-cells	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
LRPPRC (Leucine- rich PPR motif- containing protein, mitrochon drial)	Binds to poly (A) mRNA in mitochondria	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
MME (Neprilysin)	Destruction of opiod peptides and degradation of atrial natriuretic factor. Also possess elastase activity under UV- induction	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
MYL12A (Myosin regulatory light chain 12A)	Myosin regulatory subunit	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
NCL (Nucleolin)	Induces chromatin condensation by binding to histone H1	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004

NFKBIA (NF-κB inhibitor alpha)	Inhibits activity of dimeric NF- kappa-B/REL complexes by masking nuclear localization signals	Human - Human	Tandem Affiinity Purificatio n	IntAct	Bouwmee ster <i>et al.,</i> 2004
PHB (Prohibitin)	Inhibits DNA synthesis; plays a role in regulating proliferation	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
PPM1B (Protein phosphota se 1B)	Dephosphorylate s CDK2 and CDK6 in vitro	Human - Human	Anti-bait immunop recipitatio n	IntAct, GRID	Ewing et al., 2007
RARA (Retinoic acid receptor alpha)	Receptor for retinoid acid	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
RPL7 (60S ribosomal protein L7)	Binds to G-rich structures in 28S rRNA and in mRNAs; Plays a regulatory role in translation and inhibits cell-free translation of mRNAs	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
RPL7A (60S ribosomal protein L7- premature form)	Binds to G-rich structures in 28S rRNA and in mRNAs; Plays a regulatory role in translation and inhibits cell-free translation of mRNAs	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
RPS18 (40S ribosomal protein S18)	Forms the head of the 40S ribosomal protein complex	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
RPS19 (40S ribosomal protein S19)	Required for pre- rRNA processing and maturation of 40S ribosomal subunits	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
S100A11 (Protein S100-A11)	Differentiation and cornification of kertinocytes	Human - Human	two- hybrid	HPRD	Bianchi <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2003

SSRP1 (FACT complex subunit 1)	Component of the FACT complex, a nucleosome reorganizer	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
TNPO1 (Transporti n-1 / Importin beta-2)	Nuclear transport receptor	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
TRPM7 (Transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily M member 7)	Essential ion channel and serine/threonine- protein kinase. Permeable to calcium and magnesium. Phosphorylates ANXA1 at serine residue position 5.	Human - Human	two- hybrid	HPRD	Dorokov et al., 2004
TUBB (Tubulin)	Major constituent of microtubles	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
VDAC3 (Voltage- dependent anion- selective channel protein 1)	Forms a channel through the mitochondrial outer membrane that allows diffusion of small hyrophillic molecules	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
VDAC3 (Voltage- dependent anion- selective channel protein 2)	Forms a channel through the mitochondrial outer membrane that allows diffusion of small hyrophillic molecules	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
VDAC3 (Voltage- dependent anion- selective channel protein 3)	Forms a channel through the mitochondrial outer membrane that allows diffusion of small hyrophillic molecules	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004
VIM (Vimentin)	Intermediate filaments found in various non- epithelial cells	Human - Human	Molecular Sieving	IntAct	Bernhard <i>et al.,</i> 2004

YWHAZ	Adapter protein	Human -	GST pull-	MINT	Meek <i>et</i>
(14-3-3	affecting BAX,	Human	down		<i>al.,</i> 2004
protein	p53 and AKT1				
zeta/delta)	pathways				

Appendix A. Consolidated results for ANXA1 interacting proteins from databanks. The table includes interactions chosen using protein database browsing service by Proteomics Standards Initiative (www.ebi.ac.uk). Proteins with no known function are not included. All interactions tabulated herein are based on "Evidence at protein level" type of evidence, which rates among the highest in UniprotKB database classification of bioinformatics data, i.e. according to UniprotKb definition: "...(the) evidences are clear experimental evidences for the existence of protein (interaction)" (Source: UniprotKB).



Appendix B. TLR3 and TLR4 mRNA expression in WT and ANXA1 KO PM. No difference in TLR3 and TLR4 expression is observed between WT and ANXA1 KO PM.